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Attorneys for Petitioner Samuel Howard 
 

DISTRICT COURT  
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
SAMUEL HOWARD, 
 
                      Petitioner, 
 
vs. 
 
WILLIAM GITTERE, Warden, and 
AARON D. FORD,1 Attorney General for 
the State of Nevada,  
                      
                     Respondents. 

  
 
Case Nos. 81C053867; A-18-780434-W2 
Dept. No. XVII 
 
Date of Hearing: February 7, 2020 
Time of Hearing: 10 AM 
 
(Death Penalty Case) 

 

                            
1 Aaron D. Ford is now Nevada Attorney General.  As such, he should be substituted in for his 
predecessor.  See NRCP 25(d).   
 
2 In compliance with the Court’s instructions, Mr. Howard is filing this reply in the C case 
number while including the A case number in the caption as well.  

Case Number: 81C053867

Electronically Filed
12/2/2019 9:38 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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REPLY IN SUPPORT OF PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS AND 

RESPONSE TO MOTION TO DISMISS 

It is undisputed that the sole aggravating circumstance supporting Petitioner Samuel 

Howard’s death sentence has been vacated.  Even though the death sentence plainly has no legal 

foundation left, the State wishes to execute him.  To do so, the State draws weak distinctions 

with Supreme Court precedent that is directly on point, invokes procedural bars that are plainly 

inapplicable, and creates an imaginary evidentiary objection that is in any event easily cured.      

As set forth in the accompanying memorandum of points and authorities, because the State’s 

arguments are all meritless, and because there is no legal basis to execute Mr. Howard, its 

motion to dismiss should be denied, and Mr. Howard’s death sentence should be vacated.    

      DATED this 2nd day of December 2019. 

 

    HENDRON LAW GROUP LLC 
 

       /s/ Lance J. Hendron 
LANCE J. HENDRON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11151 
625 S. Eighth St. 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

     

     FEDERAL DEFENDER 
     SERVICES OF IDAHO 
 
 
               /s/ Deborah A. Czuba 

DEBORAH A. CZUBA, ESQ. (pro hac vice) 
Idaho Bar No. 9648 
720 W. Idaho St., Ste. 900 
Boise, Idaho 83702 

 
       /s/ Jonah J. Horwitz 

JONAH J. HORWITZ, ESQ. (pro hac vice) 
Idaho Bar No. 10494 
720 W. Idaho St., Ste. 900 
Boise, Idaho 83702 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

 On both the procedure and the substance, the State’s arguments are insubstantial.  Mr. 

Howard will first address the procedural posture of the petition and demonstrate that it is 

properly before the Court for merits review.  Then, he will take up the substance and show why 

relief must be afforded.   

 Because many of the issues are interrelated, every part of this reply is incorporated by 

reference into every other part.  See NRCP 10(c) (“A statement in a pleading may be adopted by 

reference elsewhere in the same pleading or in any other pleading or motion.”); NRS 34.780(1) 

(“The Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, to the extent that they are not inconsistent with [post-

conviction rules], apply to [post-conviction] proceedings . . . .”).      

I. The Petition Is Not Procedurally Barred 

In an attempt to prevent Mr. Howard from having his compelling constitutional claim 

addressed by the Court, the State asserts a series of procedural defenses.  See Oppo. & Mot. to 

Dismiss, filed Oct. 30, 2019 (hereinafter “Motion to Dismiss” or “MTD”), at 14–17.  All are 

inapposite.  Mr. Howard addresses each in turn.     

A. The Petition Is Not Time Barred 

First, the State contends that Mr. Howard’s petition is untimely under NRS 34.726(1).  

See MTD at 15.  Typically, a post-conviction petition must be filed within one year from when 

the Nevada Supreme Court issues its remittitur in the direct appeal, see NRS 34.726(1), which 

has not happened here.  However, the statute does not defeat merits review where a petitioner 

can show good cause and prejudice.  See, e.g., State v. Boston, 131 Nev. 981, 984, 363 P.3d 453, 

455 (2015) (en banc); Wilson v. State (Wilson II), 127 Nev. 740, 744, 267 P.3d 58, 60 (2011) (en 

banc).  Mr. Howard can show both.  

1. Mr. Howard Has Good Cause 
 

Under unambiguous Nevada law, there is good cause for missing the one-year deadline 

codified in NRS 34.726(1) if the claim was raised “within a reasonable time after it became 

available.”  Wilson II, 127 Nev. at 745, 267 P.3d at 61; accord Boston, 131 Nev. at 985, 363 P.3d 

App. 319
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at 455.3  The Nevada Supreme Court has recently determined that one year is a “reasonable 

time” under NRS 34.726(1).  See Rippo v. State, 134 Nev. 411, 421, 423 P.3d 1084, 1097, 

amended on rehearing on unrelated grounds, 432 P.3d 167 (2018) (en banc) (per curiam) (table). 

A straightforward application of this test dictates a result in Mr. Howard’s favor.  Mr. 

Howard’s claim is that the New York order nixing his robbery conviction infected his Nevada 

death sentence with constitutional infirmity.  By definition, he could not have offered that theory 

until the New York order appeared.  Accordingly, his claim became available, at the earliest, on 

May 22, 2018, when the Queens County Supreme Court released its decision.  See Pet. for Writ 

of Habeas Corpus, filed Sept. 4, 2018 (hereinafter “Pet.”), Ex. 2.  Mr. Howard filed the petition 

in this case on September 4, 2018.  See Pet.  That is well short of a year from May 22, 2018, and 

pursuant to Rippo, his petition is timely.   

Hoping to complicate this clear picture, the State strives to create confusion about what 

exactly made Mr. Howard’s claim “available.”  In particular, the State homes in on the length of 

time that elapsed after his sentencing and before he litigated his robbery conviction in New York.  

See, e.g., MTD at 17 (insisting that Mr. Howard “should have raised that issue with the New York 

courts” earlier).  The State misapprehends the meaning of the word “available.”  According to 

the first definition in a preeminent dictionary, the term signifies “present or ready for immediate 

use.”  See https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/available [https://perma.cc/YJ6S-

89G6].4  A claim based on a conviction being invalidated is obviously not “ready for immediate 

use” when the conviction has not yet been invalidated.  Following the plain language of the 

Nevada Supreme Court, Mr. Howard’s claim was undeniably brought within a year of it being 

available, and it is thus timely.   

Aside from having no foothold in binding precedent, the State’s test is unworkable.  The 

State insinuates that Mr. Howard’s campaign against his robbery conviction in New York was 

                            
3 In this reply, unless otherwise noted, all internal quotation marks, footnotes, and citations are 
omitted and all emphasis is added.  
  
4 The website perma.cc allows the user to freeze a website for perpetuity in its present version 
with a constant address.  Mr. Howard employs the service here to guarantee the cited websites 
are not altered or destroyed during the litigation.   

App. 320
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founded on the absence of a sentence in that jurisdiction, and that as a result he could have 

sought recourse in Queens at any time after the jury found him guilty in absentia.  See, e.g., 

MTD at 21 (“Petitioner could have challenged the infirmity of his New York conviction at any 

time since trial.”).  Not so.  The New York order was instead rooted in the unreasonable delay in 

sentencing Mr. Howard.  See Pet., Ex. 2 at 3 (characterizing Mr. Howard’s “position” as that “he 

is entitled to relief afforded by [N.Y. Crim. Proc. Law § 380.30(1)] in that his sentence must be 

pronounced without reasonable delay” and subsequently agreeing with that position and 

vacating the conviction); see also N.Y. Crim. Proc. Law § 380.30(1) (“Sentence must be 

pronounced without unreasonable delay.”).  According to the State, Mr. Howard should be 

faulted for not going into New York court right after his robbery trial, even though he would 

have had no vehicle to protest his conviction at that time.  That is illogical in the extreme.  The 

far simpler approach is to say that “available” means “available,” and the claim had only to be 

brought within a reasonable time of the New York court acting, just as Mr. Howard did.    

In the cases mentioned by the State, the Nevada Supreme Court has characterized claims 

as previously “available” because the facts allowing them to be brought existed before the 

limitations period closed, which is not true here.  For instance, in Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 

248, 253–54, 71 P.3d 503, 507 (2003) (per curiam), the Court used, as examples of claims that 

are immediately available, situations where “counsel failed to inform the petitioner of the right to 

appeal,” where the defendant “received misinformation about the right to appeal,” or where 

“counsel refused to file an appeal after the petitioner requested.”  Similarly, in Pellegrini v. State, 

117 Nev. 860, 889–90, 34 P.3d 519, 538–39 (2001) (en banc) (per curiam), the Nevada Supreme 

Court considered a claim available earlier when it was based on the defendant’s mental health at 

the time of the offense.  These are all facts that arise before the conviction is final.  That is, 

information about a defendant’s mental state when the crime occurred is by definition 

information that has already come into being by the time of post-conviction.  Likewise, a 

defendant who has been misled or defied by a lawyer about his appeal is aware of that shortly 

after trial.  The lesson of such cases is that a claim is available when the factual basis for it is out 

App. 321
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there in the world at the time the statute of limitations expired, and had only to be collected and 

presented by the inmate. 

That is not Mr. Howard’s case.  The single fact giving rise to his claim is the vacatur of 

the New York conviction.  And that fact had not been born in any form until the Queens court 

ruled.  

Rather than the State’s preferred authorities, the more instructive cases here are those in 

which petitions were deemed timely because they were properly founded on changes in the law.  

See Bejarano v. State, 122 Nev. 1066, 1071, 146 P.3d 265, 269 (2006) (en banc) (involving a 

new case about double-counting felony aggravators in capital cases); Boston, 131 Nev. at 984, 

363 P.3d at 455 (concerning a new case about juvenile life sentences).  When the Nevada 

Supreme Court has regarded such petitions as timely, it is because the prisoner raised his claim 

within a year of the favorable precedent appearing.  See Bejarano, 122 Nev. at 1071, 146 P.3d at 

269 (explaining that “a claim pursuant to [a new] decision was not reasonably available to 

Bejarano” until the decision was published.); Boston, 131 Nev. at 985, 363 P.3d at 455 (noting 

that the “Supreme Court did not decide” the favorable new case until 2010, and “Boston filed his 

petition within one year of the Court’s decision,” which constituted  “good cause for the late 

filing” assuming that he was correct about the meaning of the new case. 

Importantly, in neither Bejarano nor Boston did the Court ask whether the petitioner 

previously made the argument that later led to the change in the law, the approach the State is 

pushing here.  In other words, the Court did not pose the question of whether Mr. Bejarano had 

in a previous proceeding challenged the double-counting of aggravators or whether Mr. Boston 

challenged his life sentence as unconstitutional because of his age.  As just stated, the Court 

inquired only into whether the inmates had advanced their claims within a year of the new cases 

upon which they were founded.   

The same framework governs Mr. Howard’s claim.  He asserted his claim as soon as the 

new order enabling it had been issued, and that is all the law required.  If the State were right that 

Mr. Howard had an obligation to make the underlying argument about the delayed sentence to a 

New York court earlier than he did, then Mr. Bejarano would have had an obligation to attack 

App. 322
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the double-counting earlier and Mr. Boston would have had an obligation to present the youth-

based Eighth Amendment theory earlier.  After all, they were just as capable of doing so as Mr. 

Howard was of proceeding in New York’s courts.  The State’s logic cannot be squared with 

Nevada Supreme Court’s methodology in these cases.   

Admittedly, Bejarano and Boston deal with good cause in the context of an unavailable 

“legal basis,” in the sense that the caselaw was not yet there to substantiate the claim.  Boston, 

131 Nev. at 984, 363 P.3d at 455; accord Bejarano, 122 Nev. at 1072, 146 P.3d at 270.  But the 

Nevada Supreme Court has said that good cause “may be established where the factual or legal 

basis for the claim was not reasonably available.”  Bejarano, 122 Nev. at 1073, 146 P.3d at 270.  

There is no reason to treat the two differently, and good cause is present.   

Apparently dissatisfied by Nevada precedent, the State looks to U.S. Supreme Court 

opinions construing cause in the federal habeas context.  See MTD at 21.  Even though the State 

may find these decisions more helpful to it, they have no bearing here, where the only issue is 

whether Mr. Howard has cause under Nevada law.  He has shown that he did, and the State does 

nothing to undermine the conclusion.                                   

2. Mr. Howard Can Show Prejudice 

Once good cause has been established, prejudice becomes the next hurdle.  See Wilson II, 

127 Nev. at 745, 267 P.3d at 61.  Mr. Howard surmounts it with ease.   

“To demonstrate actual prejudice,” Mr. Howard “must show error that worked to his 

actual and substantial disadvantage.”  Boston, 131 Nev. at 985, 363 P.3d at 455.  It is difficult to 

imagine a situation in which prejudice is as apparent as it is here.  In the absence of the invalid 

New York robbery conviction, there are now no aggravating factors left.  See Pet. at 11–12.5  

Aggravators are constitutionally and statutorily required for the imposition of a death sentence.  

See Sawyer v. Whitley, 505 U.S. 333, 341–42 (1992); Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231, 244 

                            
5 For the Court’s convenience, the verdict form reflecting the two aggravators found by the jury 
is appended to this reply as Exhibit 1, Attachment A.  As noted in the petition, it is also available 
in the record on appeal for Nevada Supreme Court case number 23386.  See Pet. at 12.  To the 
extent it is necessary, Mr. Howard respectfully requests that the Court take judicial notice of the 
attachments to Exhibit 1.  See NRS 47.130; Mack v. Estate of Mack, 125 Nev. 80, 91–92, 206 
P.3d 98, 106 (2009) (en banc).   

App. 323
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(1988); NRS 200.033.  Consequently, once the New York aggravator is removed from the 

equation, there is nothing to support the death penalty.  As a result, Mr. Howard was actually 

prejudiced.   

If the Court considers prejudice in more detail, the result remains the same.  As recounted 

in the petition, given the relatively thin aggravation, the significant mitigation, and the 

prosecution’s reliance on the New York conviction, there was prejudice in the conventional 

sense even if one ignores the fact that the absence of any aggravators is per se prejudicial.  See 

Pet. at 8–10.     

Below, Mr. Howard refutes the State’s theory that actual innocence has not been 

established because testimony about the underlying conduct in New York was presented to the 

jury.  See infra at 16–19.  To the degree the State intends the theory to go to prejudice as well, it 

is refuted for the same reasons.  For present purposes, Mr. Howard will add only that even if the 

Court accepts the State’s erroneous belief that testimony about conduct can posthumously revive 

a vacated conviction, there is still prejudice.  This is so because the jury was in fact repeatedly 

told by the prosecutors and their witnesses that Mr. Howard had been convicted. 

In its opening statement, the prosecution made sure to inform the jury that Mr. Howard 

had been “convicted in absentia in the Queens Supreme Court on July 13, 1979, in the State of 

New York.”  MTD, Ex. B at 14636 (“He was thereafter convicted in absentia in the Queens 

Supreme Court on July 13, 1979, in the State of New York.”).  In examining the detective from 

the New York case, the prosecution took care to elicit the same fact through his testimony.  See 

id. at 1487 (“Q.  Do you know of your own knowledge what the outcome of that trial was?  A.  

He was convicted.  Q.  And what was he convicted of?  A.  He was convicted of Robbery One.”); 

id. at 1491 (“Q.  And again for the record, do you know of the fact of whether or not he was 

convicted?  A.  Yes, he was.”).  And finally, at closing argument, the prosecution hammered 

                            
6 Exhibit B to the State’s Motion to Dismiss is a transcript from Mr. Howard’s capital sentencing 
in Nevada.  The documents appended to Exhibit 1 to this reply as Attachments D and E are 
transcripts from the same proceeding.  All three of those transcripts are in Volume 15 of the 
record on appeal in Nevada Supreme Court case number 23386.  The pin-cites here are to the 
page numbers in the record on appeal, which are also visible in the attached versions of the 
transcripts.   

App. 324
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away at the conviction.  See Ex. 1, Att. E at 1572 (“We are talking about someone who is now 

shown to have committed a violent felony against a nurse for which he has been convicted, and 

there was absolutely no provocation for that.”); id. at 1573 (“He was convicted in absentia of 

robbery with use of a weapon and of theft of a motor vehicle.”); id. at 1574 (“You heard the 

testimony of Detective John McNicholas, that the defendant was convicted of these 

crimes. . . .  Mr. Howard had previously been convicted of a crime involving the use of violence 

even before he came to Las Vegas in 1980, and that is the circumstance that aggravates murder 

in the first degree, and that’s been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.”).   

The existence of a conviction is itself a highly aggravating piece of information for a 

jury, and here it caused prejudice quite apart from the underlying facts of the offenses.  See State 

v. Bowman, 337 S.W.3d 679, 692 (Mo. 2011) (en banc) (granting sentencing relief on a 

comparable claim because “[e]ven if the prosecution’s evidence regarding the underlying facts of 

Bowman’s two prior murder convictions were properly admissible as non-statutory aggravating 

prior bad acts, the Court cannot assume that the jury’s weighing process and sense of 

responsibility were unaffected by its knowledge that Bowman previously had been convicted of 

two murders”); State v. McFadden, 216 S.W.3d 673, 678 (Mo. 2007) (en banc) (similar).        

In summary, this was a short sentencing in which the prosecution pervasively employed 

the fact of the New York conviction to secure a death sentence.  Any reasonable juror would 

have been greatly affected by the knowledge that a separate state’s criminal justice system had 

officially placed a black mark on Mr. Howard’s record years before the Nevada murder occurred.  

No matter what framework the Court applies, the error here  “worked to” Mr. Howard’s “actual 

and substantial disadvantage,” Boston, 131 Nev. at 985, 363 P.3d at 455, and prejudice has been 

shown to excuse the petition’s untimeliness.      

B. The Petition Is Not Barred As Successive Or Waived 

The State submits that Mr. Howard’s petition “is barred by NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2) as 

waived and by NRS 34.810(2) as an abuse of the writ.”  MTD at 17.  It is neither. 

NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2) provides that a petition should be dismissed if the claim could have 

been “[r]aised in a direct appeal or a prior petition for a writ of habeas corpus or postconviction 

App. 325
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relief.”  For the reasons outlined above, Mr. Howard’s petition could not have been filed until the 

New York order was issued in May 2018, and before that his most recent post-conviction 

proceeding was commenced in October 2016.  Section 34.810(1)(b)(2) is, by its own terms, 

inapplicable.   

So is NRS 34.810(2), which states, in full: 

A second or successive petition must be dismissed if the judge or justice determines 
[1] that it fails to allege new or different grounds for relief and that the prior 
determination was on the merits or, [2] if new and different grounds are alleged, 
the judge or justice finds that the failure of the petitioner to assert those grounds in 
a prior petition constituted an abuse of the writ. 

 
 Mr. Howard’s claim does not fall within either prong of the provision.  It does “allege 

new or different grounds” for relief and thus escapes the first prong.  On the second prong, a 

claim is an abuse of the writ if it “could . . . have been raised earlier.”  Bejarano, 122 Nev. at 

1072, 146 P.3d at 269.  Based as it was on the recent New York order, Mr. Howard’s claim could 

not have been.  Given the statute’s plain language, Mr. Howard’s petition is not barred by 

NRS 34.810(2).   

 In the Motion to Dismiss, the State alludes to the Nevada Supreme Court’s 2014 denial of 

a claim challenging the prior-conviction aggravator.  See MTD at 21.  It is not evident what 

significance the State gleans from it.  To the extent the State is implying that Mr. Howard’s 

current petition is precluded by NRS 34.810 because he either did contest the aggravator on the 

same ground he uses now, or that he could have, it is mistaken.  As relevant here, the Nevada 

Supreme Court in 2014 rejected a claim that the aggravator was invalid because there was no 

judgment and sentence in New York, which were—Mr. Howard posited—necessary for a 

conviction as a matter of Nevada law.  See Howard v. State (Howard I), No. 57469, 2014 WL 

3784121, at *5 (Nev. 2014) (per curiam) (unpublished disposition).7  That is quite distinct from 

the present claim, which is that the conviction has definitively been vacated by the New York 

                            
7 Mr. Howard is now challenging his death sentence in federal habeas on the ground noted 
above, i.e., the New York robbery case did not lead to a conviction under Nevada law given the 
absence of a judgment and sentence.  In this reply, Mr. Howard refers to a robbery “conviction” 
without using quotation marks or the like for ease of reference.  He does not thereby concede that 
there was in fact a conviction as a matter of Nevada law.     
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courts, thereby destabilizing his death sentence.  Mr. Howard did not make that claim in 2014, 

and it would have been impossible to do so, as the vacatur had not yet occurred.  Thus, Mr. 

Howard neither did, nor could have, lodged the claim earlier, and NRS 34.810(2) is inapplicable.        

 Since Mr. Howard’s petition is not covered by either NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2) or by 

NRS 34.810(2), the State’s reliance on those provisions can be rejected out of hand.  However, if 

the Court disagrees and regards the provisions as in play, Mr. Howard can show good cause and 

prejudice to overcome the bars for the same reasons surveyed above.  See supra at 3–9; see also 

Bejarano, 122 Nev. at 1072, 146 P.3d at 269–70 (applying the same good cause and prejudice 

analysis for defaults under both the timeliness provision of NRS 34.726(1) and the successive 

provisions of NRS 34.810).  No matter how the Court approaches the questions of 

successiveness and waiver, they do not foreclose relief.     

C. The Provision Is Not Barred By Laches 

The State’s laches argument, see MTD at 15–16, is even more misguided than its 

arguments on timeliness and successiveness.   

Nevada’s laches rule permits a court to dismiss delayed petitions where the delay has 

prejudiced the State in certain respects.  See NRS 34.800.  The most sensible way for the Court 

to dispatch the State’s laches defense is for it to simply find, in an exercise of discretion, that 

laches was not meant to be used in a scenario like this one.  Notably, laches allows, but does not 

require, a court to dismiss a petition for delay.  See NRS 34.800(1) (“A petition may be 

dismissed if” the specified grounds are satisfied).  Such a dismissal ought not to be ordered here.   

The laches statute has two components.  NRS 34.800(1)(a) authorizes dismissal where 

the delay “[p]rejudices the respondent or the State of Nevada in responding to the petition, unless 

the petitioner shows that the petition is based upon grounds of which the petitioner could not 

have had knowledge by the exercise of reasonable diligence before the circumstances prejudicial 

to the State occurred.”  For two straightforward reasons, this prong has no role to play here.   

First, the State has not shown that a delay impaired in any respect its ability to oppose the 

petition.  It offers nine words on this front: “the State is prejudiced in its ability to answer the 

Sixth Petition.”  MTD at 16.  That bare statement, with no elaboration or explanation, is woefully 

App. 327



 

REPLY IN SUPPORT OF PETITION AND RESPONSE TO MOTION TO DISMISS - 12 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
 

inadequate.  A review of the State’s Motion to Dismiss reveals that, contrary to its naked 

assertion otherwise, it has had no difficulty responding to Mr. Howard’s petition.  Resolution of 

the petition turns almost entirely on a pure question of law, namely, whether the invalidation of 

his prior conviction renders his death sentence unconstitutional.  To respond to the petition, the 

State had to do nothing more than basic legal research.  It was just as capable of doing the 

research now as it was at any time in the past, if not more so.   

Second, even if one takes as true the State’s implausible and wholly unsupported view 

that it was prejudiced in responding to the petition, “the petition is based upon grounds of which 

the petitioner could not have had knowledge by the exercise of reasonable diligence before the 

circumstances prejudicial to the State occurred.”  NRS 34.800(1)(a).  Mr. Howard’s petition is 

based on the Queens order and he took every step he could to get it timely filed after the order 

was issued.  Consequently, even if the State was somehow prejudiced in responding, the 

prejudice is eclipsed by Mr. Howard’s diligence.        

The other element of the laches statute authorizes dismissal where the delay “[p]rejudices 

the State of Nevada in its ability to conduct a retrial of the petitioner, unless the petitioner 

demonstrates that a fundamental miscarriage of justice has occurred in the proceedings resulting 

in the judgment of conviction or sentence.”  NRS 34.800(1)(b).  This element is best disposed of 

with reference to State v. Powell, 122 Nev. 751, 758–59, 138 P.3d 453, 458 (2006) (en banc), 

which shows that Nevada courts are not to utilize laches to bar a petition where the petitioner 

acted promptly as soon as the factual predicate for the claim was available to him.  Plus, there is 

a fundamental miscarriage of justice, as there are no valid aggravators left, which means that Mr. 

Howard is as a legal matter actually innocent of the death penalty.  See infra at 15–19.    

In overview, the State’s laches defense widely misses the mark. 

D.  There Is No Problem With The New York Order 

In a cursory footnote, the State maintains that the copy of the New York order attached to 

his petition is defective because it was not certified or file-stamped.  See MTD at 26 n.9. 

As an initial matter, the argument is waived as inadequately briefed.  A passing footnote 

with no authority or explanation on the central question—the need for a certification or file 
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stamp—is patently inadequate.  See Berkson v. LePome, 126 Nev. 492, 501, 245 P.3d 560, 566 

(2010) (en banc) (declining to consider an appellate issue because it was “not supported by 

cogent argument and citation to relevant authority”).   

If the Court elects to forgive the State’s perfunctory treatment of the matter and answer 

the question, it should easily determine that there is no evidentiary problem with the document.   

To begin, undersigned habeas counsel authenticated the order as a true and correct copy 

of the document it purported to be.  See Pet., Ex. 3.  The State does not even acknowledge the 

authentication, let alone defeat it.   

Nor could it plausibly do so.  Mr. Howard asked the Court to take judicial notice of the 

Queens order.  See Pet. at 7 n.10.  As a court record, the order is a proper subject for judicial 

notice, and therefore no formal certification or authentication is required.  See Beckner v. 

ReconTrust Co., No. 2:12-cv-3379, 2012 WL 13013048, at *1 (C.D. Cal. Oct. 15, 2012) 

(rejecting a party’s similar objection because court filings “need not be verified or certified 

before they can be subject to judicial notice”); Sanders v. Gross, No. 86 C 2248, 1987 WL 

10558, at *1 (N.D. Ill. May 5, 1987) (denying a motion to strike court filings because 

“[j]udicially noticed pleadings need not be authenticated by affidavit”).  By authenticating the 

document, Mr. Howard did more than was strictly necessary, and even without the authentication 

the order can properly be taken into account. 

In cryptic fashion, the State disputes the propriety of judicial notice.  Its only explication 

is the following quotation from Rippo: “Even if some of the documents were filed in the federal 

case while the direct appeal was pending, appellate counsel could not have expanded the record 

before this court to include evidence that was not part of the trial record.”  MTD at 26 n.9.  From 

that language, the State somehow infers that “the Nevada Supreme Court has rejected [Mr. 

Howard’s] view of judicial notice.”  Id.  Mr. Howard does not follow the State’s logic.  The 

referenced opinion does not analyze judicial notice at all.  In fact, the phrase “judicial notice” 

does not even appear in Rippo.  Moreover, the facts at issue in the paragraph focused on by the 

State have no similarity to Mr. Howard’s case.  The excerpted sentence from Rippo was written 

to refute a claim that appellate counsel was ineffective, on the reasoning that the attorney could 
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not have been deficient for omitting an argument based on material outside the trial record, since 

he was limited to that record in his briefing before the Nevada Supreme Court.  See Rippo, 134 

Nev. at 429, 423 P.3d at 1102.  What any of that has to do with Mr. Howard’s situation is 

anyone’s guess, for the State does not connect the dots.  Mr. Howard is not here alleging 

ineffective assistance and he is not on appeal.  Consequently, he is not restricted to the facts 

available at some prior stage of the case and he is permitted to introduce new evidence.  See NRS 

34.370(4) (contemplating the consideration of new evidence in post-conviction proceedings).   

Looking past the State’s irrelevant authority to the caselaw that is actually on point, it 

supports Mr. Howard’s request for judicial notice.  Such notice can be taken of records in a 

different case when the two are closely related and “a valid reason present[s] itself.”  Mack, 125 

Nev. at 91–92, 206 P.3d at 106.  Applying those factors, the Queens order easily fits the bill.  

The cases are intertwined because the Nevada prosecution relied on the Queens conviction.  And 

an eminently valid reason presents itself: the conviction has been vacated and the Nevada death 

sentence has lost its single remaining aggravator.  Judicial notice is appropriate.         

 Assuming arguendo that the State’s undeveloped and unsupported attack on the Queens 

order is well-founded, the error can be quickly remedied.  Attached to this reply is a certified 

version of the New York order.  See Ex. 1, Att. B.8  Also attached is another certified document 

in which the Queens County Clerk attests that the New York robbery case “was dismissed and all 

pending criminal charges related to this action were also dismissed.”  Ex. 1, Att. C.  The Clerk 

adds that under New York law the robbery proceeding “shall be deemed a nullity and the 

accused shall be restored, in contemplation of law, to the status occupied before the arrest and 

prosecution.”  Id.  Even by the State’s artificial and hyper-technical standards, these documents 

surely qualify as admissible and they confirm that the New York courts vacated Mr. Howard’s 

robbery conviction.9   

                            
8 At the latest hearing, the Court indicated, with the State’s consent, that it would consider 
attachments to this reply corroborating the New York dismissal.  See Ex. 2 at 3–4.   
 
9 Undersigned counsel will bring hard copy originals of the certified order and the certificate of 
disposition from the Queens County Clerk to oral argument on the State’s Motion to Dismiss, so 
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 Finally, even if the State were correct that there is a material flaw with the New York 

order, it would be wrong about its ramifications.  It is black-letter Nevada law that a post-

conviction petition cannot be summarily denied without an evidentiary hearing if the claim is 

“supported by specific factual allegations not belied by the record that, if true, would entitle [the 

inmate] to relief.”  Berry v. State, 131 Nev. 957, 967, 363 P.3d 1148, 1154 (2015); accord Mann 

v. State, 118 Nev. 351, 354, 46 P.3d 1228, 1230 (2002) (per curiam).  Mr. Howard has asserted 

that his New York robbery conviction was vacated by the Queens County Supreme Court.  See 

Pet. at 12.  Far from being belied by the record, the allegation is confirmed by it, in the form of 

the order taking that action.  See id., Ex. 2; Ex. 1, Atts. B, C.  It follows that the Court is not 

permitted to summarily deny the petition on the State’s Motion to Dismiss due to any perceived 

gap in the facts underlying Mr. Howard’s claim.  Rather, if there is such a gap, the Court must 

hold an evidentiary hearing to determine whether the New York conviction has in fact been 

vacated.   

 Mr. Howard does not believe such an empty ceremony is a good use of the Court’s or the 

parties’ time, given that the State refrains from disputing the fact of the vacatur and it has now 

been established beyond any fairminded debate.  Instead, no matter how inconvenient it might be 

for the State, the Court should simply accept the incontrovertible fact at the root of the instant 

case, namely, that the sole aggravator underlying Mr. Howard’s death sentence has been set 

aside.    

E. Any Procedural Bar Is Excused By Actual Innocence Of The Death Penalty 

 In the event the Court feels any of the preceding procedural bars is an obstacle to the 

petition, it should be forgiven because Mr. Howard’s claim renders him actually innocent of the 

death penalty.  See Lisle v. State, 131 Nev. 356, 361–62, 351 P.3d 725, 729–30 (2015) (en banc) 

(reiterating that actual innocence overcomes any procedural default). 

 The State is unpersuaded of Mr. Howard’s actual innocence, see MTD at 22–25, but its 

reservations are insubstantial.   

                            

that the Court and the prosecutor can have a chance to inspect the documents in person and 
satisfy themselves of their legitimacy, if they so wish.   
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 As a general matter, the State’s objection is that the jury heard evidence about some facts 

associated with the New York conduct with which Mr. Howard was charged, and that was good 

enough.  See id. at 22.  The State misunderstands the law.  At the time Mr. Howard was tried—

and today—the aggravator at issue required a showing that he had been “convicted of . . . a 

[violent] felony.”  Howard v. Filson (Howard II), No. 2:93-cv-1209, 2016 WL 7173763, at *1 

(D. Nev. Dec. 8, 2016) (quoting NRS 200.033(2) (1979)); accord NRS 200.033(2)(b).  Mr. 

Howard’s claim flows from the vacatur of his conviction.  Jurors cannot find the aggravator 

without a conviction, regardless of what the State told them about Mr. Howard’s behavior in 

New York.  That is all it takes to see his actual innocence.   

 The State gets hung up on the comments the prosecutors made at trial, the testimony 

given at sentencing, and the instructions provided to the jury.  See MTD at 25.  Again, though, 

the State is looking at the case through the wrong lens.  Actual innocence turns on whether the 

petitioner has proven that, “but for a constitutional error, no reasonable juror would have found 

him death eligible.”  Pellegrini, 117 Nev. at 887, 34 P.3d at 537.  A defendant is only eligible for 

the death penalty if one or more statutory aggravating circumstances are found.  See Lisle, 131 

Nev. at 365–68, 351 P.3d at 732–34; NRS 175.554(3); Ex. 1, Att. D at 1538 (indicating that the 

jury was instructed that it could “impose a sentence of death only if it” found “at least one 

aggravating circumstance”).  Here, the error is the consideration of a conviction that was later 

nullified and that stands now as the sole surviving aggravator.  As a consequence, the question—

for actual innocence purposes—is not, as the State would have it, what the jury was told about 

the New York robbery.  The question is what would the jury have been told had the New York 

conviction already been vacated.  On that crucial question, the State is silent.  Presumably, that is 

because the prosecutor would have told the jury nothing about the conviction, since it would 

have been a legal nullity.   

Indeed, the case would not have even reached the capital sentencing phase because the 

State would have been deprived of any aggravators to pursue.  See SCR 250(4)(c) (requiring the 

State to file a notice of intent to seek the death penalty prior to any sentencing that alleges “all 

aggravating circumstances the state intends to prove”); see also Kirksey v. State, 107 Nev. 499, 
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503, 814 P.2d 1008, 1010 (1991) (“Kirksey correctly asserts that he must be given notice prior to 

the penalty hearing of each aggravating circumstance that the state will seek to prove at the 

penalty hearing.”); Wilson v. State (Wilson I), 99 Nev. 362, 370 n.4, 664 P.2d 328, 332 n.4 

(1983) (quoting a statute from the time of Mr. Howard’s sentencing that allowed the prosecution 

to assert an aggravator, “other than the aggravated nature of the offense itself, only if it has been 

disclosed to the defendant before the commencement of the penalty hearing”).       

 Furthermore, although the State is right that the prosecutor “argued that the jury needed 

to make its own independent judgment regarding the existence of the prior violent felony 

aggravating circumstance,” MTD at 24, he certainly did not make the implausible suggestion that 

it could do so without a valid conviction.  The prosecutor’s perspective was that “the mere 

recitation of what the conviction was for is not, in the state’s mind, adequate to comply with” its 

“burden of proof.”  Id.  Stated differently, the prosecutor felt he needed more than just the 

conviction.  That does not signify the nonsensical proposition that the conviction itself was 

unnecessary to prove that Mr. Howard had a conviction.  See, e.g., State v. Autry, 103 Nev. 552, 

556, 746 P.2d 637, 640 (1987) (per curiam) (explaining what it means for an element to be 

“necessary but not sufficient”).   

 The State had good reason to proffer evidence to the jury about the facts underlying the 

New York robbery.  Under the controlling statute, it was required to prove that Mr. Howard had 

been “convicted of . . . a felony involving the use or threat of violence.”  Howard II, 2016 WL 

7173763, at *1 (quoting NRS 200.033(2) (1979)); accord NRS 200.033(2)(b); MTD, Ex. B at 

1459 (containing the Court’s quotation of the statute, which provided that the “murder was 

committed by a person who was previously convicted of another murder or a felony involving 

the use or threat of violence”); id. at 1462 (including the prosecutor’s characterization to the jury 

of the aggravator as requiring a showing “that the murder was committed by a person who was 

previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence”); Ex. 1, Att. D at 1539–

40 (establishing that the jury was told by the trial court that the aggravator required that the 

murder be “committed by a defendant who was previously convicted of a felony involving the 

use or threat of violence”).  Testimony about the offense was relevant because it went to that 
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second element—the presence of violence.  In the prosecutor’s own words, the testimony, “as 

opposed to any documentation,” was “to show the jury beyond a reasonable doubt that the use of 

force and/or violence was used in the commission of that particular robbery.”  MTD, Ex. B at 

1454; see id. at 1457 (reflecting that the prosecutor later added, in support of the same argument, 

that the bare fact of the charge and conviction did not “tell[] the jury enough about the nature of 

those acts to allow them to come to the conclusion that beyond a reasonable doubt the State has 

shown that there is a threat or use of violence”).  The trial judge allowed the testimony over the 

defense’s objection on that very ground, to wit, because “[t]he particulars of the case” and “the 

evidence would go to the question of use of force or violence.”  Id. at 1460.   

Contrary to the State’s insinuation, that the testimony was used to prove that the offense 

was violent does not mean that it was unnecessary to prove that there was a conviction in the first 

place.  Both were required, and one has been completely obviated by a binding judicial ruling 

that is entitled to full faith and credit from this Court.  See City of Oakland v. Desert Outdoor 

Advert., Inc., 127 Nev. 533, 537, 267 P.3d 48, 50 (2011) (en banc) (“Under the Full Faith and 

Credit Clause of the United States Constitution, a final judgment entered in a sister state must be 

respected by the courts of this state.” (citing U.S. Const. art. IV, § 1)).               

Simply put, the State’s reliance on the discussion that did occur at trial about the robbery 

case is misplaced, for under a proper analysis none of that discussion would have taken place.  

There was a single aggravator and it is now gone.  This is about as clear-cut a case of actual 

innocence of the death penalty as any court is likely to see.   

 The State’s substantive analysis of actual innocence revolves around four cases.  See 

MTD at 22–24.  Not one of those opinions even uses the phrase “actual innocence”—let alone 

interprets it.  See Johnson v. Mississippi, 486 U.S. 578 (1988); Spivey v. Head, 207 F.3d 1263 

(11th Cir. 2000); Gibbs v. Johnson, 154 F.3d 253 (5th Cir. 1998); Gardner v. State, 764 S.W.2d 

416 (Ark. 1989) (per curiam).  The cases do nothing to bolster the State’s counterintuitive 

position that a prisoner whose death sentence is supported by a single aggravating conviction that 

has been vacated is somehow still “eligible for the death penalty.”  Lisle, 131 Nev. at 362, 351 
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P.3d at 730.  Mr. Howard is not, and actual innocence therefore overcomes any procedural bar 

that might otherwise apply, making merits review necessary.                              

II. The Petition Is Meritorious           

The State does not truly engage with the merits of Mr. Howard’s claim anywhere in its 

Motion to Dismiss, given that its entire argument section is directed at the procedural bars.  See 

MTD at 14–26.  That being the case, once the Court finds that the bars are no impediment to the 

petition, it can immediately grant relief.      

Should the Court inquire further, it will reach the same destination.  

The only content in the State’s Motion to Dismiss that could be read as going to the 

merits, even though it is placed confusingly in its section on actual prejudice, is a vain attempt to 

distance the instant case from Johnson.  See id. at 23–25.  Its effort is unavailing. 

The difference between Johnson and the scenario presented now, in the State’s judgment, 

is that in the former the only evidence supporting the aggravator was a court document 

confirming the conviction, whereas here there was testimony at sentencing about the conduct 

with which Mr. Howard was charged in New York.  See id. at 22–23.  Specifically, the State 

fixates on the Johnson Court’s remark that “the prosecutor did not introduce any evidence 

concerning the alleged” prior offense “itself” and that “the only evidence relating to the” offense 

“consisted of a document establishing that petitioner had been convicted of that offense in 1963.”  

Johnson, 486 U.S. at 585.  Although the difference between the two cases does exist, it is legally 

meaningless.   

In Johnson, three aggravating circumstances remained in the case when it reached the 

U.S. Supreme Court.  See 486 U.S. at 581.  As detailed earlier, in most capital regimes an 

aggravator is necessary to render a defendant eligible for the death penalty.  See supra at 7–8; see 

Johnson, 486 U.S. at 581 (observing that “the jury found three aggravating circumstances, any 

one of which, as a matter of Mississippi law, would have been sufficient to support a capital 

sentence”).  Only one of those three aggravators was thrown into doubt by the Johnson appeal.  

See id.  That meant that Mr. Johnson was eligible for a death sentence, regardless of whether his 

challenge to the prior-conviction aggravator succeeded or not.   
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By virtue of the other two aggravators, the State would have been permitted at Mr. 

Johnson’s sentencing to present evidence regarding the prior offense, even if the conviction had 

already been invalidated.  See Hodges v. State, 912 So. 2d 730, 756 (Miss. 2005) (en banc) 

(clarifying that Mississippi law “does not limit the evidence that can be presented at the 

sentencing phase” to aggravators, and that evidence of unadjudicated bad acts can still be 

relevant at such a proceeding), disagreed with on other grounds by Ross v. State, 954 So. 2d 968, 

987–88 (Miss. 2007).  That being so, the U.S. Supreme Court in Johnson was operating in a 

context in which the submission of evidence about the underlying conduct in New York, apart 

from the proof of the conviction itself, was possible.  It made sense, then, for the Court to rely 

upon the fact that no such evidence was offered.  The Court was in essence rejecting one 

conceivable defense for the opinion below: that other equally aggravating evidence about the 

prior offense might have led the jury to impose death even if there had been no conviction.   

Here, no such rejection is necessary, because no such evidence was possible.  There is 

only one aggravator left, and it has been struck down.  No evidence about Mr. Howard’s New 

York conduct is relevant, as no capital penalty-phase proceeding would have taken place at all 

had the vacatur already occurred, let alone one that delved into the robbery case.  In short, the 

reasoning from Johnson that the State hangs its hat on was necessary to grant relief in that case, 

but it is not necessary in this one.   

Mr. Howard’s reading of Johnson is reinforced by Armstrong v. State, 862 So. 2d 705 

(Fla. 2003).  In that case, the defendant was sentenced to death in Florida after a penalty-phase 

proceeding in which “the State presented two witnesses to testify regarding Armstrong’s 1985 

conviction of indecent assault and battery on a child of the age of fourteen” in Massachusetts.  

Id. at 715.  The victim of the Massachusetts offense testified at length about the details of the 

assault.  See id. at 716–17.  After the direct appeal in Florida, a Massachusetts court vacated the 

prior conviction.  See id. at 717.  Despite the testimony about the underlying conduct at the 

penalty phase, the Florida Supreme Court had no trouble granting Johnson relief.  See id. at 718.  

Such testimony was actually seen as strengthening the defendant’s claim, as it made the 

prejudice even more apparent.  See id. (“Given the nature of the crime underlying the vacated 
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conviction—a sexual offense upon a child—and the detailed testimony given by the young 

victim of that crime at Armstrong’s penalty phase, we cannot say that the consideration of 

Armstrong’s prior felony conviction of indecent assault and battery on a child of the age of 

fourteen constituted harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt.”).  No harmless error inquiry is 

required here, given the absence of any remaining aggravators.  Still, the Florida Supreme 

Court’s well-reasoned opinion shows at a minimum that the State is incorrect to confine Johnson 

to cases in which there was no testimony at the capital sentencing about the underlying offense.   

The State claims that other courts share its gloss on Johnson, but they do not.                                            

For starters, the key statute in the State’s first cited authority obligated the government to 

prove that the defendant “committed another felony.”  Gardner, 764 S.W.2d at 419 (Purtle, J., 

dissenting).  It was natural for the Arkansas Supreme Court to feel that the aggravator was 

satisfied by proof about the “nature of petitioner’s conduct,” id. at 418, because the aggravator 

was trained on that conduct, i.e., on what actions the defendant committed.  By contrast, the 

Nevada statute demands a conviction, see supra at 16, and testimony regarding what a defendant 

did says nothing about whether it led to a valid conviction.  Considering the language of the 

Arkansas statute, it is unsurprising that the court there could point to its established “practice” of 

relying on evidence other than “proof of a conviction.”  Gardner, 764 S.W.2d at 418.  It is 

equally unsurprising that Nevada has the opposite practice.  Its statute requires a conviction, so 

its caselaw does as well.  See Kirksey, 107 Nev. at 504, 814 P.2d at 1011 (rebuffing a challenge 

to the aggravator in question because the record left “no doubt” that the defendant “was actually 

convicted of the robbery”).   

Gibbs, the State’s second citation, is dealt with even more easily.  The claim there was 

that the prosecution “relied upon inaccurate evidence of a prior offense,” i.e., evidence that was 

presumably inaccurate at the time of trial.  Gibbs, 154 F.3d at 258.  There is no indication in 

Gibbs that a court subsequently reversed the aggravating conviction.  Needless to say, that is the 

soul of Mr. Howard’s claim.  When inaccuracy is the issue, a court can logically emphasize “the 

testimony at trial of the victim,” as Gibbs did.  Id.  When the validity of a conviction is the issue, 
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as it is here, no such testimony can suffice, because the victim—and any account of the crime—

sheds no light on the purely legal question of whether the conviction remains lawful.     

In the State’s final cited case, the claim failed because of a lack of prejudice.  See Spivey, 

207 F.3d at 1282 (denying the claim on the reasoning that “the error was harmless because the 

effect was neither substantial nor injurious”).  The defendant before the Eleventh Circuit had 

multiple aggravators still in place at the time he asserted his Johnson claim.  See Spivey v. State, 

319 S.E.2d 420, 438 (Ga. 1984) (indicating that the jury had found a robbery-murder aggravator 

in addition to the prior-conviction aggravator).  Georgia permits both statutory and non-statutory 

aggravation.  See Tharpe v. Head, 533 S.E.2d 368, 370 (Ga. 2000).  Under that scheme, at least 

one statutory aggravator must be present to render a defendant eligible for capital punishment.  

See Arrington v. State, 687 S.E.2d 438, 445 (Ga. 2009); Hall v. Terrell, 679 S.E.2d 17, 22 (Ga. 

2009).  Once a statutory aggravator has been established and the defendant is death-eligible, the 

jury can consider non-statutory aggravation “in its deliberations on the ultimate question of 

whether to impose the death sentence.”  Ross v. State, 326 S.E.2d 194, 203 (Ga. 1985), overruled 

on other grounds by O’Kelley v. State, 604 S.E.2d 509, 511–12 (Ga. 2004).  Conduct connected 

to prior crimes is admissible as non-statutory aggravation, even when it does not lead to a 

conviction.  See Pace v. State, 524 S.E.2d 490, 505 (Ga. 1999).   

These principles make sense of the Eleventh Circuit’s rationale in Spivey.  Mr. Spivey’s 

Johnson claim did not call into question his eligibility for death, because the robbery-murder 

aggravator remained in force.  Since he would still have been death-eligible even if the Johnson 

claim prevailed, the issue was whether the weighing process would have resulted in death.  And 

at the weighing stage, the conduct associated with the prior crime would still have been fair 

game for the jury as non-statutory aggravation.   

That rationale cannot be utilized in Mr. Howard’s case.  The prior conviction is the only 

aggravator remaining.  Because the Johnson claim eliminates it, there is no death eligibility, and 

the inquiry does not get to the weighing stage.  Hence, there is no room for the consideration of 

non-statutory mitigation.  The conduct with which Mr. Howard was charged in New York is 
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irrelevant, and the testimony given about it at his Nevada trial cannot save his unconstitutional 

death sentence.    

Throwing out another red herring, the State avers that “the mere fact of the adjudication” 

in the robbery case “was not at issue since Petitioner admitted the New York conviction.”  MTD 

at 25.  For one thing, Mr. Howard was hardly competent to testify to whether or not he was 

convicted, since by all accounts he was absent from court when the jury reached its verdict.  

More to the point, it does not matter whether “the mere fact of the adjudication” was ever 

contested at trial—it is now being contested, because it has now been established that no such 

adjudication legally exists, and that is the crux of a Johnson claim.  In Johnson itself, there is no 

indication that the defendant questioned the fact of his prior conviction at his capital sentencing.  

See 486 U.S. at 580–81 (describing the penalty phase proceedings).  Nor could he have: unlike 

Mr. Howard, Mr. Johnson was actually sentenced and incarcerated for the New York offense.  

See id. at 581.  Clearly, a defendant need not challenge the fact of his conviction at trial in order 

to later raise a Johnson claim.  All that he needs is a court order vacating the prior conviction, 

and Mr. Howard has that.     

In a last-ditch attempt to salvage its defective death sentence, the State comments that the 

prosecution at Mr. Howard’s sentencing “never presented the jury with a judgment of conviction 

in the New York case.”  MTD at 25.  As mentioned earlier, it is of no moment how the State 

proved the conviction at sentencing.  His death sentence now rests on a conviction that has no 

lawful effect.  That is more than enough under Johnson.  As it happens, Mr. Johnson’s 

prosecutor did not introduce a judgment of conviction either.  He introduced a document 

reflecting Mr. Johnson’s “commitment” to jail for the offense.  See Johnson, 486 U.S. at 581.  

The minutes from the Queens case that the Nevada prosecutor presented to the jury was used for 

the exact same purpose: to show that Mr. Howard had been convicted of robbery in New York.  

See MTD, Ex. B at 1490 (“Now, your objection, counsel, is overruled.  It appears that the official 

minutes of the court reflect that this individual was convicted of the offense which is 

corroborated by this officer’s testimony.”).  Of note, the only relevant item on the minutes states 

that Mr. Howard “was found guilty in absentia by jury verdict.”  Ex. 1, Att. F.  Evidently, the 
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prosecution understood that it was required to prove Mr. Howard’s conviction, as that was the 

only role for the minutes to play.  Because that conviction has been erased as a matter of law, the 

death sentence has no footing.   

In sum, despite the State’s valiant efforts to create daylight between this case and 

Johnson, it is directly on point.  Most significantly, in both cases, a death sentence was 

predicated on a prior conviction that was subsequently vacated.  The similarities continue to an 

uncanny extent: both prior convictions were for violent felonies in the State of New York; both 

defendants were sentenced to death elsewhere in the early 1980s; both had their prior convictions 

later invalidated by New York courts; and both pursued post-conviction relief as a result in the 

jurisdiction that imposed their death sentences.  Insofar as the cases diverge, the difference 

makes Mr. Howard’s claim more compelling, for his now-void conviction is the only remaining 

basis for his death sentence, whereas Mr. Johnson had two other aggravators.  The U.S. Supreme 

Court awarded Mr. Johnson relief, and Mr. Howard is entitled to it even more so. 

In the alternative, if the Court agrees with the State that Johnson does not apply to Mr. 

Howard’s fact pattern and that the Eighth Amendment does not compel relief, it should vacate 

his death sentence under the cruel-and-unusual-punishment and due process clauses of the 

Nevada Constitution.  See Nevada Const. art. I, secs. 6 & 8.  “A state court is entirely free to read 

its own State’s constitution more broadly than [the U.S. Supreme Court] reads the Federal 

Constitution.”  City of Mesquite v. Aladdin’s Castle Inc., 455 U.S. 283, 293 (1982); accord 

Oregon v. Hass, 420 U.S. 714, 719 (1975).  Johnson was animated by the idea that “[t]he 

fundamental respect for humanity underlying the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition against cruel 

and unusual punishment gives rise to a special need for reliability in the determination that death 

is the appropriate punishment.”  486 U.S. at 584.  It was further motivated by the notion that 

capital “decisions cannot be predicated on mere caprice or on factors that are constitutionally 

impermissible or totally irrelevant to the sentencing process.”  Id. at 585.  Even if the facts of 

Johnson differ from the present case in any meaningful respect, those principles have equal force 

here, where a death sentence now hinges on a single conviction that is no longer a conviction.  In 

App. 340



 

REPLY IN SUPPORT OF PETITION AND RESPONSE TO MOTION TO DISMISS - 25 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
 

the event the Court denies relief under the Eighth Amendment, it should still invalidate the death 

sentence as unreliable under the state constitution.                                                                

III. Conclusion 

Notwithstanding the State’s intent to execute a man whose sole aggravator has been 

nullified, the Constitution clearly forbids it.  Mr. Howard respectfully asks the Court to deny the 

State’s Motion to Dismiss and vacate his death sentence or, if necessary, hold an evidentiary 

hearing.    

DATED this 2nd day of December 2019. 

    Respectfully submitted, 

    HENDRON LAW GROUP LLC 
 

       /s/ Lance J. Hendron 
LANCE J. HENDRON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11151 
625 S. Eighth St. 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

     

     FEDERAL DEFENDER 
     SERVICES OF IDAHO 
 
 
               /s/ Deborah A. Czuba 

DEBORAH A. CZUBA, ESQ. (admitted pro hac vice) 
Idaho Bar No. 9648 
720 W. Idaho St., Ste. 900 
Boise, Idaho 83702 

 
       /s/ Jonah J. Horwitz 

JONAH J. HORWITZ, ESQ. (admitted pro hac vice) 
Idaho Bar No. 10494 
720 W. Idaho St., Ste. 900 
Boise, Idaho 83702 
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 I hereby certify that service of this Reply in Support of Petition and Response to Motion 

to Dismiss was made this 2nd day of December 2019, by electronic filing and by email to: 

 

Jonathan E. VanBoskerck 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Office of the Clark County District Attorney 
Jonathan.VanBoskerck@clarkcountyda.com  
 
 
               /s/ L. Hollis Ruggieri 

L. Hollis Ruggieri 
Paralegal 
Federal Defender Services of Idaho 
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DECLARATION OF JONAH J. HORWITZ 

I, Jonah J. Horwitz, declare as follows: 

1. I am an attorney with Federal Defender Services of Idaho. 

2. I represent Petitioner Samuel Howard in his federal habeas proceedings and in this 

state post-conviction action. 

3. The document appended to this declaration as Attachment A is a true and correct 

copy of the special verdict in Mr. Howard’s capital case in Nevada, signed on May 4, 

1983, and reflecting the aggravating circumstances found by the jury.   

4. The document appended to this declaration as Attachment B is a true and correct copy 

of the order by the Queens County Supreme Court in Mr. Howard’s robbery case, 

dated May 22, 2019.  Attachment B bears the certification and seal of the Queens 

County Clerk.    

5. The document appended to this declaration as Attachment C is a true and correct copy 

of a Certificate of Disposition from the Queens County Supreme Court.  Attachment 

C bears the certification and seal of the Queens County Clerk.     

6. The document appended to this declaration as Attachment D is a true and correct 

copy of the transcript of the proceedings held at Mr. Howard’s capital sentencing in 

Nevada on May 3, 1983.   

7. The document appended to this declaration as Attachment E is a true and correct copy 

of the transcript of the proceedings held at Mr. Howard’s capital sentencing in 

Nevada on May 4, 1983.   

8. The document appended to this declaration as Attachment F is a true and correct copy 

of the minutes of the Queens County, New York robbery case against Mr. Howard in 

Indictment Number 1227-78, which were introduced into evidence by the prosecution 

at his capital sentencing in Nevada on May 2, 1983 and marked at that time as State’s 

Proposed Exhibit 1.     

9. I declare under penalty of perjury under the law of the State of Nevada that the 

foregoing is true and correct.   
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      DATED this 2nd day of December 2019. 

      /s/ Jonah J. Horwitz 
Jonah J. Horwitz 
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IN THE EIGIITH JI'DICIEI DISTRICI COURT OF THE STATE OF NEIT'ADA,

IN AND FOR THE COI'NTY OF CI.ARX.

TCE SIATE OF NE|VADA,

Plaintlff,
-VS-

SA}IUEL HOWARD,

Defenda.et.

SPECIA! VERDICT

lfe, the Jury in the above eDtitfed ca8e, having found tbe

Defendant, SAIIUEL lolfARD, GUILII of t{uldet in the First Degaee,

desiEnate that the aggEavating circumstance or circunstances

wbiclr are checked below lrave been egtabllshed beyond a reasoDab

doubt.

The nurder rras connitted by a defendant

who was.previously convicted of a felony

involvl,ng tbe uee or tlueat ol violence

to the person of Bnother.

Tlre nurder was conmitted while the defendant

was engaged.in the conmissj.on of any robbery.

!{e, the J*y, state tbere are Do Ditigating circunstance

or circumstances sufficient to outweigh '-he aggravating cireunl-

Etance or circurnstanceE designated.

DP.TED at Les vegas, Nevada, this a)' of May, 1983.
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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 
QUEENS COUNTY 

125-01 QUEENS BOULEVARD
KEW GARDENS, NY 11415 

CERTIFICATE OF DISPOSITION DISMISSAL 

FEE:$10.00 

DATE: 11/08/2018 CERTIFICATE OF DISPOSITION NUMBER: 52679 

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 
vs. 

HOWARD,SAMUEL 

DEFENDANT 

CASE NUMBER: 
LOWER COURT NUMBER(S): 
DATE OF ARREST: 
ARREST#: 
DATE OF BIRTH: 
DATE FILED: 

1227-78 
Q813715 
06/23/1978 
10714610/78 
08/18/1948 
06/29/1978 

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT IT APPEARS FROM AN EXAMINATION OF THE RECORDS 
ON FILE IN THIS OFFICE THAT ON 05/23/2018 THE ABOVE ACTION WAS 
DISMISSED AND ALL PENDING CRIMINAL CHARGES RELATED TO 
THIS ACTION WERE ALSO DISMISSED BY THE HONORABLE HOLLIE,R THEN 
A JUDGE OF THIS COURT. 

THE DEFENDANT WAS DISCHARGED FROM THE JURISDICTION OF THE COURT. 

THE ABOVE MENTIONED DISMISSAL IS A TERMINATION OF THE CRIMINAL 
ACTION IN FAVOR OF THE ACCUSED AND PURSUANT TO SECTION 160.60 OF 

• 

THE CRIMINAL PROCEDURE LAW "THE ARREST AND PROSECUTION SHALL BE 
DEEMED A NULLITY AND THE ACCUSED SHALL BE RESTORED, IN 
CONTEMPLATION OF LAW, TO THE STATUS OCCUPIED BEFORE THE ARREST 
AND PROSECUTION" . 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF,! HAVE HEREUNTO SET MY �AND AND AFFIXED MY 
OFFICJAL SEAL ON THIS DATE 11/08/2018. 

COURT CLERK 
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LAs VEGAS,

'(:

SIDE THE

NEVADA, TUESDAY, MAY 3 ' 1983 Ar t
tt :l :i 

'a 
:3 :a tl :3

MISS CLERK, AT THIS TIME

THE SHEET ENTITLED TIPENAL LAW, ROBBERY IN THE

SECTION 150.150rrr wHIcH You WILL MARK AS THE

EXHIBIT NUMBER, WHICH WILL BE 6, I BELIEVE'

,l

THE COURT: LET

PRESENCE OF THE rrURY.

(WHEREUPON, FROM 12213 A.M.

UNTIL 3230 P.M., A RECESS wAS

HAD IN THE PROCEEDINGS, AT THE

CONCLUSION OF h'HICH THE FOLLOW

ING PROCEEDINGS WERE HAD OUT-

SIDE THE PRESENCE OF THE JURY:

TI-IE RECORD REFLECT THIS IS OUT-

I WILL HAt'lD YOU

FIRST DEGREE,

NEXT COURT

THE CLERK: I HAVE 5.

THE COURT: THIS WILL BE 6.

THE CLERK: OKAY.

THE COURT: ANYTHING FURTHER TO COME BEFORE THE

COURT AT THIS TIME?

MR. COOPER: YES, YOUR HONOR'

YOUR HONOR MAY RECALL YESTERDAY ON

REcoRDt,,EBRoUGHTToTHEcoURT|sATTENTIoNTHEFACTTHAT

THE

WHILE

THEDtscussIoNsWITHMR..||owARD,lT}',AsHtsDECIsIoNTHAT

DURING THE PENALTY PHASE OF.THIS TRIAL }'E PRESENT NO EVIDENCE

oFMITIGATINGFAcToRs,cIRcUMsTANcEs,ANDTHATwEMAKENo

ARGUMENT AT THE CLOSE OF THE EVIDENCE'

MR. HOWARD WAS CANVASSED BY YOUR

HoNoRANDINDICATEDATTHATTIMETHATITt|,AsHISDESIRENoT

ToHAVEUsARGUEoURt'ltTtGATINGclRcUMsTANcES.oFcoURsE,

TODAY HE TOOK THE STAND AND OFFERED WHAT }'IE CONSIDERED TO BE

EVIDEhICE OF MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES'

AFTER DISCUSSING WITH HIM LESS THAN
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15 MINUTES AGO WHETHER ITIS STILL HIS DESIRE THAT WE NOT ARGUE

IN THIS CASE, HE HAS EQUIVOCATED AND INDICATED THAT HE WOULD

LEAVE IT UP TO HIS COUNSEL. I WOULD REQUEST THAT THE CoURT

CANVAS MR. HOWARD SO HE CAN BE PERFECTLY CLEAR ON THIS MATTER

AS TO WHAT HIS WISHES ARE.

IS COMPETENT

LIKE TO HAVE

YOU HAVE HEARD THE STATEMENTS OF YOUR

ATTORNEY. DO YOU DESIRE THEM TO ARGUE OR NOT AT THESE PROCEED-

INGS, SIR?

DEFENDANT HOWARD: YESTERDAY, YOUR HONOR' I

DIDNIT -- I DIDNTT UNDERSTAND MITIGATING FACTORS' WHATEVER'

AND SO I -- I IM NOT QUALIFIED TO TELL THEM TO ARGUE OR NOT TO

ARGUE. IT'S ENTIRELY UP TO -- UP TO THE ATTORNEY.

THE COURT: NO IT ISNTT, SIR. trrs ENTIRELY

uP TO YOU UPON CONFERRING WITH THEM. IT'S YOUR DECISION' NOT

THEIR DECISION. AND ITIS OBVIOUS THAT YOU SHOULD 5IT DOWN

WITH THEM AND DISCUSS IT.

NOW, THEYTVE SAID THEY WoULD DISCUSS IT

WITH YOU AND THE STATE IS GOING TO BE ARGUING. THEY WILL BE

ARGUING THAT THERE IS AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES' AND AS THEY

HAVE INDICATED, THEY WILL BE ASKING FOR THE DEATH PENALTY'

DEFENDANT HOWARD: YEs, YOUR HONOR. t UNDER-

.MAY T TIAVE TfIE COURTIS RULING THAT HE

AND ITIS HIS DECISION, AND WE }IOULD CERTAINLY

DEFlNITE CONFIRMATION OF THAT.

THE COURT: MR. HOWARD, WOULD YOU STAND, SIR'

STAND THAT.

BUT

TO ARGUE OR WHATEVER, YOU

WANT TO ARGUE, THEY CAN;

THE COURT:

WHETHER THEY ARGUE OR NOT

I IM NOT

KNOhr.

IF NOT,

WELL,

ARGUE,

AS FAR

QUALI F I ED

SO ITIS UP

YOU KNOW,

YOUIRE THE

TO TELL THEM WHAT

TO THEM. IF THEY

ITIS STILL OKAY.

ONE TO DETERMINE

S IR.

AS THE CONTENTS OF THEIRNOW,
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LAWYERS WITH WHAT THEY HAVE TO DEAL WITH. BUT THE DECISION IS
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DEFENDANT HOWARD: 1TI5 UP

I -- I DONTT UNDERSTAND. I REALLY STILL

YOU IYIEAN BY ARGUING OR WHAT. I TOOK THE

THE COURT:

ONE MORE TIME AS CLEARLY

LEAVE IT TO YOU TO DECIDE

LAWYERS TO ARGUE OR NOT.

THE PENALTY PHASE OF

EVIDENCE AND YOU HAVE

TO THEM, YOUR HONOR.

DONTT UNDERSTAND WHAT

STAND. THATIS THE

f OR TI.IE DEC I S ION,

THEY ARGUE AT THIS TIME?

WELL, I DIDNTT UNDERSTAND,

ARE YOU? JUST ANSWER THE

IN THE HEARING THAT IS ABOUT TO BE HELD,

THIS CASE, THE STATE HAS NOW PRESENTED

NOW PRESENTED EVIDENCE.

THIS IS VERY SIMILAR TO THE TRIAL OF

BEST -l COULD DO. SO, YOU KNOW' t'rt'l READY

WHATEVER.
!

THE COURT: },'ELL, DO YOU OPPOSE THEIR' ARGUING OR

NOT?

YE STERDAY

ARGUING. ARE YOU OPPOSING THAT

YOU WERE OPPOSED TO THEIR

DEFENDANT HOI''IARD:

YOUR HONOR. THE BAILIFF --
THE COURT: WELL,

QUEST I ON .

DEFENDANT HOWARD: OPPOSE WHAT, YOUR HONOR? I

DONiT UNDERSTAND WHAT YOU MEAN. OPPOSE WHAT?

MR. HOWARD, I 'M GoING T0 TELL YOU

AS I CAN, SIR, AND THEN I IM GOING TO

WHETHER YOUTRE GOING TO INSTRUCT YOUR

THE CASE IN WHICH THE STATE PRESENTED EVIDENCE AND YOU PRESENTE

EVIDENCE. AT THAT TIME THE STATE ARGUED THEIR CASE TO THE

iJURY AND THAT IS AND THAT MEANS THAT THEY SUMMARIZE THE

EVIDENCE TO THE JURY AND ARGUED HOW THE LAW APPLIES TO THE

EVIDENCE THAT'S SUBMITTED.

YOUR ATTORNEYS DID THE VERY SAME THING

I 2g0V 4iZ=6a
-t533-
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RIGHT TO

THIS CASE

ATTORNEYS

OPEN AND CLOSE.

AND THEY }JILL

WILL ALSO HAVE

NOW YOUR ATTORNEYS ARE

THEY HAD IN THE CASE ON

GOING TO HAVE THE SAME

THE ISSUE OF GUILT OR

THE STATE WILL ARGUE.

THEY WILL AGAIN ARGUE

ALSO ARGUE HOW THE LAW

OPPORTUNITY AS

INNOCENCE.

THEY HAVE THE

THE FACTS OF

APPLIES. YOUR

JURY.

WE CONFER WITH

::

TO YOU, SIR?

I5, IN VIEW OF

YOUR ATTORNEYS

FOR YOU TO MAKE

WITH YOUR ATTORNEYS AND

DESIRES TO ARGUE, THEN

wAY OR THE OTHER, SIR.

PRESENCE OF THE JURY?

THE .DEFENDANT

YOU MAY BE SEATED.

ANYTHING FURTHER OUTSIDE OF THE

THAT OPPORTUNITY.

DO YOU UNDERSTAND WHAT I HAVE SAID

DEFENDANT HOWARD: TEs.

THE COURT: ALL RIGHT.

YES, YOUR HONOR.

DO YOU HAVE ANY -- THE oNLY QUESTION THEN

YOUR PREVIOUS STATEMENT THAT YOU DID NOT WANT

TOARGUETHECASETOTHE,JURYTTHEONLYDECISION

NOW.IS WI.IETHER OR NOT YOU WANT THEM TO OR NOT'

YOU CAN BE SEATED AND YOU MAY CONFER

WHEN I CALL AND ASK IF THE DEFENSE

WE SHALL HAVE A DECISION FROI'I YOU ONE

MR. HARMON: NO, YOUR HONOR-

THE COURT:". ALL RIGHT. CALL THE

MR. FRANZEN: - YOUR HONOR, MIGHT

BEFORE THE TJURY TS BROUGHT IN?

THE COURT: ALL RIGHT. GO AHEAD.

MR. COOPER: YOUR HONOR, AFTER FURTHER DISCUS-

sIoN wtTH MR. I-IOWARD, lTts H:s DECISION THAT WE ARGUE THE CASE'

IN LIGHT OF THAT DECISION, YOUR HONOR, I

FEEL COMPELLED AT THIS TIME TO MOVE THE COURT FOR A CONTINUANCE

OF ONE DAY TO GIVE US THE OPPORTUNITY TO MORE FULLY PREPARE

FOR CLOSING ARGUMENT. BASED ON MR. HOWARDIS DECISION YESTERDAY,

-1514- I pg0?4n 
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IT WAS OUR IMPRESSION THAT THERE WOULD BE NO ARGUMENT BY THE

DEFENSE COUNSEL.

I

HOUR, HoWEVER, I FEEL THAT

ARGUMENT COULD BE PREPARED,

A T'IATTER OF ONE DAY TO GIVE

THE COURT:

MR. HARMON:

COURT. WE ARE PREPARED TO

ARGUE TOMORROW.

THE COURT: WELL,

STARTED ARGUING TODAY WE PROBABLY

AFTER 5: OO O I CLOCK.

THE .COURT:

THE JURY?

MR. FRANZEN:

MR. SEATON:

THE COURT:

MADE SOME NOTES DURING THE LUNCH

GIVEN ADDITIONAL TIME, A lvlORE BETTER

SOLELY JF.TI.IE COURT WOULD DEEM US

US THAT OPPORTUNITY.

THE.,sTATE?

, YOUR l'lONOR, WE LEAVE

GO THIS AFTERNOON. WE

ITtS OBVIOUS THAT

WOULDNTT FINISH

TO THE

ALSO

EVEN IF WE

UNTIL WELL

THAT

CAN

MR. HARMON: WE WOULD GO WELL PAST 5:00, YouR

HONOR.

THE COURT: ALL RIGHT.

WE WILL CALL THE JURY BACK IN AND INSTRUCT

THEM AND THEN WE WILL COMMENCE WITH THE ARGUMENTS TOMORROW

MORNING. THE STATE COMMENCES AT IO:OO AND YOU FOLLOW AT THAT

T IME.

MR. HARMON: FINE.

THE COURT: CALL THE JURY.

(WHEREUPoN, AT THE HouR oF

. 3:40 P.M., THE JURY ENTERED

THE COURTROOM AND THE FbLLOW-

ING PROCEEDINGS WERE HAD:)

couNsEL, STIPULATE TO THE PRESENCE

IT HAS NOW BECOME ':4Y DUTY TO INSTRUCT

I
-t535-

YES, YOUR

YES, YoUR

LADIES AND

HONOR.

HONOR.

GENTLEMEN OF

YOU AS TO THE

p20'l 43

THE JURY,

LAW IN THIS
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PENALTY HEARING. AND AS I HAVE PREVIOUSLY MENTIONED TO YOU

WHEN WE WERE INVOLVED IN THE GUILT PHASE, THESE INSTRUCTIONS

ARE IN WRITING AND THEY WILL BE GIVEN TO YOU. YOU WILL BE ABLE

TO TAKE THEM BACK TO THE JURY ROOM WITH YOU TO DISCUSS AND TO

CONSIDER AT THE TIME THAT YOU ARE DEL1BERATING IN THIS MATTER'

'$

IT IS NOW MY DUTY AS JUDGE

TO INSTRUCT 
.YOU 

IN TIIE LAW THAT

APPLIES TO THIS PENALTY I-IEARING.

IT IS YOUR DUTY AS .JURORS TO

FOLLOW THESE INSTRUCTIONS AND TO

APPLY THE RULES OF LAW TO THE

FACTS AS YOU FIND THEM FROM THE

EVIDENCE.

YOU MUST NOT BE CONCERNED

WITH THE WISDOM OF ANY RULE OF

LAW STATED IN THESE INSTRUCTIONS.

REGARDLESS OF ANY OPINION YOU MAY

HAVE AS TO WHAT THE LAW OUGHT TO

BE, IT WOULD BE A VIOLATION OF

YOUR OATH TO BASE A VERDICT UPON

ANY OTHER VIEW OF THE LAW THAN

THAT GIVEN IN THE INSTRUCTIONS

OF THE COURT

IF, tN THESE INSTRUCTIONS,

A RULE, DIRECTION OR IDEA IS

REPEATED OR STATED IN DIFFERENT

WAYS, NO EMPHASIS THEREON tS

INTENDED BY ME AND NONE MUST BE

INFERRED BY YOU. FOR THAT

t536- I ?2A7 44

l0

11

L2

1g

L4

l5

16

t7

l8

19

20

2L

a2

23

2A

25

26

27

28

29

80

31

32

25 63App. 365



k'-t
ffi
{;'
ilg
f$l

!.&
I

r"r1
F*
q,.!-l

i:l$

Ll-''

I

2

3

4

5

-6

.7

8

I
IO

ll
L2

13

14

15

16

L7

18

19

20

2l

22

2g

24

25

?.6

27

28

29

30

81

82

REASoN, YOU ARE NoT T0

SINGLE OUT ANY CERTAIN

SENTENCE OR ANY INDIVIDUAL

POINT OR INSTRUCTION AND

IGNORE THE OTHERS, BUT YOU

ARE TO CONSIDER ALL 'TTiE'IN:

STRUCTIONS AS A WTIOLE AND

REGARD EACH IN THE LIGHT OF

ALL THE OTHERS.

THE ORDER

STRUCTIONS ARE

NIFICANCE AS TO

IMPORTANCE.

IN lilHlCH THE IN-

GIVEN HAS NO SIG-

THEIR RELATIVE

THE

PUN I SHMENT

VICTED OF

DEGREE.

TR IAL .JURY

FOR EVERY

MURDER OF

SHALL FIX THE

PERSON CON-

THE FIRST

THE JURY SHALL FIX

MENT .AT:

THE PUNI SH-

DEATH, OR

LIFE IMPRISONMENT

THE:POSSIBILITY OF

OR,

l.

2. W I THOUT

PAROLE,

t. LIFE IMPRISONMENT WITH THE

POSSIBILITY OF PAROLE.

YOU ARE INSTRUCTED THAT THE

LIFE IMPRISONMENT t,.IITH THE POSSIBTL-

ITY OF PAROLE DOES NOT EXCLUDE EXECU-
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TIVE CLEMENCY.

THE STATE HAS ALLEGED THAT

CERTAIN AGGRAVATING C IRCUMSTAI'ICES

ARE PRESENT IN THIS CASE.

THE DEFENDANT HAs ALLEGED THAT

.CERTAIN MI TIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES

ARE PRESENT IN THIS CASE.

IT I5 YOUR DUTY TO DETERMINE:

A. WHETHER AN AGGRAVATING

CIRCUMSTANCE OR CIRCUM-

STANCES ARE FOUND TO

EX I ST;

B. WHETHER A MITIGATING CIR-

CUMSTANCE OR CIRCUMSTANCES

ARE FOUND TO EXIST; AND

C. BASED UPON THESE FINDINGS,

WHETHER THE DEFENDANT SHOULD

BE SENTENCED TO LIFE IMPRISON_

MENT OR DEATH.

THE .JURY MAY IMPOSE A SENTENCE

OF DEATH ONLY IF IT FTNDS AT LEAST

ONE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE HAs

BEEN ESTABLISHED BEYOND A REASONABLE

DOUBT AND FURTHER FINDS THAT THERE

ARE NO MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES

SUFFICIENT TO OUTWEIGH THE AGGRAVATING

CIRCUMSTANCE OR CIRCUMSTANCES FOUND.

OTHERWISE, THE PUNISHMENT IMPOSED SHALL

B 290?46

-t538 -
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BE IMPRISONMENT

PRISON FOR LIFE

THE POSSIBILITY

IN THE STATE

WITH OR WITHOUT

OF PAROLE.

THE BURDEN RESTS UPON THE

PROSECUTION TO ESTABLISH ANY

AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE BEYOND

A REASONABLE DOUBT.

A REASONABLE DOUBT IS ONE

BASED ON REASON. IT IS NOT

MERE POSSIBLE DOUBT, BUT IS

SUCH A DOUBT AS WOULD GOVERN

OR CONTROL A PERSON IN THE MORE

WEIGHTY AFFAIRS OF LIFE. IF THE

MINDS OF THE .JURORS, AFTER THE

ENTIRE COMPARISON AND CONSIDERA-

TION OF ALL THE EVIDENCE, ARE IN

SUCH A CONDITION THAT THEY CAN

SAY THEY FEEL AN ABIDING CONVIC'

TION OF THE TRUTH OF THE CHARGE,

THERE IS NOT A REASONABLE DOUBT.

DOUBT TO BE ,REASONABLE MUST BE

ACTUAL AND SUBSTANTIAL, NOT MERE

POSSTBILITY OR SPECULATION.

YOU ARE INSTRUCTED THAT THE

FOLLOWII.tG FACTORS ARE CIRCUMSTANCES

BY WHICH MURDER OF THE FIRST DEGREE

MAY BE AGGRAVATED:

I
f

:
:

I
It
a
2

i
.l

I{
a
$

4

i
i
I
2
4
.l

1. THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED

BY A DEFENDANT WHO WAS

-1519-
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PREVIOUSLY CONVICTED OF

A FELONY INVOLVING THE USE

OR THREAT OF VIOLENCE TO

THE PERSON OF ANOTHER.

2. THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED

}'IHILE: THE DEFENDANT WAS

ENGAGED IN THE COMMISSION

OF ANY ROBBERY.

ROBBERY IS THE UNLAWFUL TAKING

OF PERSONAL PROPERTY FROM THE PERSON

oF ANoTHER OR IN HI5 PRESENCE, AGAINST

HIS.WILL, BY MEANS OF FORCE OR VIoLENCE

OR FEAR OF IN.JURY, IMMEDIATE OR FUTURE,

TO HIS PERSON OR PROPERTY. SUCH FORCE

OR FEAR MUST BE USED TO OBTAIN OR RETAIN

POSSESSION OF THE PROPERTY, OR TO PRE-

VENT OR OVERCOME RESISTANCE TO THE

TAKING, IN EITHER OF WHICH CASES THE

DEGREE OF FORCE IS IMMATERIAL. SUCH

TAKING CONSTITUTES ROBBERY WHENEVER IT

APPEARS THAT, ALTHOUGH THE TAKING WAS

FULLY COMPLETED WITHOUT THE KNOWLEDGE

oF THE PERSON FROM WHOM TAKEN, SUCH

KNOWLEDGE WAS PREVENTED BY THE USE OF

FORCE OR FEAR.

THE VALUE OF PROPERTY OR MONEY

TAKEN IS NOT AN ELEMEI{T OF THE CRIME

oF ROBBERY, AND IT IS ONLY NECESSARY

THAT THE STATE PROVE THE TAKING OF

SOME PROPERTY OR MONEY.
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MURDER OF THE FIRST DEGREE
1-'

MAY BE MITIGATED BY.ANY OF THE

FOLLOI,IING CIRCUI'ISTANCES, EVEN

THOUGH THE MI'iNO"'E CIRCUMSTANCE

IS NOT SUFFICIENT TO CONSTITUTE

A DEFENSE OR REDUCE THE DEGREE OF

THE CRIME:

ANY OTHER MITIGATING

C I RCUMSTANCES .

THE JURY IS INSTRUCTED THAT

IN DETERMINING THE APPROPRIATE

PENALTY TO BE IMPOSED IN THIS CASE

THAT IT MAY CONSIDER ALL EVIDENCE

INTRODUCED AT BOTH THE PENALTY

HEARING PHASE OF THESE PROCEEDINGS

AND AT THE TRIAL OF THIS MATTER.

THE OFFENSE

A FELONY UNDER THE

STATE OF NEVADA.

THE LAW

OF EVIDENCE.

AND THE OTHER

EVIDENCE.

OF ROBBERY IS

LAWS OF THE

RECOGNIZES TWO CLASSES

o\E IS DIRECT EVIDENCE

IS C.IRCUMSTANTTAL

1.

DIRECT EVIDENCE IS THE TESTI-

MONY OF A PERSON WHO CLAIMS TO

HAVE KNOWLEDGE OF THE COMI"IISSION

OF THE CRIME WHICH HAS BEEN COMMIT-

TED, SUCH AS AN EYE-WITNESS.
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CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IS THE

PROOF OF A CHAIN OF FACTS AND

CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH TEND TO SHOI/

WHETHER THE DEFENDANT IS GUILTY

OR NOT GUILTY. THE LAW MAKES NO

DISTT"NCTIONS BETWEEN THE WEIGHT

TO BE GIVEN EITHER DIRECT OR

CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE. THERE-

FORE, ALL OF THE EVIDENCE IN THE

CASE, INCLUDING THE CIRCUMSTANTIAL

EVIDENCE, SHOULD BE CONSIDERED BY

YOU IN ARRIVING AT YOUR VERDICT.

ALTHOUGH YOU ARE TO CONSIDER

ONLY THE EVIDENCE IN THE CASE IN

REACHING A VERDICT, YOU MUST BRING

TO THE CONSIDERATION OF THE EVIDENCE

YOUR EVERYDAY COMMON SENSE AND

JUDGMENT A5 REASONABLE MEN AND

woMEN. THUs, YOU ARE NOT LIMITED

SOLELY TO WHAT YOU SEE AND HEAR AS

THE WITNESSES TESTIFY. YOU MAY DRAW

REASONABLE INFERENCES FROM THE

EVIDENCE WHICH YOU FEEL ARE JUSTI-

FIED IN THE LIGHT OF COMMON EXPER-

IENCE, KEEPING IN MIND THAT INFERENCES

SHOULD NOT BE BASED ON SPECULATION OR

GUESS.

THE VERDICT MAY NEVER BE

$
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INFLUENCED BY SYMPATHY,

OR PUBLIC OPINION. YOUR
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SHOULD BE THE PRODUCE OF SINCERE

.JUDGMENT AND SOUND DISCRETION IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THESE RULES OF LAW.

THE COURT HAs SUBMITTED TWO

OF VERDICTS TO YOU.-. bHE SET OF

,VERDICTS REFLECTS 'THE THREE POsSIBLE

PUNISHMENTS WHICH MAY BE IMPOSED'

THE OTHER sET OF VERDICTS ARE

SPECIAL VERDICTS. THEY ARE TO REFLECT

YOUR FINDINGS WITH RESPECT TO THE

PRESENCE OR ABSENCE AND WEIGHT TO BE

GIVEN ANY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE AND

ANY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

IT WILL BE THE JURYIS DUTY TO

SELECT ONE APPROPRIATE VERDICT PER-

TAINING TO THE PUNISHMENT WHICH IS

TO BE IMPOSED AND ONE APPROPRIATE

SPECIAL VERDICT PERTAINING TO THE

JURYIS FINDINGS WITH RESPECT TO

AGGRAVATING AND MITIGATING CIRCUM-

STANCES

DURING YOUR DELIBERATION YOU

WILL HAVE ALL THE EXHIBITS hIHICH

WERE ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE, THESE

t,,'RITTEN INSTRUCTIONS AND FORMS OF

VERDICT, WHICH HAVE BEEN PREPARED

FOR YOUR CONVENIENCE.

YOUR VERDICTS MUST BE I

SETS

228U 5"t
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UNANIMOUS.

UPON YOUR

BE SIGNED

FOREMAN.

WHEN YOU

VERD I CTS,

AND DATED

HAVE AGREED

THEY SHOULD

BY YOUR

MR. HARMON: MAY },|E APPROACH THE BENCH, YOUR

HONOR.?

!'

THE COURT: YOU MAY.

(Y{HEREUPoN, sIDE BAR coNFERENcE

WAS l'tELD AT THE BENCH; NOT

REPORTED. AT THE CONCLUSION I

WHICH THE FOLLOWING WAS HAD:)

THE COURT:

COUNSEL HAS BROUGHT TO MY

INSTRUCTIONS. I HAVE JUST

I HAVE.

THE INSTRUCTION SHOULD READ AS FOLLOWS:

YOU ARE INSTRUCTED THAT THE

SENTENCE OF LIFE IMPRISONMENT I'IITHOUT

rHE POSSIBILITY OF PAROLE DOES NOT

EXCLUDE EXECUTIVE CLEMENCY.

NO EMPHASIS IS INTENDED BY ME IN READING

THIS':EUToNLYTocoRREcTTHEREcoRDANDToMAKEtTCLEAR.

ALL RIGHT. LADIES AND GENTLEMEN OF THE

JURY, IN vIEw oF THE HoUR, coUNsEL HAs AGREED THAT THERE Is

No||JAYTHAT|^lEwoULDBEABLEToFINISHTHECASEToDAYUNLESS

wEWENTWELLINToTHEEVENING.sot.JEAREGoINGToCoNTINUE

THIs MATTER UNTIL 10:00 o'cLocK ToMoRRow MoRNING, AT v\,HIcH TIME

YOU WILL HEAR THE ARGUMENTS OF COUNSEL AND THEN THE I'IATTER WILL

8 pgs? 6'p

LADIES AND GENTLEMEN OF THE TJURY,

ATTENTION THAT I MISREAD ONE OF THE

CHECKED WITH THE COURT REPORTER AND

BE SUBMITTED TO YOU.

-1544- ?i6eApp. 373
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6

1

DURING THIS RECESS, LADIES

AND GENTLEMEN' YOU ARE ADMONISHED

NOT TO CONVERSE AMONG YOURSELVES

OR WITH ANYONE ELSE ON ANY SUBJECT

CoNNECTED IJITH THIS TRIAL, OR READ,

IJATCH OR LISTEN TO ANY REPORT OF OR

COMMENTARY ON THIS TRIAL {'TITH ANY

PERSON CONNECTiD WITH THIS TRTAL BY

ANY MEDIUMTOF INFORMATION, INCLUDING

WITHOUT LTMITATION, NEWSPAPER, TELE-

vrsloN oR RADIO, OR FORM OR EXPRESS

ANY OPINION ON ANY SUBJECT CONNECTED

WITH THIS TRIAL UNTIL THE CASE IS

FINALLY SUBMITTED TO YOU.

TOMORROW MORNING. WE

OF YOUR PRESENCE. SO

WE WILL BE IN RECESS UNTIL 10:OO OICLOCK

HAVE SOME MATTERS TO TAKE CARE OF OUTSIDE

YOU CAN LEAVE THE COURTROOM AT THIS TIME'

INSTRUCTIONS THAT YOU WERE GOING TO PROPOSE?

MR. FRANZEN: YEs, YOUR HONOR.

THE COURT: WELL, FIRST OF ALL,

OBJECTIONS ON THE PART OF THE STATE AS TO ANY

G IVEN?

MR. IiARMON: NO, YOUR HONOR '

THE COURT: DO YOU OFFER ANY

TIONS AT THIS TIME?

MR. HARMON: NO, YOUR HONOR.

(WHEREUPON, AT 
':55 

P.M. Tl'lE

JURY LEFT THE COURTROOI'1, AND

THE FOLLOWTNG PROCEEDINGS WERE

HAD OUTSIDE OF THEIR PRESENCE:

THE COURT: OUTSIDE THE PRESENCE OF THE JURY'

I ETLIEVE, GENTLEMEN, THAT YOU HAD SOME

WE HAVE THEM.

ARE THERE ANY

I NSTRUCT I ONS

ADDITTONAL INSTRUC-

8 2207 5'J
257 C
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THE COURT: AND ITIS A MATTER OF TRIAL STRATEGY

THAT YOU OFFER NO FURTHER INSTRUCTIONS AT THIS TIME?

MR. HARMON: IT 15, YOUR HONOR.

THE COURT: THANK YOU.

COUNSEL, DO YOU HAVE ANY OB!'ECTION TO ANY

OF THE INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN?
.:

't MR. FRANZEN: YEs, YouR

,. THE COURT: ALL RIGHT.

YOUR EOBJECTION.

MR. FRANZEN: INSTRUCTION

HONOR, WHICH INSTRUCTS THE JURY THAT THE

IMPRI SOI'IMENT --

HONOR.

STATE THE NUMBER AND

NUMBER FIVE, YoUR

SENTENCE OF LIFE

THE COURT: COUNSEL, STAND, PLEASE.

MR. FRANZEN: ItM SoRRY, YoUR H0N0R.

IT INSTRUCTS THE .JURORS THAT:

THE SENTENCE OF LIFE IMPRISON-

MENT WITHOUT THE POSSIBILITY OF

PAROLE DOES NOT EXCLUDE EXECUTIVE

CLEMENCY.

I'',E REALTZE THAT N.R.S. 175.161, SUB-

PARAGRAPH 7, ALLOWS THE GMNG OF SOME INSTRUCTIONS WHEN THE

POSSIBILITY OF SUCH A SENTENCE EXISTS. HOWEVER, I BELIEVE THE

STATUTE }IAS ENACTED IN THE LATE 196015. IT WAS ENACTED PRIOR

TO T+IE RECENT DEVELOPMENT OF CAPITAL PUNISHMENT LAW BY THE

UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT: THE FURMAN, THE GEORGIA, TTTE

PROFFITT, AND OTHER DISCUSSIONS THAT WE HAVE PREVIOUSLY MENTION-

ED IN OUR DISCUSSION OF WHAT TYPE OF AGGRAVATING CIRCUI"|STANCE

COULD BE CIVEN TO A SENTENCING.JURY AND THAT THEIR SENTENCING

DISCRETION MUST BE A CHANNELED DISCRETION, STRICTLY CO.NITROLLED.

WE BELIEVE THAT THIS TYPE OF -- THIS TYPE OF INSTRUCTION

DEMEANS THE,.JURY'S OWN DUTY IN THE JURY'S OWN I.'III'ID, AND

ENCOURAGES THEM TO GIVE LESS.- GIVE LESS THAN THEIR COMPLETE
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ATTENTION AND CONCERN T0 THE SENTENCING 0F MR. HoWARD, AND THAT

THEY WILL BELIEVE THAT ANY MISTAKE THEY MAKE WILL BE CURED BY

THE EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT OF OUR STATE.

WE WOULD ALSO OB.JECT BECAUSE THERE

HAVE BEEN NO EVIDENCE PRESENTED BEFORE THIS COURT TO BE

PRESENTED TO THE JURY AS TO HOW THIS EXECUTIVE CLEMENCY

woRKs.'' tltE BELIEVE THAT EVIDENCE WILL BE PRESENTED, IF

PREVENTED, t4R. HO|'ARD, GIVEN tllS RECORD HAS ADMITTED ON

PROGRAM

IT WAS

TI.IE

STAND,

THE CURRENT GOVENOR

OR URGE IT WHEN HE

WAS WITH THE NEVADA

THE

PLEASE.

,'ruouLD NEVER GET EXECUTtVe CLEMENCY.

THE CURRENT GOVENOR, OF COURSE, NEVER

OF COURSE DID NOT GRANT EXECUTIVE CLEI4ENCY

WAS A MEMBER OF THE PARDONS BOARD WHEN HE

ATTORNEY GENERAL.

COURT: COUNSEL, LET'S STAY OFF POLITICS,

MR. FRANZEN: THE OTHER OB.JECTION, YOUR HONOR,

WAS AS h,HEN t,JE APPROACHED THE BEI'ICH WE OBJECTED TO THE REPEATING

OF THE -- THE REPEATING OF THIS PARTICULAR INSTRUCTION BECAUSE

OF THE UNDUE EI'IPI-IASIS SUCH A REPEATING OF IT WOULD HAVE ON THAT

LANGUAGE REGARDING EXECUTIVE CLEMENCY.

WE REALIZE THAT THE COURT REPORTER REFLECTS

THAT YOUR HONOR MISSPOKE HIMSELF REGARDING THIS INSTRUCTION,

PARTICULARLY IF I RECALL CORRECTLY, YOUR HONOR INSTRUCTED THEM,

''YOU ARE INSTRUCTED THAT THE SENTENCE OF LtFE II'IPRISONMENT WITH

THE.POSSIBILITY OF PAROLETTT RATHER THAN WITHOUT THE POSSIBILITY

OF PAROLEI IlDOEs. NOT EXCLUDE.EXECUTIVE CLEMEI.ICY'I!

WE BELIEVE THAT THE ERROR OR THE

MISTAKE t'.tOULD HAVE B'iEN CURED BY THE PRESENTATION OF THtS

INSTRUCTION TO THE TJURY WHEN THEY WENT BACK FOR THEIR DELIBERA-

TION5.

THE COURT: COUNSEL.

MR. HARMON: YOUR HONOR, N.R. S . t75.t76,

92075b ?5

SUB-
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HEADING 7, MAKES IT INCUMBENT UPON THE COURT TO GIVE THIS

INSTRUCTION IF IT'S REQUESTED BY EITHER PARTY. THE STATE HAS

REQUESTED IT, THEREFORE THE STATUTORY LANGUAGE THAT IT SHALL BE

GIVEN TAKES EFFECT.

THE COURT: COUNSEL, THE STATUTE VERY CLEARLY

STATES THAT IT MUST 8E GMN IF REQUESTED BY COUNSEL. THE

STATE. REQUESTED rT. I GAVE IT.

WITH REGARDS TO THE REPEATING OF THE
'. t'

INSTRUCTION, THIS COURT lS INTERESTED IN REVEALTNG THE TRUTI'|,

RATHER THAN OBSCURING IT. FOR THAT REASON, I READ IT.

NOW, ARE THERE ANY OTHER INSTRUCTIONS.

THAT YOU OB.JECT TO?

MR. FRANZEN: FORGIVE ME. INSTRUCTION NUMBER

NINE, YOUR HONOR.

THE COURT: NUMBER NINE?

MR. FRANZEN: REGARDING THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUM-

STANCES BY WHICH MURDER IN THE FIRST DEGREE MAY BE AGGRAVATED.

WE DO NOT BELIEVE THAT THE STATE HAS PROVED BEYOND A REASONABLE

DOUBT THE PRIOR FELONY CONVICTION IN SAN BERNARDINO.

THE COURT: WELL, THATTS AN ISSUE TO BE DE'TER-

MINED BY THE JURY, NOT BY THIS COURT OR BY THE DISTRICT

ATTORNEY.

' MR. FRANZEN: WELL, I BELIEVE' YOUR HONoR, WE

HAVE 1A STATEMENT GIVEN BY MR. HOWARD ON DIRECT EXAMINATION AND

NO CORPUS...:
THE COURT: WELL, WE WILL LET THE JURY DECIDE

THAT ISSUE.

ALL RIGHi. ANYTHING FURTHER?

MR. FRANZEN: YES, YOUR HONOR.

THE COURT: YES.

MR. FRANZEN: INSTRUCTION NUMBER TWELVE,

REGARDING MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES, OUR OB.JECTI0N T0 THIS TIES

-1548- 8 930?56 2573App. 377
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INTO THE PREVIOUSLY REJECTED INSTRUCT]ON. WOULD THE COURT

PREFER THAT I WAIT TO PROFFER THE PROPOSED INSTRUCTION OR

DISCUSS IT AT THIS TIME?

THE COURT.: WELL, YOU CAN DISCUSS IT' I BELIEVE,

AT THIS TIME.

MR. FRANZEN: YOUR HONOR, INSTRUCTION NUMBER

TWELVE FAILS To LIST ANY OF TI.IE IIIITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH

WE BELIEVE THE JURYIS ATTENTION SHOULD BE DIRECTED TO.

STATUTE OR AUTHORITY WHERE IT CLEARLY SETS FORTH AND DEFINES

ADDITIONAL MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES?

MR. FRANZEN: YoUR HoNOR, THE --

THE COURT: IN THE STATE OF NEVADA, SIR.

MR. FRANZEN: I CANNOT STATE OR IDENTIFY A

NEVADA SUPREME COURT DECISION ON THE ISSUE.

THE COURT: DO YOU KNOhI WHERE THE LEGISLATURE

HAS FURTHER CLARIFIED WHAT THEY MEAN BY ANY OTHER MITIGATII'IG

C I RCUMSTANCE ?

MR. FRANZEN: I KNOW THAT AT THE TIME THE NEVADA

LEGISLATURE WAS CREATING OUR NEVADA DEATH PENALTY STATUTE' I

BELIEVE IN 1977, THEY WERE CONCERNED WITH A VARIETY 0F SUPREME

couRT DECISIONS: FURMAN, GREGG, AND THE OTHER otiE. IF I MAY

HAVE.:THE COURTTS INDULGENC€ FOR JUST ONE MOMENT.

THE COURT: WELL, THIS IS NEI'I INFORMATION THAT

YOU ARE IMPARTING TO THE COURT AT THIS TIME' lS THAT CORRECT?

YOU HAVE NEVER IMPARTED THIS TO ME AT ANYTIME.

MR. FRANZEN: WELL, t HAVE TMPARTED TO YOUR

HONOR THAT WE BELIEVE WE ARE ENTITLED TO HAVE A LISTING OF

AGGRAVATING -- OR THE MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES TO BRING TO

ATTENTION OF THE --
THE COURT: BUT YOU HAVE NEVER STATED BEFORE

THAT THERE IS ANY STATUTORY OR CASE SUPPORT FOR IT'

THE

THE

a-LJ-154e- g 2207 5'l
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1'1R. FRANZEN: THERE IS NO, TO I'tY KNoWLEDGE,

NO NEVADA CASE AUTHORITY OT.I THIS.

THE COURT: ALL RIGHT. PROCEED.

MR. FRANZEN: WE DID REQUEST AN oPPoRTUNITY To

GO TO THE OFFICE AND BRING BACK SOME AUTHORITY.

THEcoURT:No.YoUREQUESTEDANoPPoRTUNITY

TO GO HAVE THAT PARTICULAR tTEt'l TYPED, I"HICH I GAVE YOU' AND

EXTENIDED THE TIME }JITHIN WHICH YOU COULD PRESENT IT AND/OR

THAT WE COULD GET IT INTO THE RECORD. BUT AT NO TIME HAVE YOU

REQUESTED OF ME THAT YOU HAVE ANYTHING IN YOUR OFFICE WHICH

WOULD SUPPORT ANYTHING TO SHOW ADDITIONAL MITIGATING CIRCUM-

STANCES. YOU MAY HAVE THOUGHT --
MR. FRANZEN: I IM NOT ARGUING ADDITIONAL MITI-

GATINGcIRcUMsTANcEs,YoURHoNoR.IIMARGUINGTHATTHELIST

OF MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES THAT THE DEFENDANT IS ENTITLED TO

HAVE PRESENTED TO THE JURY REFLECTS HIS CHARACTER AND HIS LIFE'

AND HE IS ENTITLED UNDER TI'IE CHANNELED DISCRETION DECISION BY

THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT, AND BY, IT JUST CAME TO ME AT

THE MOMENT, THE ONE I HAVE PREVIOUSLY CITED TO YOUR HONOR'

WHERE THE NEVADA SUPREME COURT SPEAKS OF THIS CHANNELED

DISCRETION.

IN

THE JURYIS DISCRETION TO

ORDER TO PROPERLY CHANNEL AND DIRECT

KNOW THIS MANIS CHARACTER AND BACK-

A LISTING OF TTIOSE CIRCUMSTANCES

MITIGATION.

YOU SAY HE IS ENTITLED TO THAT,

AUTHORITY THAT SAYS THAT; IS THAT

GROUND, HE lS ENTITLED TO

THAT HE CONSIDERS TO BE IN

THE COURT:

HOWEVER YOU DONIT HAVE ANY

CORRE CT ?

MR.

THE

MR.

DISCRETION CASES BY

FRANZEN: AT THE MOMENT' I DO NOT'

COURT: ALL RIGHT.

FRANZEN: I IM ARGUING THAT THE CHANNELED

THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT I''OULD

-1550- I pvv?58 2575
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DIRECT YOUR HONOR TO LIST THESE MITIGATING CIRCUMSTATICES WHICH

WE BELIEVE HAVE BEEN PROVEN THROUGH MR. TIOViIARDIS TESTIMONY.

THE COURT: WHERE ARE THEY, BECAUSE THIS IS

THE FIRST TII4E I HAVE EVER HEARD OF SUCH A PROPOSAL.

MR. FRANZEN: THEYIRE IN THE PROPOSED INSTRUC-

TIONS IN },'HICH }''E DISCUSSED WITH YOUR HONOR THAT THE DEFENDANT

-- "":t MURDER WAS COMMITTED WHILE THE DEFENDANT WAS UNDER THE

INFIUENCE OF EXTREME MENTAL.AND EMOTIONAL DISTURBANCE' ]'',HlCH

WAS SUB-PARAGRAPH 2 OF N.R.S. 200.033.

WE ALSO WISH THAT THE 'JURY BE INSTRUCTED

THAT A MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE THAT COULD BE CON5IDERED WOULD

BE THAT THE DEFENDANT HAS A HISTORY OF MENTAL ILLNESS' SUB-

PARAGRAPH 
' 

IN OUR PROPOSED INSTRUCTIONS WAS THAT THE DEFENDANT

HAS BEEN IN THE PAST, IN MENTAL OR PSYCHIATRIC WAF',.DS OR

HOSPITALS. AND SUB-PARAGRAPH 4 hIAS THAT THE DEFENDANT HAS

HONORABLY SERVED HIS COUNTR,Y IN THE MILITARY. AND SUB-PARA-

GRAPH 5 WAS THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS PRESENT AND OBSERVED THE

MURDER OF HIs MOTHER AND HIS SISTER BY HIS FATHER'

THE COURT: ALL RIGHT.

MAY I SEE THAT PRCPOSED INSTRUCTIOhI'

COUNSEL.

MR. FRANZEN: YES, YoUR H0N0R.

MAY THE RECORD REFLECT I AM PROVIDING

COUNSEL FOR THE STATE WITH A COPY.

THE COURT: ALL RIGHT.

MR . HARMON: THAhIK YOU .

THE COURT: I-WtLL MARK THIS DEFENDANTIS

pRoposED nArt, NOT GlvEN, AND SIGNED THIS DATE.

MR. FRANZEN: THANK YOU, YOUR HONCR'

YOUR HONOR, TO MAKE THE RECORD CLEAR'

THIS WAS ONE OF THE PROPOSED INSTRUCTIONS THAT YOUR HONOR

ALLOWED US TO SEI.ID MR. COOPER TO HAVE TYPED'
-r-- a

1551- g g?0?5ti 
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THE COURT: IIM AWARE OF THAT. THAT ISNIT WHAT

I WAs RAISING. I WAS RAISING THE FACT THAT YOU SAID THAT YOU

HAD A LIST AT YOUR OFFICE OF THESE WITH SUPPORTING CASE

AUTHORITY.

MR. FRANZEN: NO. NO. THAT t''lAS NOT VIHAT I

INTENDED TO SAY.

THE COURT: OKAY..-' ALL RIGHT.

. j._ IF YOU INTENDED TO SAY THAT YOU WERE JUST

coING.To co ovER AND GET.THEIR Ltsr rypED, THEN I coNcuR THATTS

WHAT YOU ASKED ME FOR AI{D THATIS WHAT I DID'

MR. FRANZEN: IF I -- I MISSPOKE I'IYSELF' IF

THAT t S WHAT YOUR HONOR --
THE COURT: THATIS WHAT

MR. FRANZEN: OKAY.

THE COURT: NOW, DO YOU

HAVE --
MR.FRANZEN:THATtsoURoBJEcTIoNToPRoPoSED

ouR pRoposED l'A", YOUR HONOR. I HAVE OTHER CBJECTIONS'

WISH ME TO.

THE COURT: ALL RIGHT.

THE STATEIS RESPONSE.

MR. HARMON: AS TO PROPOSED trAtr, YouR HoNOR?

THE COURT: AS TO PROPOSED IIAI' AND THE GIVING

OF INSTRUCTION TI'IELVE.

MR. HARMON: YOUR HONoR, PROPoSED rrArr IS'

CLEARLY A .JUDICIAL COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE. hlE THINK' SINCE

No AUTHoRITY wHATsoEVER HAs BEEN oFFERED, IT CERTAINLY !{OULD

BEUNFAIRFoRTHEcoURTI}.|EFFECTToBETELLINGTHISJURY,

FoREXAMPLE,ToHAVEsERvEDINTHEMILITARYMITIGATES'MURDER

INTHEFIRSTDEGREE.WHILEINTHEMILITARYSERVTCE,EVENBY

THEDEFENDAT.|TtSTESTIMoNY,wAsABouTlSYEARSAGo.ICAN|T

IMAGINETHATTHEREIsANYAUTHoRITYTHATI,JoULDSUGGESTASA

-t552- 8 pzg?du

YOU SAID.

WANT ANOTHER -- DO YOU

12 AND

IF YOU

257 7App. 381
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MATTER OF LAW THAT I4]TIGATES MURDER IN THE FIRST DEGREE. THE

SAME APPLIES TO ALL OF THESE.

NUMBER FIVE, THE DEFE}iDANT SAID HE WAS TWO

YEARS OLD. WELL, PERHAPS HIS I'IEMORY IS BETTER THAN MINE' BUT

I!M NOT COGNIZANT OF VERY MUCH THAT HAPPENED WHEN I WAS TWO'

AND CERTAINLY THERE IS NONE, THERE COULD BE NO AUTHORITY WHICH

WOULD€AY AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT TYPE OF SITUATION WOULD

MITIGATE A MURDER BY A 3I-YEAR-OLD MAN.

':- YOUR HONOR, IT|S ALL A MATTER OF

ARGUMENT. INSTRUCTION NUMBER TWELVE, bIHICH INCoRPORATES INTO IT

THE ONLY MITIGATING CIRCUT4STANCE sET FORTH IhI I{.R.5. 2OO 'O'5

||,HICH COULD POSSIBLY BE APPLICABLEi ANY OTHER MITIGATING CIR-

CUMSTANCE HAS BEEN READ TO THE JURY.

AFTER THAT, NCW THE DEFENSE MAY

ARGUE THAT EACH OF THESE FIVE CATEGORIES FALLS WITHIN THAT

CIRCUI'ISTANCE. SO WE'RE COVERED. AND TO DO OTHERWISE WOULD BE

UNFAIR TO THE STATE AI{D I THINK WOULD CONFUSE AND MISLEAD THE

JURY.

THE COURT: THE LAW I THINK IS RATHER CLEAR

WITH REGARDS TO THE ISSUE OF MITIGATING OFFENSES FROM A HIGHER

OFFENSE TO A LOWER OFFENSE. OUR STATUTES HAVE FOR YEARS SET

FORTH THE CERTAIN TYPES OF MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES' SUCH AS

rN THE. KILLI!.Ic OF A HUMAN AtlD THE KILLING IS wITHoUT INTENT IS

SECOND DEGREE RATHER THAN FIRST DEGREE. IT IS NOTED' HOWEVER'

THAT ACCIDENTAL KILLING OF ANOTHER HUMAN BEING, WHEN AN

ACCIDENT OCCURS, IS NOT MURDER; FOR THE LAW SAYS THAT THE ACT

CLEARLYIsINNoCENTRATHERTHANcRIMINALINNATURE.

THE REASON I MENTION THESE IS BECAUSE OF

THE FACT THAT THE FOCUS OF ANY MITIGATING STATUTE SHOULD BE'

AND I5, IN OUR PRESENT LAW, BASED UPON THE STATE OF MIND OR

THE CIRCUMSTANCES AT THE TIME OF THE COMMISSION OF THE

oFFENSE'NoTINsoMEoTHERFARANDDISTANTTIME,ASTHESE92

-t553- g Lga? 61 257 8App. 382
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EXPRESSIONS OF MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES WOULD DICTATE.

THE STATUTE 2OO.035 5AY5 THAT MURDER

IN THE FIRST DEGREE MAY BE MITIGATED BY ANY OF THE FOLLOWING

C I RCUMSTANCE 5,

SUFFICIENT TO

CR IME.

YOU.DO THAT.

THE CLERK:

THE COURT:

HISTORY OF PRIOR CRIMINAL

THE LINE.

THANK YOU.

THE DEFENDANT HAS NO SIGNIFICANT

ACTIVITIES, AND THEN IT GOES ON DOWN

THESE OFFENSES OR STATEMENTS THAT ARE

DEFINED HERE, THAT IF MURDER WAS COMMITTED WHILE THE DEFENDANT

b,AS UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF EXTRE}4E OR EMOTIONAL DISTURBANCE,

THERE IS NO EVIDENCE IN THIS RECORD, EXCEPT THE DEFENDANTIS

OWN STATEMENT, THAT HE HAs HAD MENTAL PROBLEMS IN THE PAST,

NOT EVEhI THE DEFENDANTTS STATEMENTS, T0 INDICATE THAT HE EVER

HAD -- WAS MENTALLY ILL OR EMOTIONALLY DISTURBED AT THE TIME

OF THE KILLING OF THE YICTII''I IN THIS CASE. THE REASON VERY

OBVIOUSLY HE DENIES IT.

FURTHER, THERE IS NO PSYCHIATRIC

TESTII.'IONY IN THIS RECORD WHICH TIES THE DEFENDANT TO THAT

EVENT'AND sTATEs THAT AT THE TIME OF THAT EVENT HE WAS EMOTION-

ALLY AND MENTALLY ILL OR DISTURBED' FOR IT IS OBVIOUS THAT HE

COULD HAVE BEEN MENTALLY ILL AT ANY OTHER TIME AND STILL NOT

BE A MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE IN THIS CASE. THATIS I,IHAT WE

HAVE HERE. IT SAYS THE DEFENDANT HAS A HISTORY OF MENTAL

ILLNESS OR THAT THE DEFENDANT HAS IN THE PAST BEEN IN MENTAL

AND PSYCHIATRIC WARDS OR THAT HE SERVED HONORABLY IN THE UNITED

STATES SERVICE OR THAT HE OBSERVED THE I'IURDER OF HIS MOTHER

AND SISTER. I DONIT THINK THE LAW HAS GONE YET TO THE POINT OF

EVEN TFIOUGH THE MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE IS T{OT

CONSTITUTE A DEFENSE OR REDUCE THE DEGREE OF THE

IF YOU WANT TO STEP OUTSIDE, h'HY DON| T

-1554- 8 2?07 6fr 2580App. 383
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SAYING THAT MERELY BECAUSE I FOUGHT FOR MY FLAG I AI"1 ENTITLED

TO HAVE MY FIRST DEGREE MURDER CONSIDERED SECOND OR MANSLAUGH-

TER, OR THE FACT THAT I WAS MENTALLY ILL AT THE AGE OF 16' THAT

AT THE AGE OF 
'0, 

I AM ENTITLED TO HAVE MY MURDER OF THE FIRST

DEGREE CONSIDERED MANSLAUGHTER.

THE ISSUE I THINK IN ANY OTHER MITI-

GATII.IG CIRCUMSTANCE MUST FOCUS, PARTICULARLY IN THESE AREAS

WHEN.}IE ARE TALKIhIG ABOUT A MENTAL STATE OF THIS DEFENDANT'

t|tusT fOCUS UPON THE TIME OF THE KILLING. THERE WAs NEVER A

DEFENSE OF INSANITY RAISED lN THIS CASE. THIS lS MERELY' IT

LOOKS TO ME LIKE, AN ATTEMPT TO RAISE AN INSANITY DEFENSE AT

THIS LATE DATE UNDER SOME KIND OF LIMITED LIABILITY THEORY OR

APPROACH. I FIND NONE STATED IN THE STATUTE EXCEPT TWO' AND

THAT IS CLEAR THAT THERE HAS TO BE SOME EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD.

AI,ID THERE ISNIT ANY EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD THAT AT THE TII'IE OF

THE KILLING OF THE VICTIM THE DEFENDANT WAS MENTALLY ILL OR

EMOTIONALLY DISTURBED.

FOR THOSE REASONS, CoUNSEL, THE COURT

DID NOT GIVE 11, BUT DID GIVE TNSTRUCTION TWELVE. I HAVE NO

IDEA WHAT THE LEGISLATURE MEANT OR MEANS BY, TIANY OTHER MITIGA-

TING CIRCUMSTANCETI AND I KNOW OF NO COURT' NOR DO I KNOW OF ANY

LEGISLATURE -- LEGTSLATOR, THAT HAS DEFINED WHAT THAT MEANS'

ITIS THERE AND ITIS FOR THAT REASON T THINK YOU ARE ENTITLED

AT LEAST TO ARGUE THAT THE TESTIMONY HE GAVE MAY FALL UNDER

THIS.CATEGORY. BUT FOR niE TO RULE, AS A MATTER OF FACT' THAT

IT IS A MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE IS BEYOND, I BELIEVE' MY CALL'

IT IS A MATTER FOR THE .JURY TO MAKE THAT CONSIDERATION AND THAT

DECISION. AND FOR THOSE REASONS, COUNSEL, I REFUSED TO GtVE

THE INSTRUCTION. AND MAYBE SOME SUPREME COURT DOWN THE LINE

MAY DEFINE THAT FOR US, BUT A5 OF THE MOMENT' THAT'S THE LAW'

COUNSEL ?

MR. FRANZEN: OUR NEXT OBJECTION, YoUR H0N0R,

/trAe

-1555- I 220763 tralApp. 384
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INSTRUCTION FtFTEEN, THE SECOND PARAGRAPH, WHICH DIRECTS THE

SENTENCING AUTHORITY, IN THIS CASE Tt'lE TJURY, T0 HAVE N0

SYI.IPATHY IT.i THE SEhITENCING PROCESS. WE BELIEVE THAT THE

SENTENCING PROCESS ALWAYS HAS ROOM FOR 5YI'IPATHY AND MERCY. AND

INDEED WHEN YOUR HONOR IS ENGAGED IN THE SENTENCING PROCESS

HIMSELF, I tM SURE HE HEARS MANY SUCH PLEAS. WE BELIEVE THAT

THE \'URY SHOULD NOT BE PRECLUDED fROM EXPRESSING MERCY OR

SYMPATHY FOR THE DEFENDANT.

.!

THE COURT:

MR. HARMON:

THE STATE.

IS ASKING THE JURY TO IGNORE

WHICH IS TO DECIDE THIS CASE

THE COURT GIVES THEM.

WE ARE IN

STILL DONIT THINK THE VERDICT

PRE.JUDICE OR PUBLIC OPINION.

AND THE EVIDENCE.

YOUR HONOR, I THItIK THAT COUNSEL

THE OATH THEY'VE ALREADY TAKEN,

ON THE FACTS AND THE LAW VJHICH

THE PENALTY PHASE

SHOULD BE BASED ON

IT SHOULD BE BASED

NOW, BUT WE

SYMPATHY,

ON THE LAW

THE COURT: YOU TREEGED MY INTELLECTUAL CURIOS-

ITY, COUNSEL.

MR.

THE

HERITAGE DICTIONARY

THY IS. ONE OF ITS

A FEELING OR EXPRESSION

OF PITY OR SORROW FOR THE

DISTRESS OF ANOTHER.

I DONTT THINK THATTS THE FUNCTION OF

THE LIUR,Y. AND I THINK THE LAW HAS BEEN VERY CLEARLY STATED

OVER THE YEARS THAT WHILE WE KNOW THAT EVERYONE MUST USE THEIR

COMMON SENSE IN ARRIVING AT A VERDICT, I DONIT THINK WEILL EVER

TAKE THE HUMAN EMOTION OR THE HUMAN ASPECT OUT OF IT' AND

PROBABLY MORE VERDICTS ARE DECIDED BY SYMPATHY THAN THE OTHER'

FRANZEN: THANK YOU.

COURT: SO I HAVE LOOKED

OF THE ENGLISH LANGUAGE

DEFINITIONS SAYS:

THE AMERICAN

SEE WHAT SYMPA-

AT

TO

_1556_ I p20764
15b IApp. 385
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BUT THE FACT REMAINS THAT THE LAW IS CLEAR THAT AS A MATTER OF

LAW, WE ASK JURORS TO sET ASIDE THEIR PERSONAL FEELINGS AND

DECIDE THE CA5E UPON THE LAW AND THE FACTS AS PRESENTED TO.

THEM AND HOPEFULLY APPROACHING IT VERY OBTJECTIVELY' WHETHER

THEY DO OR NOT I5 ENTIRELY TI'IEIR OWN DECISION- HOWEVER' YOUR

OB.JECTION IS NOTED AND RECORDED'

ANYTHING FURTHER?

MR. FRANZEN: YES, YOUR HONOR. WE ALSO OB'JECT'

BECAUSE OF TfiE FORM OF INSTRUCTION 12 AND THE OBJECTION OF OUR

pRoposED INSTRUCTION ilArt, THE FORM OF THE VERDICTS IN WHICH THE

CHECKLIST OF CIRCUMSTANCES GIVEN TO THE JURY REGARDING MITIGA'

TING CIRCUMSTAI{CES DOES NOT INCLUDE THOSE THAT WE THINK SHOULD

HAVE BEEN LISTED IN PROPOSED IIAII.

THE COURT: THE STATE?

MR. HARMON: YOUR HONOR, OUR OB'JECTI0N IS

ALREADY A MATTER OF RECORD AS IT PERTAINS TO PROPOSED trArr' AND

I{E WOULD LIKE TO INCORPORATE THE SAME ARGUMENT AGAIN'

THE COURT: ALL RIGHT.

ANYTHING FURTHER, GENTLEMEN?

MR. HARMON: NOT FROM THE STATE, YOUR HONOR'

THE COURT: FILE THIS IN THE FILE, PLEASE'

MR. FRANZEN: YOUR HONOR, DOES THE SPECIAL

VERDICT LISTING THE AGGRAVATTNG CIRCUMSTANCES, DOES THAT

INCLUDE ALL OF THOSE THAT ARE IN THE STATUTE?

THE COURT: NO.

MR. FRANZEN: JUST THE TWO THAT THE STATE --

THE COURT: JUST THE TWO. THE VERDICTS MERELY

CONTAIN TI.IF.T MURDER WAS COMMTTTED BY THE DEFENDANT WHEN HE WAS

PREVTOUSLY CONVICTED OF A FELONY AND THE MURDER WAS COI\4MITTED

WHEN THE DEFENDANT WAS ENGAGED II{ THE COMMISSION OF A ROBBERY'

ANYTHING FURTHER, GENTLEMEN?

MR. FRANZEII: YES, YOUR HONOR. THERE

-1557- I 2go76S
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MAY I APPROACH THE BENCI'|, YOUR HONoR?

MAY THE RECORD REFLECT I HAVE PROVIDED

COUNSEL FOR THE STATE WITH A COPY.

THIS PROPOSED INSTRUCTION, YOUR HONOR,

SHOULD;END AT !'BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBTII PERIOD' AND SHOULD

READ. TTIAT IIMITtrGATING CIRCUMSTANCES DO NOT HAVE TO BE PROVEN

BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBTN AND THE LANGUAGE TI'IAT FOLLOWS IT

SHOULD BE STRICKEN, TO-WIT: rrBUT ARE CIRCUI'ISTANCES RELATII'JG TO

HIS CHARACTER.II

THE COURT: COUNSEL, I THINK WE CAN ERASE ALL OF

THAT.

MR. FRANZEN: THANK YOU.

MR. HARMON: THIS IS PROPOSED

THE COURT: YES.

, YOUR HoNOR?

MORE PROPOSED INSTRUCTION. I APOLoGIZE, THE

SHOULD PROBABLY BE STRICKEhI. WHEN I4R. COOPER

WAS GOING FROM SOME SCRATCH NOTES THAT I HAD

LAST POR.TICN CF IT

TOOK IT OVER HE

DONE.

THE GIVING OF THE

THE JURY HAs ALREADY

INSTRUCTION SEVEN EXPLAIhIS

OF ESTABLISHING ANY MITIGATING

DOUBT. IN CONNECTION WITH

SPELLED OUT THAT BEFORE, AND

MR. HARMON: WE OBJECT TO

INSTRUCTION, YOUR HONOR. WE THINK THAT

BEEN PROPERLY INSTRUCTED.

YOUR HONOR,

THAT THE PROSECUTION HAS A BURDEN

CIRCUMSTANCE BEYOND A REASONABLE

THAT,:' INSTRUCTION SIX HAS CLEARLY

T READ NOW, BEGINNING AT LINE 15:

THE JURY MAY IMPOSE A

SENTENCE OF DEATH ONLY IF IT

FINDS AT LEAST ONE AGGRAVATING

CIRCUMSTANCE HAS BEEN ESTABLISHED

BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT AND

FURTHER FINDS THAT TI'IERE ARE NO

MITIGATING CIRCUI'ISTANCES SUFFI -

-1558- 8 290766 25E4App. 387
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CIEI.JT TO OUTWEIGH THE

AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE OR

CIRCUMSTANCES FOUND.

t,.,E THINK THATTS SUFFICIENT, YOUR

HONOR. ITIS APPARENT TI'IERE IS NO BURDEN UPON THE DEFENSE, BUT

IF THE JURY IS SATISFIED THAT THER.E IS ONE AGGRAVATING CIRCUM-

STANCE PROVEN BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THEN ITIS A MATTER OF

BALANCING THE WEIGHT BETWEEN THAT CIRCUMSTANCE AND ANY MITIGA-

TING rC IRCUMSTANCE.

THE COURT: WHERE WAS THAT TAKEN FROM, COUNSEL?

WHATIS THE STATUTORY CITE ON IT?

MR. HARMON: INSTRUCTION NUMBER SIX, YOUR HONOR,

IS TAKEN FRoM 175.554, SUB-HEADINGS 2 AND r.
THE COURT: MAY I sEE THAT, PLEASE.

MR. HARMON: YES, YOUR HONOR.

THE COURT: CoUNSEL, IT APPEARS THAT THIS

ISSUE, AS RESOLVED BY THE NEVADA REVISED STATUTE AT 175.554,

suB-sEcrIoN t, wHIcH sAYS:

WHEN A JURY OR A PANEL OF

TJUDGES IMPOSES .THE SENTENCE. 0F

DEATH, THE COURT sHALL. ENTER ITS

.FINDINGS ON.THE RECCRD AND THE

JURY" SHALL RENDER WRITTEN VERDICTS

SIGNED BY THE'FOREMAN. THE FINDINGs

OR VERDICT SHALL DESIGNATE THE AGGRA-

VATING CIRCUMSTANCE OR CIRCUMSTANCES

WHICH ARE FOUND BEYOI.ID A REASONABLE

DOUBT AND SHALL STATE THAT THERE

ARE NO MITIGATING CIRCUI.4STANCES

SUFFICIENT TO OUTWEIGH THE AGGRAVA-

TING CIRCUMSTANCE OR CIRCUMSTANCES

FOUND.

-1559- 8 22A7 6?25 B 5
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IT IS OBVIOUS THAT THE STATE LEGIS-

LATURE HAS DETERMINED THE STANDARD OF PROOF AND THE WEIGHT OF

PRCOF AND GIVING THIS WOULD BE CONTRARY TO THAT SECTION. IT

IS MARKED rtBrr, NOT GIVEN.

MR. FRANZEN: YOUR HONOR, DOES THAT -- I DONtr

HAVE A. COPY OF THAT STATUTE WITH ME. DOES THAT MEAN THAT THE

DEFENDANT HAS THE BURDEN OF PROOF REGARDING MITIGATING CIRCUM-

srl:cEis? 
rHE couRT: *ELL, I DoNtr KNow *HAT 

'NTER'RETA-
TION YOU GIVE IT, BUT THATIS THE LANGUAGE OF THE STATUTE:

THE FINDING OR VERDICT

SHALL DESIGNATE THE AGGRAVATING

CIRCUMSTANCE OR CIRCUMSTANCES

WHICH WERE FOUND BEYOND A REASON-

ABLE DOUBT, AND SHALL STATE THAT

THERE ARE NO MITIGATING CIRCUM-

STANCES SUFFICIENT TO OUTWEIGH

THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE OR

CIRCUMSTANCES FOUND.

THAT ' S THE LANGUAGE OF THE STATUTE.

MR. FRANZEI.I: FOR THE RECoRD THEN' YOUR HONOR,

I THINK I SHOULD I.IAKE THE OB\'ECTION THAT ON RELIANCE ON.XFJIS

STATUTE I Tl.lINK WOULD BE MISPLACED, BUT THAT STATUTE, IF

APPLIED, IS A BURDEN OF PROOF FOR THE DEFENDANT, THE OUTWEIGH-

ING OF.BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT OR AT LEAST EQUAL AND BEYOND

A REASONABLE DOUBT OF MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES AND IT T'IOULD

PLACE A BURDEN UPON THE DEFENDANT.

THE COURT: }.IELL, THATIS,1 NICE LEGAL POINT YOU

cAN RAISE LATER, COUNSEL.

FURTHER, IN 175.554' lT SAYS THAT:

A PANEL OF JUDGES SHALL DETERMINE,

Al'lD THEN lT GOES ON, THE JURY 0R THE

-1560- 8 22A7 68 2586App. 389
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PANEL OF JUDGES MAY IMPOSE A

SENTENCE OF DEATH ONLY IF IT

FINDS AT LEAST ONE AGGRAVATING

CIRCUMSTANCE AND FURTHER FINDS

THAT THERE ARE NO AGGRAVATING

CIRCUI"TSTANCES SUFFICIENT TO

OUTWEIGH THE AGGRAVATING CIR-

CUMSTANCE OR CIRCUMSTANCES

FOUND.

SO ITIS A REPETITION OF THE SAME

STANDARD.

MISS CLERK, I HAND YOU INSTRUCTION IIBIIT

IT MAY BE PLACED IN THE FILE, l'lOT GIVEN.

NOW, IS THERE ANYTHING ELSE, GENTLEMEN?

MR. HARMOII: NOT BY THE STATE, YOUR HONoR.

THE COURT: WELL, I HATE TO ASK YoU, ARE YOU

RAISING ANOTHER ONE?

MR. FRANZEN: NO. I GUESS NoT, YOUR HONOR.

THE COURT: THANK YOU, COUNSEL. WEILL BE It'{

RECESS.

(WHEREUPON, AT THE HOUR OF

4i27 P.M. THE EVENING RECESS

WAS HAD IN THE PROCEEDINGS.)

,

-156r- B 2207 6'J Z5aTApp. 390
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LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, WEDNESDAY, MAY 4, 1983, AT 10:10 A'M'

l! :t tt ;3 :3 :l :{ ti

+.i l
OUTSTDE THE

(WHEREUPoN, THE FoLLowING

PROCEEDINGS WERE HAD OUTSIDE

THE PRESENCE OF THE JURY:)

THE COURT: LET THE RECORD REFLECT THIS IS

PRESENCE OF THE JURY.

'':- You MAY PRoCEED'

.:i:MR.FRANZEN:YOURHONOR,THEREISTWOMATTERS'
FIRST, ALTHOUGH THE DEFENDANT HAS

INSTRUCTED US t'lOT TO PRESENT THIS EVIDENCE, AND YOU HAVE

INSTRUCTEDUsToFoLLoWHISINSTRUCTIoNS'h'EHAVE--

THE COURT: I HAVENTT INSTRUCTED YOU ANY SUCH

THII{G. I JUST ADVISED YOU. I .IUST ADVISED YOU TO FOLLOW THE

CANNONS OF ETHICS, AND THE CANNONS OF ETHICS TELL YOU WHAT YOUR

POSITION IS.

YOU MAY PROCEED.

MR.FRANZEN:WEAREINPOSSESSIONOFCERTIFIED

COPTES OF .JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION OF THE DEFENDANT!S FATHER'

REFLECTING THE 1952 MURDER OF TWO INDIVIDUALS AND AN ATTEMPT

MURDERoNANoTHERINDIVIDUAL.wETHINKTHATTHAT,ToGETHER

WITH THE TESTIMoNY oF t.lR. I4IKE KIDD, oUR INVESTIGAToR tilHo

SPOKF WITH THE ALABAMA PRISON AUTHORITIES' WHO DESCRIBED THAT

THE DEFENDANT -- THAT ONE SAM HOWARD IS IhI THEIR CUSTODY AT

THE MOMENT ON A 1975 MURDER. AND THEY HAVE IN THEIR POSSESSION

A DoCUMENT DESCRIBING THE 1952 MURDER, IN wHIcH tT Is STATED

THAT MR. HOI..IARD, THE PRESENT DEFENDANTIS FATHER' MURDERED HIS

WIFE, HIS DAUGHTER AND ATTEMPTED TO MURDER A THIRD INDIVIDUAL'

WE THINK THAT THAT SHOULD BE INTRODUCED BEFORE THE JURY' I

h|ouLD REQUEST PERMISSION TO REOPEN FOR THAT LIMITED PURPOSE'

IF YOUR HONOR IS NOT INCLINED TO ALLOW

THAT,wEwoULDREQUESTPERMIssIoNToFILETHATWITHTHEcoURT

t562_ g 22A7 7 
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HE

THIS TIME AND ALLOW MR. KIDD TO DESCRIBE THE CONVERSATION

HAD WITH THE ALABAMA PRISON AUTHORITIES.

THE COURT: COUNSEL, YESTERDAY ALL DAY t'JE HAD

YOU OBJECTING VOCIFEROUSLY ABOUT ANY HEARSAY AT ALL AND NOW

YOU WANT YOUR MAII TO COME IN AI{D TESTIFY. ITIS ALL RIGHT FOR

YOUR HEARSAY BUT NOT FOR THE STATE'S HEARSAY.

2oo.g33

MR. FRANZEN: IF THE COURT WILL RECALL, N.R'S'

(SIC) STATES; IN ITS CONCLUDING PARAGRAPH, THAT:

... ANY EVIDENCE DEEMED MITI-

GATING AND AGGRAVATING OR

ANY OTHER EVIDENCE MAY COME IN.

WE THINK TI.IIS IS RELIABLE.

THE COURT: WHAT HAS CHANGED BETWEEN THE STATEIS

HEARSAY AND YOUR HEARSAY? YOU OB.JECTED VOCIFEROUSLY WHEN THE

STATE WAS GOING TO BRING IN EVIDENCE ABOUT THE SAN BERNARDI}'IO

DETECTIVE WITH A CONVERSATION WITH ONE OF THE VICTIMS.

MR. FRANZEN: THAT IS THE DIFFERENCE, YOUR HONOR

THE COURT: NOW YOUIRE NOT OBJECTING TO ALLOW

YOUR MAN TO COME INTO NEVADA AS TO HEARSAY WITH SOMEOI{E BACK

IN THE STATE, WHATEVER IT IS.

MR. FRANZEN: WELL, THAT --
THE COURT: t FAIL TO SEE ANY DIFFERENCE,

couNSEL, IN THE QUALTTY OF TESTIMONY.

. .. MR. FRANZEN: MAY WE ALLOW MR. KIDD TO TESTIFY,

YOUR IIONOR, TO PROFFER PROOF?
'' '1' 

THE COURT: WELL, IF ITIS GOING TO BE HEARSAY,

couNsEL, I DIDNTT ALLOW THE STATE T0 DO IT. YoU CAN MAKE A

REPRESENTATIOT.I AS TO WHAT HE WOULD SAY. THAT'S APPROPRIATE'

MR. FRAhIZEN: WELL, I THINK I HAVE THAT, YOUR

HONOR.

THE COURT: ALL RIGHT.

THEN BY t'lAY OF AN OFFER OF PROOF; IS THAT

8 22A77 "A
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RIGHT?

MR, FRANZEN: YOUR HONOR, MAY WE FILE THE

CERTIFIED COPIES OF .JUDGMENTS OF COI.TVICTION AS TO THE

DEFENDANTIS INVOLVMENT --
THE COURT: ANY OB.JECTION?

MR. HARMON: YOUR HONOR, FOR WHAT PURPOSE ARE

THEY'BEING FILED, .JUST FoR THE RECORD?

THE COURT: .WELL, t{E WILL FILE IT JUST 50 WE CAN

DISCUSS IT.

MR. HARMON: WELL, THATTS FINE.

MR. FRANZEN: MAY THE RECORD REFLECT' YoUR

HONOR, ItM PROVIDING COUNSEL FOR THE STATE WITH A COPY.

MR. HARMON: THANK YOU.

MR. FRANZEN: WE DID REQUEST THAT THE PRISON

OR OUR INVESTIGATOR RATHER REQUESTED THAT THE PRISON SEND TO

US THE DOCUMENTS REFLECTING INFORMATION I HAVE 'JUST RELATED'

THE PRISON INITIALLY AGREED AND WE WERE EXPECTING TO I-IAVE IT

AS CERTIFIED DOCUMENTS, HOWEVER, SUBSEQUENTLY THEY NOTIFIED

MR. KIDD, I.1Y INVESTIGATOR, THAT THEY WOULD NOT SEND IT TO US

BECAUSE WE WERE NOT A CRIMINAL JUSTICE AGENCY.

THECOURT:ISTHISTHEFIRSTTIMEYOUHAVEI'IAD

AN OPPORTUNITY TO VIEW IT?

MR. HARMON:

IT THOUGH. NOW WE HAVENIT

THE COURT:

MR. TIARMON:

SUBMITTED YESTERDAY? THEY

WHETHER WE WOULD OFFER ANY

NOT. WE CAME TO COURT THIS

MATTER TO THE JURY, NOT TO

THE COURT:

COUNSEL. THATIS TRUE.

YES, IT IS, YOUR HONOR. WE VIEWED

SEE THE ORIGINAL.

couNsEL, THE STATE?

youR HoNOR, t{Ast'.lrT THIS MATTER

PUT ON THEIR CASE AND WE CONSIDERED

REBUTTAL AND T.JE CONCLUDED WE WOULD

MORNING PREPARED TO ARGUE THE

CONSIDER --
THE MATTER HAS BEEI'I SUBMITTED,

-1564- 8 Bg0,t7#5e1
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MR. HARMON: I'IOW, IN REGARDS TO EVIDENCE CON-

CERNING THE CONVICTION IN 1952, YESTERDAY DURING THE SETTLEMENT

OF INSTRUCTIONS THE DEFENSE },'AS ASKING THAT THE COURT INSTRUCT

THE JURY AS TO PARTICULAR ALLEGED MITIGATING CIRCUI'ISTANCE5,

SAYII.IG THAT THEY WERE PROVEN, THEY WERE UNREBUTTED. WELL' THE

FACT IS I.IR. HOWARD HAS ALREADY TESTIFIED TO THESE CIRCUMSTANCES

HE SAID }JHEN HE WAS TWO YEARS OLD HIS FATHER MURDERED HIS

SISTER AND HIS MOTHER AND HE UAS AN EYE-}''ITNESS. THAT IS NOT

REBUTTAL. ITIS A MATTER OF RECORD. ITIS ALREADY BEFORE THE

JURY FOR WHATEVER WEIGHT IT HAS.

NOW, COUNSEL HAS INCORRECTLY CITED THE

PERTINENT STATUTE. ITIS NOT 200.033. ITtS N.R.S' 175'552'

THAT SECTION DOES SAY:

THE COURT MAY ADMIT ANY

EVIDENCE WHICH IS DEEMED

RELEVANT TO SENTEI{CE, WHETHER

OR NOT THE EVIDENCE IS

ORDINARILY ADMT SSIBLE.

NOW, WE ARE NOT OB,JECTING TO THE

ADMISSIBILlTY OF THESE DOCUMEI'ITS BECAUSE THEY'RE HEARSAY' NOR

DO WE OBJECT TO THE TESTIMONY OF MIKE KITT BECAUSE ITIS HEAR-

sAY. WE STILL MAINTAIN THAT AT THIS TYPE OF HEARING HEARSAY

IS ADMISSIBLE. WE ARE SAYING, YOUR HONOR, ITtS NOT t952.

ITIS NOT RELEVANT TO T|'IE SENTENCE tN THIS CASE. tTtS NOT

RELEVANT THAT A TWO-YEAR-OLD IS EXPOSED TO THIS SORT OF THING'

BECAUSE I THINK tt|E cAN RELY ON OUR COMMON SENSE' WHtcH SAYS

THIS TYPE OF THING IS HIGHLY UNLIKELY TO MAKE ANY TYPE OF

IMPRESSION ON SOMEONE OF YEARS THAT TENDER' IF WE WERE TALKING

ABOUT FOUR OR FIVE OR. NINE OR TEN OR ELEVEN, THATTS DIFFERENT;

BUT NOT A TWO-YEAR-OLD.

SO IT WOULD BE UNFAIR AT THIS POINT

ToREoPENTHEcAsEToPUTUNDUEEMPHASISoN]SoMETHINGTHAT8 2?0VT 4^- n -\.'^v /
-1565- LJ/LApp. 395
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HAPPENED IN 1952. ITIS TOO REMOTE. IT'S NOT RELEVANT AND THE

COURT SHOULD DENY ANY MOTION TO REOPEN.

THE COURT: ANYTHING FURTHER T0 C0f'1E BEFORE THE

COURT?

MR. FRANZEN: ON THIS ISSUE, SUBMITTED' YOUR

HCNOR.

THE COURT: YOUR OFFER IS DENIED. IT MAY BE

FILED.

AND THE REASONS THAT COUNSEL HAS STATED

I THINK ARE VERY CLEAR. THE EVIDENCE FROM YESTERDAY AND THE

EVIDENCE As IT NOW STANDS, MR. HOWARDTS ASSERTIoNS To THE FACT

THAT HIS PARENTS OR HIS MOTHER WAS KILLED AND HIS SISTER WAS

KILLED IS IN THE RECORD AND UNCONTROVERTED. AS I MENTIONED TO

couNsEL, YOU CAN ARGUE IT.

HOWEVER, THE REAL QUESTION THAT I

STATEDToYoUYESTERDAYoNTHESETTLEMENToFINSTRUCTIoNSwAS:

WHAT'S THE CONNECTION? AND THERE HAS BEEN NONE' THERE IS NO

MEDICAL CONNECTION OR PSYCHIATRIC CONNECTION AND IT DOES NOT

APPEAR THAT THIS WOULD IN ANYWAY BE RELEVANT OR ANYWAY ASSIST

THEJURYINTHISI'IATTER.soYoURoFFERISDENIED.

MR. FRANZEN: YOUR HONOR, WILL THE STATE BE

PRECLUDED,HoWEVER,FRoMARGUINGTHATTHATDIDNoTHAPPEN?

MR. HARMON: WEIRE NOT GOING TO ARGUE THAT IT

D I DN I T I'IAPPEN, YOUR HONOR.

THE COURT: I THINK THAT THE EVIDENCE CLEARLY

SHOWS THAT THEREIS ONLY ONE VERSION OF WHAT HAPPENED'

MR. FRANZEN: THANK YOU, YOUR HONOR'

THE COURT: THERE WAS NOTHING TO BE CONTRO-

VERTED --

MR. FRANZEN: ONE OTHER --

THE COURT: (CONTINUING) -- UNLESS THEYIRE

GOING TO DISREGARD THE TESTIMONY ENTIRELY' AND THE .JURY CAN DO

I 2?07?5 ?se3
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THAT IF THEY WANTED TO.

MR. FRANZEN: VERY WELL, YOUR HONOR.

ONE OTHER MATTER THAT CAME TO MY ATTENTION

WHEN I GOT BACK TO THE OFFICE AT THE CONCLUSION OF YESTERDAY

EVENINGIS TRIAL PROCEEDINGS, THERE WAS AN ARTICLE IN THE MAY

5RD, tg}t, LAS VEGAS REVIEW TJOURNAL REGARDING THE JUROR WHOM

h'E tlAD THE HEARING WITH, JUROR MARTLYN CAPASSo, IN WHICH THE

ARTICLE STATES'THAT MYSELF AND MR. COOPER ATTEMPTED TO DIS-

QUALIFY HER AND REMOVE HER FROM Tl'lE.JURY. WE WOULD LIKE THE

PANEL II.IQUIRED OF IT, WITHOUT SINGLING OUT MS. CAPASSO, IF

THEY FIAVE READ ANY ARTICLES OR HEARD ANY PUBLICITY REGARDING

THIS. WE DO NOT hIISH TO ALIENATE MS. CAPASSO IN THE LIGHT OF

THE NEXT .JUROR. SHE 15 NOT THAT .-

THE COURT: WELL, EVERY INDICATION IT SEEI'IS IS

DEEMING YOUR WAY, SIR.

MR. FRANZEN: THAT WAS PRICR TO THE ARTICLE IN

THE NEWSPAPER.

HONOR?

OR NOT

YOU MAY

THE

MR.

MR.

I IIAVE THE

THE

THERE IS ANY

FILE IT.

COURT: ALL RIGHT.

DOES THE STATE HAVE ANY

HARMON: NO, YOUR HONOR.

FRANZEN: MAY WE FILE THE

ORIGINAL OR XEROX.

COURT: WELL, WE VJILL WAIT

RESPONSE TO IT, COUNSEL.

OB.JE CT I ON ?

ARTICLE, YOUR

AND SEE WHETHER

I F TTIERE I S, THEN

CALL

THE COURT:

THE JURY?

MR. HARMON:

THE JURY.

(WHEREUPON, THE .JURY ENTERED

THE COURTROOM AND THE FOLLOW-

ING PROCEEDINGS WERE HAD:)

WILL COUNSEL STIPULATE TO THE

THE STATE

-t567 -

DOES, YOUR HONOR.
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MR. COOPER: YES,

THE COURT: LADIES

AS YOU KNOW, EACH DAY I ADMONISH

ABOUT VIEWING TELEVISION, RADIO,

LAST SEVERAL DAYS THERE HAVE BEEN

NEWSPAPERS. HAVE ANY OF YOU READ

THE COURT: HAVE

THE

GENTLEMEN.

MR.

MR.

THE

YOUR HONOR.

AND GENTLEMEN OF THE iJURY,

YOU ACCORDING TO THE STATUTE

AND THAT SORT OF THING. THE

ARTICLES, I BELIEVE, IN THE

OR SEEN OF THOSE ARTICLES?

(}JHEREUPON, NEGATM RESPONSE

FROM JURY.)

ANY OF YOU READ THOSE ARTICLES?

(WHEREUPON, NEGATIVE RESPONSE

FROM ,JURY. )

couRT: I BELTEVE THAT ANSWERS THE INqUIRY,

HARMOhI: YEs, YOUR HONOR.

FRANZEN: YES, YoUR HONOR.

COURT: YOU MAY PROCEED.

(CLOSING ARGUMENT)

BY l'lR. HARMON:

JUDGE MENDOZA, COUNSEL, LADIES AND

GENTLEMEN OF THE JURY:

I THINK THAT I FEEL SOMEWHAT THE SAME

WAY THIS MORNING AS THE PHILbSOPHER GOETHE APPARENTLY FELT

WHEN HE EXPRESSED HIMSELF IN THIS MANNER:

I CAN PROMISE YOU TO BE

SINCERE BUT NOT IMPARTIAL.

I AM PROUD TO BE A PROSECUTING

ATTORNEY. I HAVE VERY DEEP-SEATED FEELINGS ABOUT THIS CASE'

THE POSITION THAT WE WILL TAKE IN

REGARDSToTHESENTENCEoFSAMUELHowARDISNoTAPoSITIoN

REACHEDSIMPLYoNANIMPULSE.ITHAscoMEASARESULToF

-1568- 8 220'77Y595
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REF.LECTION, A CONSIDERATION OF THE EVIDENCE IN THIS CASE, OF

HIS BACKGROUND, AND THE LAW WHICH THE COURT HAS GIVEN TO YOU.

I CONFESS THAT I I-IAVE A PREIJUDICE' I

LOATHE MURDER AND I DESPISE THOSE WHO MURDER. I BELIEVE IN

THE RULE OF LAW, AND I BELTEVE THAT THOSE WHO COMMIT CRIMES'

PARTICULARLY CRIMES OF ROBBERY AND MURDER, DESERVE TO BE

PUNISHED. AND I BELTEVE THEIR PUNISHMENT SI'IOULD FIT THEIR

CRIME. AND IT IS TI.IE POSITION OF THE STATE OF NEVADA THAT THE

MAN WHO KILLED GEORGE MONAHAN, SAMUEL HOWARD, HAS FORFEITED

HIS PRIVILEGE TO CONTINUE TO LIVE.

EVEN IF GIVEN A LIFE SENTENCE, EVEN

IF PERMITTED TO

INCARCERAT I ON,

WITH MORTALITY.

AT LEAST.

LIVE, CERTAINLY IN THE RESTRICTIVE EXISTENCE OF

MR. HOWARD WOULD HAVE MANY BLESSINGS ASSOCIATED

HE. COULD'.EAT AND .SLEEP .AND READ, .IN MORTALITY

GEORGE MONAHAN ISN'T EVER GOING TO

READ ANOTHER BOOK. HE'S NOT GOING TO ENLIOY THE BLESSINGS EVEN

OF CONSIDERING WHAT HIs SENSES PROVIDE FOR HIM. AND EVERY

II'ISTINCT I FEEL AS A CITIZEN AND AS A PROSECUTOR TELLS ME THAT

THE FATE OF HIS KILLER SHOULD NOT BE BETTER THAN HIM' IT IS

SAM HOWARD WHO BRUTALLY TOOK FROM GECRGE MONAHAN THE PRIVILEGE

TO ENJOY LIFE.

MR. HOWARD, FOR THE MOST PART IN THIS

couRTRooM, HAs BEEN A MODEL OF DECORUM. HE STANDS WHEN THE

JUDGE COMES INTO COURT. HE SHOWS RESPECT. HE TOOK THE

WITNESS STAND AND EXHIBITED CERTAINLY SOME FEELING FOR HIS

FAMILY. HOW DIFFERENT HIS MANNER MUST HAVE BEEN ON MARCH THE

27rH'IgS0,WHENHEcoNFRoNTEDGEoRGEMoNAHANWITHAGUN.

NOW, WFIEN WE GET CAUGHT UP IN THE

TESTIMONY OF VARIOUS WITNESSES AND WHEN ITtS ONE-TO-ONE WITH

THE DEFENDAhIT, soMETIMES THERETS A TEI'IPTATION T0 tsE SYMPATHETIC

SOMETIMES THERETS A TEMPTATION TO FORGET THAT THE PERSON ON

-156e- I Z28VV 8' ?59 6
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TRIAL HAS COMMITTED A MURDER. IN THIS COURTROOM THERE IS SOME-

ONE WHO HAS KILLED ANOTHER HUMAN BEII.IG.

NOW THAT THOUGHT IN AND OF ITSELF IS

PRETTY AWESOME TO ME. ITIS ALMOST TOO GREAT TO EVEN CONTEM'

PLATE. IT'S HARD FOR ME TO FIGURE OUT THE MENTALITY OF SOMEONE

WITHOUT PROVOCATION. NOW IF WEIRE TALKING ABOUT PROVOCATION

OR SELF:DEFENSE OR SOMEONE WHO HAs GONE TO VIET NAM WHO KILLED,

I CAN BEGIN TO UNDERSTAND THAT. WHAT IS THE MENTALITY OF

soMEoNE WHO WILL TAKE A GUN, LIKE STATETS EXHIBIT 31-8, AND

OPEN IT AND PUT BULLETS INSIDE AND THEN POINT THAT GUN AT THE

BACK OF SOMEBODYTS HEAD AND PULL THE TRIGGER?

WELL, ITIS A PERSON OF THAT MENTALITY

WHO IS PRESENT IN THIS COURTROOM. A}'ID THE EVIDENCE IN THIS

CASE HAS EXHIBITED HOW RAPIDLY HIS MOOD SWINGS CAN CHANGE. HE

CAht BE POLITE AND A GENTLEI'IAN AT ONE MOMENT AND THEN IN THE

NEXT MOI.IENT HEtS A MAN WHO IS SHOUTING PROFANITIES, WHO IS

VIOLENT AND BOISTEROUS AND LOUD. AND THAT'S BEEN ILLUSTRATED

BY THE TESTIMONY OF KEITH KINSEY, THE SECURITY GUARD FROM

SEARS, AND MIKE CONNELY, THE MAN WHO PLACED MR. HOWARD UNDER

ARREST IN DOWNEY, CALIFORNIA, APRTL THE 15T, 1980'

BEFORE MR. KINSEY TRIED TO PUT THE

cuFFs oN HIM, THERE WAS NO GUN PRODUCED. BUT SOMETHING TRIG-

GERS A MECHANISM IN THIS'MAN THAT BRTNGS ABOUT AN ANIMAL

INSTINCT AND TI.IEN HEIS DANGEROUS.

OFFICER CONNELY SAID THE FELLOW

b,ASNIT DOING THAT MUCH UNTIL HE TRIED TO CUFF HIM AND THEN HE

WAS BOISTEROUS AND LOUD AND VIOLENT.

MR. HOWARD TOOK THE WITNESS STAND

YESTERDAY AND ALTHOUGH HE DENIES THAT HE IS MENTALLY ILL' AND

HE TOLD YOU THAT HE KNEW WHAT HE WAS DOING IN MARCH 1980' IN

FACT,HESAIDHEALwAYsKNowSWHATHEISDoING,ANDTHAT

INCLUDED WHAT HE WAS DOING ON THE WITNESS STAND YESTERDAY'

-1570- g 2207797597
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HE DID TELL YOU THAT HE HAD BEEN IN

AND OUT OF A NUMBER OF MENTAL FACILITIES, AND HE LISTED

CREEDMORE HOSPITAL IN NEW YORK, BELLEVIEI.I, AND THE V.A.

HOSPITAL IN NEW YORK. HE SAID HEtD BEEN IN ATASCADERO, PATTEN

STATE HOSPITAL, IN THE STATE OF CALIFORI.IIA. HE SAID HE rD BEEN

IN WARD B IN SAN BERNARDINO AND VACAVILLE IN THE STATE OF

CALIFORNIA. IN FACT, INTERESTINGLY ENOUGH, HE 5AID, REGARDING

VACAVILLE, THEY PUT ME WITH CHARLIE MANSON BECAUSE THEY SAY I IM

THE €AME TYPE OF PERSON.

WELL, LADIES AND GENTLEMEN, IF THE

TESTIMONY YESTERDAY WAS MEANT TO SUGGEST TO YOU THAT RATHER

THAN PUNISHMENT THE MAN NEEDS HELP, I WOULD SAY, IF WE TAKE HIS

TESTIMONY AT FACE VALUE, SAM HOWARD HAS BEEN THROUGH A SERIES

OF MENTAL HOSPTTALS FOR MANY YEARS. WHAT IS SOCIETY TO DO

wITH HIM? AND WHAT RIGHTS DO INNOCENT, DECEhIT, LAW-ABIDING

PEOPLE HAVE IN TERMS OF PROTECTING THEIR PRIVILEGE TO LIVE?

DURING OUR OPENING STATET'IENTS, WE

ADVISED YOU THAT THE STATE OF NEVADA IN THIS CASE, CONSISTENT

WITH GUIDELINES PROVIDED US BY THE LEGISLATURE, HAS ALLEGED

THAT THERE ARE FACTORS IN THIS CASE WHICH AGGRAVATE MURDER IN

THE FIRST DEGREE. THE COURT HAS ADDRESSED THAT 5UBJECT IN ITS

I NSTRUCT I ONS .

AS YOU KNOW, YOU WERE ADVISED AT THE

oUTSEi IN THESE PROCEEDINGS THAT FIRST DEGREE MURDER CARRIES

THREE POSSIBLE PUNTSHMENTS IN THIS STATE. THEY ARE THE DEATH

PENALTY AND THEY ARE LIFE

OF PAROLE. AhID IT IS YOUR

SIBILITY IS, TO SELECT THE

BEFORE YOU SUGGESTING THAT

YOUR CHOICE IS CLEAR.

WITHOUT AND LIFE WITH THE POSSIBILITY

PROVINCE, AS AWESOME AS THE RESPON-

PROPER PUN I SHMENT. I tM I':OT STANDING

ITIS PLEASANT. I DO SUGGEST THAT

IhI INSTRUCTION NUMBER SIX

-1571- I
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THE JURY MAY IMPOSE A

SENTENCE OF DEATH ONLY IF IT

FINDS AT LEAST ONE AGGRAVATING

CIRCUMSTANCE HAS BEEN ESTABLISHED

BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT AND

FURTHER FINDS THAT THERE ARE NO

MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES SUFFICIENT

TO OUTWEIGH THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUM-

STANCE OR CIRCUMSTANCES FOUND.

SO THATIS THE STANDARD. HAS THE STATE

ESTABLISHED AT LEAST ONE AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE BEYOND A

REASONABLE DOUBT? AND IF THEY HAVE, DO THoSE CIRCUMSTANCES

OUTWEIGH ANY MITIGATION IN THIS CASE?

INSTRUCTION NUMBER NINE SETS FORTH

THE AGGRAVATIIJG CIRCUMSTANCES THE STATE HAS ALLEGED AND I

SUBMIT WHICH THE STATE HAS PROVEN IN THIS CASE, BOTH DURING

THE GUILT AND PENALTY PHASES oF THEsE PRoCEEDINGS:

AGGRAVATING C I RCUI1STANCE

NUMBER ONE, THE MURDER WAS

COMMITTED BY A DEFENDANT WHO WAS

PREVIOUSLY CONVICTED OF A FELONY

INVOLVII'IG THE USE OR THREAT OF

VIOLENCE TO THE PERSON OF

ANOTHER.

YOU SEE; WHEN t'JE CONSIDER SAMUEL

HOWARD WEIRE NOT TALKING ABOUT SOMEOI'IE I'JHO COMMITTED HIS FIRST

OFFENSE IN RELATIONSHIP TO GEORGE MONAHAN BETWEEN 7:10 AND

7ZI+5 IN THE MORNING ON MARCH THE 27IH' 1980' WE ARE TALKING

ABOUT SOMEONE WHO IS NOW SHOWN TO HAVE COMMITTED A VIOLENT

FELONY AGAINST A NURSE FOR WHICH HE FIAS BEEN CoNVICTED' AND

THERE },'AS ABSOLUTELY NO PROVOCATION FOR THAT'

DOROTHY WEISBAND IIAS TESTIFIED THAT ON

-t572- g 920?81 2599App. 402
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MAY THE 24TH, t978, SOMETIME AFTER 7:00 OTCLOCK P.M., SHE WAS

IN HER OFFICE ALONE IN THE GYI'INASIUM 0N THE CAMPUS OF QUEENS

CoLLEGE IN NEW YORK, AND AN INDIVIDUAL SHErD KNOWN FOR PERHAPS

A YEAR AND A HALF CAME IN AND HE ASKED HER WHERE THE OTHER

NURSE WAS THAT WAs USUALLY THERE. sHE TOLD HIM THAT THE OTHER

NURSE

F INGER

I-IIM TO

SIDE,

sAID,

WASNTT IN THE AREA. HE THEN SAID THAT HE INJURED HIS

h'HILE BOXING. AND BECAUSE THAT WAS HER DUTY, SHE ASKED

SHOW I.IER THE FINGER. .AND THEN HE REACHED TO HIS RIGHT

AS I REMEMBER I.IER ILLUSTRATING, AND PRODUCED A GUhI AND

IIWHAT I REALLY WANT IS YOUR MONEY.II

WELL, I THINK THE EVIDENCE CLEARLY

ESTABLISHES WHAT SAMUEL HOWARD CLEARLY WANTED WAS HER AUTOMO-

BILE. AND HE TOOK IT. AND HE TOOK IT AT GUNPOINT. AND HE

TERRIFIED THIS LADY I1'I THE PROCESS. DO YOU REI4EMBER HER

TESTIMONY: IT WAS A TREMENDOUS TRAUMA. I STILL HAVE NIGHTMARE

ABOUT IT. t{OW, WHY DOES SHE STILL HAVE NIGHTMARES? BECAUSE

SHE KNEW THAT HE KNEW THAT SHE COULD RECOGNIZE HIM AGAII'I' AND

SHE TOLD YOU IN COURT SHE DIDNIT THINK HE WOULD LET HER LIVE

TO IDENTIFY HIM. CAN YOU IMAGII|E THE IMPACT SAMUEL HOWARD HAS

HAD Ol,.l THE LIFE OF A DECENT HUMAN BEING, DOROTHY WEISBAND?

NOW, PARKED OUTSIDE, BECAUSE IT WAS A

RAINY DAY AND CONTRARY TO HER USUAL CUSTOM, WAS A 1977 SILVER

CADILLAC. I.'IR. HOWARD HAD SEEN THAT BEFORE. THERE IS NO DOUBT

HE SA}' IT THAT NIGHT AND DETERMINED HE WAS GOING TO HAVE IT'

THAT VEHICLE WAS DISCOVERED A MONTH LATER I}'I TEXAS' AND MR'

HOWARD TOOK THE KEYS AND WHATEVER VALUABLES MRS' WEISBAND HAD

AT GUNPOINT, AND TFIEN fIE LEFT IN HER CAR AND FLED THAT JURIS-

DICTION. AND THEN |JHEN HE WAS BROUGHT BACK AND TRIED' HE

DIDN'T WAIT AROUND FOR THE VERDICT EITHER. HE WAs CONVICTED

IN ABSENTIA OF ROBBERY WITH USE OF A WEAPON AND OF' THEFT OF A

MOTOR VEHICLE.

MRS. t'JE I SBAND

-t57 3 -
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POLITE BUT, QUOTE, HE BECAME VERY ABUSIVE AND VIoLENT AS SOoN

AS HE BROUGHT OUT THE GUN. AND HE STARTED TO USE THE WORDS,

''MOTHER FUCKER'" AND IT hIAS I'WHITE MOTHER FUCKERI" AND IIWHITE

BITCHI" AND HE KEPT TELLING ME NOT TO LOOK AT HIM. AND THEN

HE TOLD HER TO CRAWL ON ALL FOURS OVER TO THE CLOSET, WHERE SHE

TIAD HER PURSE LOCKED INSIDE THE CLOSET. AND PERHAPS ONE OF THE

ULTIITTATE INDIGNITIES TO A WOMAN, HE TOLD HER AT GUNPOINT TO

TAKE OFF HER CLOTHES. AND SHE TOLD HIM SHE WOULDNIT. AND HE

KEPT''REPEATING THAT AND TOLD HER SHE BETTER OR HE WCULD KILL

HER.

WELL, IT WASNTT ENOUGH T0 TERRORIZE

HER THAT NIGHT. THIS MAN CALLED HER A h'EEK LATER. HE WANTED

TO CONTINUE TO HARASS HER LIFE AND TO PROJECT HIMSELF INTO THE

PSYCHE OF DOROTHY WEISBAND. AND HE SAID, HOW MUCH lS THE

PROPERTY WORTH?

WHATIS SHE GOING TO SAY WITH THE SHOCK

AT BEING CONFRONTED WITH THE ROBBER AGAIN? NOTHING.

AND THEN HE SAID, HOW MUCH tS YOUR

LIFE WORTH TO YOUR HUSBAND?

THINK ABOUT THAT. THINK ABOUT BEING

ON THE RECEIVING END OF THAT KIND OF TALK.

MR. HOWARD, HoW MUCH IS YoUR LIFE

WORTH TO SOCIETY?:-
LADIES AND GENTLEMEN, COURT MINUTES

ARE ,IN.EVIDENCE AS STATEIS EXHIBIT 59. YOU HEARD THE TESTIMONY

oF DETECTM JOHN MCNICHOLAS, THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS COHVICTEO

oF THESE CRIMES. THERE IS NO DOUBT THEY OCCURRED MAY 24' 1978'

MR. HOI{ARD HAD PREVIOUSLY BEEN CONVICTED OF A CRIME INVOLVING

THE USE OF VIOLENCE EVEN BEFORE HE CAME TO LAS VEGAS'IN 1980'

AND THAT IS TI-IE CIRCUM5TANCE THAT AGGRAVATES MURDER IN THE

FIRST DEGREE, AND THAT'S BEEN PROVEN BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT'

CIRCUMSTANCE NUMBER TWO ALLEGED IS
?Ant
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SET FORTH IN II.ISTRUCTION NINE AS FOLLOWS:

THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED

WHILE THE DEFENDANT WAS ENGAGED

IN THE COMMISSION OF ANY ROBBERY.

h,ELL, OUR LEGISLATURE, THE PEoPLE WE

PUT IN OFFICE, tlAS MADE CERTAIN JUDGMENTS IN TERMS OF WHAT

CIRCUMSTANCES AGGRAVATE A FIRST DEGREE MURDER.

ROBBERY, AS YOU HAVE BEEN II'ISTRUCTED,

IS A CRIME OF VIOLENCE. .IT INVOLVES THREAT. IT INVOLVES

FORCE. MANY TIMES IT INVOLVES THE USE OF A GUN. ITIS AN

APPARENTLY DANGEROUS FELOhIY. YOU KNoW, IT'S BAD ENOUGH TO

DECIDE YOU'RE GOING TO KILL ANYONE, BUT TO INCLUDE ALSO THE

NOTION YOUIRE GOING TO ROB AND KILL THEM, AND MAYBE MURDER IS

VERY PROBABLY THE LIKELY OUTGROT{TH OF ANY ROBBERY. THE LAW IN

THIS STATE SAYS IF YOU ROB AND MURDER, THAT AGGRAVATES MURDER

IN THE FIRST DEGREE. I'VE ALREADY MADE A FINDING IN CONNECTION

WITH THIS CASE. BUT MR. HOWARD NOT ONLY MURDERED GEORGE

MONAHAII, HE ROBBED HIM. SO CERTAINLY THAT AGGRAVATING CIRCUM-

STANCE I-IA5 BEEN PROVEN BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

THEREIS LITTLE DOUBT THAT MR. HOWARD

TOOK THE SEIKO WRISTYJATCH FROM GEORGE MONAHAN. THEREIS LITTLE

DOUBT THAT THE C.B. RADIO HE CARRIED INTO THE I4OTEL 5I/IIITH

WIRES HANGING OUT OF IT HAD BEEN TAKEN FROM GEORGE MONAHANIS

VAN. DAWANA THOMAS SAW CREDIT CARDS AND PHOTOGRAPHS OF

CHILDREN, FAMILY-TYPE PICTURES, SOON AFTER HE CAME BACK AFTER

A 45-MINUTE ABSENCE TO THE MOTEL, BOTH THOSE AGGRAVATING

CIRCUMSTANCES HAVE BEEN PROVEN BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT' THIS

IS A ROBBERY/MURDER. AND ITtS A ROBBERY/MURDER COMMITTED BY A

DEFENDANT WHO HAS ALREADY COMMITTED AND BEEN CONVICTED OF A

PRIOR CRIME OF ROBBERY.

I SUGGEST FROM THOSE FACTS BETNG

PROVEN THAT INSTRUCTTON SIX TAKES EFFECT. YOU CERTAINLY ARE

t575- B 2207 84 zsazApp. 405
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NOW TJUSTIFIED IN CONSIDERING THE IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH

PENALTY IN THIS CASE. AND ITIS RATHER !'UST A QUESTION THEN OF

WHAT KIND OF MITIGATING CIRCUMSTA}JCES THERE ARE AND WHAT OTHER

FACTORS YOU ALSO MAY CONSIDER IN DETERMINING WHETHER OR NOT THE

AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES OUTWEIGH ANY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE.

WELL, LADIES AND GENTLEMEN, WITHOUT

FURTHER COI{MEI{T ON I.lITIGATION, THE DEFENDANT HAS NOT TALKED

ABOUT ANYTHING THAT WOULD SUGGEST THAT HE WAS UNDER ANY TYPE

: 
"-OF €XTREME MENTAL PRESSURE OR EMOTIONAL PRESSURE IN MARCH OF

1.980. THERE tS NOTHTNG TO SUGGEST, BY THE TESTIMONY EITHER OF

SAMUEL HOWARD OR DAIIANA THOMAS, WHO KNEW HIM VERY WELL IN

MARCH 1980, THAT ON THE DAY HE KILLED GEORGE MONAHAN THERE WAS

ANYTHING TO MITIGATE THE CRIME.

WHAT WE HAVE IS MURDER IN COLD BLOOD.

WF|AT WE HAVE IS AN EXECUTION. WHAT hIE HAVE IS SAM HOWARD AT

SOME POINT DECIDING, AND I CAN'T TELL YOU WHAT THE TRICK

MECHANISM WAS, WHETHER IT WAS REFUSAL BY DOCTOR MoNAHAN T0

REMOVE HIS SHOES OR AN ARTICLE OF CLOTHING OR WHETHER HE

RESISTED IN S,CI'TE WAY THE TAKING OF THE C.B. RADIO OUT OF HIS

VAN. T ONLY KNOW WHAT THE EVIDENCE AND THE PHOTOGRAPHS PHOTO-

GRAPHICALLY SHOW, THAT AT SOME POINT HE WAS MADE T0 LAY FACE

DOWN AND HE WAS SHOT IN THE BACK OF THE HEAD. ITIS NOT A

ROBBERY. ITtS MURDER BY PREMEDITATION. THERE IS NO JUSTIFI-

CATTON FOR WHAT HAPPENED AND THERETS CERTAINLY NOTHING BEEN

OFFERED IN MITIGATION.

ARE WE GOTNG TO SAY, AS COMMENDABLE AS

IT IS, THAT SOMEONE WHO SERVES IN THIS COUNTRY IN THE MILITAR'Y

HAS A RIGHT TO COME BACK TC THIS COUNTRY A}'ID MURDER? WELL,

THAT WOULD DO A DISSERVICE TO EVERY HONCRABLE SERVICEMAN WHO

HAS COME HOME FROM VIET NAM OR ANYWHERE OR ANY OTHER PLACE AND

HAS A.JOB AND HAS A FAMILY AND BEHAVES HIMSELF RESPONSIBLY'

AND TO SUGGEST THAT A THING THAT

-t576- 8 2',10?852603
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HAPPENED 3O YEARS AGO MITIGATES A MURDER IN 1980 IS RIDICULOUS'

SO WHILE YOU ARE CONSIDERING THE FACT

THAT TWO MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES ARE PROVEN BEYOND A REASONABL

DOUBT, CONSIDER THESE FACTS' ALSO:
n 

CONSIDER THE MAt'l WHO WAS DESCRIBED

By KEITH KINSEY AND nis erFtavloR Ihl MARCH 26' 1980. HE KIND OF

.J' r.

sTooD't,PoNTHEcHAIRsANDSAID.HEwASNtTAFRAIDToDIEAND:::
HEUou|.DKILLALLoFUs.UIo.wAsMR'KINSEYTALKINGABoUT,

i.. 
3:'

BECAUS€ IIERE ARE MORE LIVES IN JEOPARDY' f'{oRE PEOPLE'

AND KINSEY TOLD US HE COULD TELL THE

GUNwAsLoADEDANDHETHoUGHTITLooKEDLIKESTATETSEXHIBIT

31-8. HE LOOKED DOWN THE BARREL OF THE GUN' UP INTO THE

CYLINDER,ANDHESAWBULLETS.HEWASTHEREWITHTOMMAJOR',

oNE oF THE MAI.IAGERS oF THE sEARs sroRE, AND DELAN SCHIEFEISTEIN

WHO ALSO WORKED TI'IERE.

THEN WE GET THE PARADOX AND PERSON-

ALrry oF tR. HowARD. KEITH KIN'EY ALS. QU.TED HIM As SAYING'

''PLEASEGEToUToFTHEwAYoRI|LLBLowYoURFUCKINGHEADS

OFF.I' AND THEN WHEN THEY WERE ALL DOWN ON ALL FOURS AND

HoWARDwAsTAKINGTHESECURITYBADGEAND]DENTIFIcATIoNAND

THEWALKIE-TALKIERADIo,HEMUMBLEDTHATHEcoULDBEAcoPNow.

AND AS HE LEFT IIE sAID, TIDONIT ANY OF YOU M'FERI5 COME AFTER

ME;OR..IIM GOING TO SHOOT YOU ALL.II
't't" "MIKE CONNELY STATED THAT AT SOME

f,-

PoINi.,.AFTER HE HAD PUT THE CUFFS ON THE DEFENDANT ON APRIL THE

' ii" - 
'?'

lsi;" 1980, AT.THE sroNEwooD sHoPPING CENTER' lN Dol{NEY'

cALIFoRNIA,AFTERTHEDEFENDAN|THADMANIFESTEDHISvIoLENcE

ANDHIsBoISTERoUsNEss,HESAID'||.,UsTGoAHEADANDKILLME.||

THAT b'ISH TODAY.

THAT WISH.

WELL, YOU HAVE THE POWER TO GRANT

THE STATE OF NEVADA IS ASKING YOU TO GRANT

MR. HOWARD SAID ON THE WITNESS STAND

? (,0 4
-1577-8 220786 
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HIMSELF, t'I 'VE HURT ALOT OF PEOPLE AND I

WELL, YOU HAVE

PEOPLE WHOSE LIVES HAVE BEEN AFFECTED BY

DEFENDANT IN THIS COURTROOM:

DONIT KNOW WHY.II

EVIDENCE OF ALOT OF

SAMUEL HOWARD, THE

MAY 24, 197I ' DOROTHY t"tE I SBAND,

ROBBERY WITH A WEAPON ANO VENTCLE THEFT;

r OCTOBER.'JTHE 5TH, 1979, WILL.ED

SCHWARTZ EVER FORGET WHAT HAPPENED TO HIM? ROBBERY'}IITH A

WEAPON -AND VEHICLE THEFT;.-

MARCH THE 26TH, KEITH KINSEY, ToM

MA.JOR AND DELAN. SCHIEFEISTEIN AT THE SEARS STORE, ATTEMPTED TO

OBTAIN MONEY UNDER FALSE PRETENSES, IT STARTED OUT AS, BUT IT

EI{DED UP AS A ROBBERY WITH A WEAPON;

STEVEN HOUCHEN, JUST ACR0SS THE STREET

FROM THE BOULEVARD MALL, JUST DRIVING HIS CAR FROM HIS APART-

MENT TO WORK, AND THIS GUY CRASHES INTO THE BACK OF HIM. AND

HE WANTS AN EXPLANATION AND HE'5 TOLD AT GUNPOINT TO MIND HIs

BUSINESS;

MAP.CH THE 28TH, 1980, B0B SMITH AND

NORMA DONALDSON AT THE SEARS STORE IN SAN BERNARDINO. IT

WASI.IIT ENOUGH TO MURDER, YOU KNOW, THIS MAT'I DIDNIT LEARN A

LESSON. IT WASNTT ENOUGH TO MURDER GEORGE MONAHAN AND COMI'IIT

ROBBERy AT THE SEARS STORE IN LAS vEGAS. HE'S TRYlilG TO DO

THE SAME THING TWO DAYS LATER II,I sAN BERNARDINO. AND AGAIN

THERE IS AN ATTEMPT OF OBTAINING.TVIONEY UNDER FALSE PRETENSES.

ITtS A SANDER/GRINDER AT THIS 'TIME. ONLY WHEN MR. SMITH AND

MRS. DONALDSON TRIED TO CHECK HIM OUT, HE LEFT;

APRIL THE 1ST, 1980, ISNrT THIS A

CHILLING THOUGHT: THE MAN WHO DONE THESE THINGS IS WALKING

AROUND IN A SHOPPING CENTER WITH A GUN. AND THATIS TESTIFIED

TO BY BOB SLATER, ROY CAMPOS AND MIKE CONNELY, LAW ENFoRCEMENT

OFFICERS IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA. HEtS CARRYING A COI'ICEALED

-1578- g 2207 gY 26A5
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WEAPON, THAT SUSPECT. I CHILL RIGHT TO THE BCTTOM OF MY FEET;

AND hlE ALSo KNOW, BECAUSE THE

DEFENDANT ADMITTED THIS ON THE I.JITI\IE5S STAND, THAT IN MAY 1982

HE WAS CONVICTED IN THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA OF STILL ANOTHER

ROBBERY WITH THE USE OF A WEAPON AND THE UNLAWFUL TAKING AND

USING OF A MOTOR VEHICLE. THE PATTERN IS CLEARLY ESTABLISHED.

IEN{YOU CONSIDER THE FACT THAT
t!

TWO AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES ftAVE BEEN ESTABLISHED BEYOND A

REASONABLE DOUBT, AND WHEtf.YOU CONS1DER THE APPRoPRIATE PUNISH-

MENT FOR SAMUEL HOWARD, CONSIDER THOSE FACTORS IN DECIDING

WHETHER THE AGGRAVATION OUTWEIGHS AI'IY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE.

THE DEFENDANT HAS I.IAI'IIFESTED A RECKLESS

DISREGARD 0F CONSEQUENCE AND SOCIAL DUTY.

WELL, I SUBMIT, LADIES AND GENTLEMEN,

IN VIEW OF THIS EVIDENCE AS A JUROR YOU HAVE A LEGAL DUTY. YOU

KNOW WHAT THE EVIDENCE IS. YOU KNOI.'' WHAT THE BACKGROUND IS OF

THIS DEFENDANT. THE COURT HAs EXPLAINED TO YOU THE CIRCUI'1-

STANCES THAT AGGRAVATE FIRST DEGREE I.IURDER, AND I SUGGEST YOU

HAVE A LEGAL DUTY TO IMPOSE THE DEATH PENALTY. I ALSO SUGGEST,

AS REPRESENTATIVES OF THIS COMMUNITY, THAT YOU HAVE A SOCIAL

DUTY.

HOW OFTEN IS IT TI-IAT WE HEAR PEOPLE,

WHEN THEYTRE OUT ON.THE.STREETS, TALK ABOUT WHAT IS WRONG WITH
ii

THE SYSTEM OF CRIMINAL JUSTICE, WHO SUGGEST THAT THEY COULD

IMPOSE THIS AND IMPOSE THAT. TTITS IS YOUR CHANCE TO DO SOME-

3l

THING. ARE YOU.GOING TO GIVE SAMUEL HOWARD ANOTHER CHANCE TO

TERRORIZE PEOPLE LtKE KEITH KINSEY, DOROTHY VtEtSBAND' TOM MAJOR

AND ED SCHWARTZ, AND STEVE HOUCHEN, WITH A LOADED GUN?

WELL, YoU HAVE YoUR PoWER TODAY T0

MAKE SURE THAT THAT NEVER HAPPEI'IS. DONIT LET YOUR CHANCE SLIP

AWAY. SEND AN UN}IISTAKABLE MES9AGE OUT TO THIS COMMUNITY --

l4R. FRANZEN: YOUR HONOR, I tM GOING TO OB.JECT TO

-r57e- I 220? 8g ?60 6
App. 409
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UNMISTAKABLE MESSAGES TO THE COMI4UNITY. THIS IS TIOT --

THE COURT: SUSTAINED.

MR. FRANZEN: I REQUEST THE 'JURY 
BE ADMONISHED

TO DISREGARD THAT.

THE COURT: THE JURY IS SO ADMOI'|ISHED.

PROCEED

MR.IIARMON:LADIESANDGENTLEMENTT\'HENWECON-

SIDER THE PURPOSE OF PUNISHMENT THERE ARE A NUMBER OF FACTORS

TO BE TAKEN INTO CONSIDERATION. I WOULD SUBM1T TWO OF THE

PRIMARY FACTORS ARE PUNISHMENT AND DETERRENTS.

MR. HOWARD, BY THE EVIDENCE lt'l THIS CASE'

HAS SHOWN AN INCLINATION TO USE A GUT'I. HE HAS SHOWN A RECKLESS

DISREGARD OF HIS SOCIAL DUTY.

AS I BEGAN TO SAY, You HAVE IT'WITHIN

YOUR POWER TODAY TO SEE TO IT THAT HE NEVER COCKS ANOTHER GUN'

THAT HE NEVER PULLS THE TRIGGER ON ANCTHER GUht' THAT HE T'IEVER

TERRORIZES OR THREATENS DECENT CITIZENS AGAIN'

TO QUOTE PERCY .SHELLY IN HIS POEM,

t'wHENTHELAMPIsSHATTERED'|,HESTATEDAsFoLLows:

WHEN THE LAMP IS SHATTERED

THE LIGHT IN THE DUST LIES DEAD.

THE LIFE OF GEORGE MONAHAN WAS

SHATTERED BY A BULLET TO THE BACK OF HIS HEAD ON MARCH THE 27TH'

rg80.. LIKE THE SHATTERED LAMP THE POET SPEAKS 0F' HIS LIGHT

!,IENToUToNDE5ERTINNRoADoNTHATSAMEDAY.THESTATEoF

NEVADAISASKINGYoUToLETTHELIGHTGo.oUToFMR.SAMUEL

HOI{ARD.

MANY YEARS AGO ANOTHER POET SAID:

A WORD ONCE SENT ABROAD FLIES

IRREVOCABLY. . .

AND I WANT TO SUBSTITUTE THE WORD

THE BULLET oF SAMUEL HoWARD SENT ABRoAD, oNcE FIRED

-1580- 8 2207 89 2607
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INTO THE BODY OF GEORGE MONAHAN, GEORGE MONAHANTS LIFE tS

IR,REVOCABLE. Al.lD I AM ASKING YOU, AS A REPRESENTATIVE 0F THE

STATE OF NEVADA IN ALL SINCERITY, AND YET WITH THE IMPARTIALITY

I TOLD YOU I l-lAD, TO SEE TO IT THAT THE PUNISHMENT YOU IMPOSE

TODAY WILL BE AS IRREVOCABLE, AS FINAL AND A5 DEADLY AS SAMUEL

HOWARD.IS BULLET. THANK YOU.

THE COURT: COUNSEL.

MR. COOPER: THANK YOU.

(CLOSING ARGUMENT)

BY MR. COOPER:

LADIES AND GENTLEMEN, IF I SEEM hIERVOUS

AhtD TENTATIVE AND UNSURE, IT'S BECAUSE I AM.

I IVE REPRESENTED ALOT OF CRIMINAL

DEFENDANTS. I'VE ARGUED BEFORE JURIES ON MANY OCCASIONS' BUT

ItVE NEVER BEEN IN A POSITION OF HAVING TO ARGUE FOR A I'IANIS

LIFE OR TRYING TO PERSUADE A JURY OR ANYOI''IE'TO SPARE THE

LIFE OF A FELLOW HUMAN BEING. AND ITIS NOT AN EASY TASK' ITIS

NOT A TASK THAT I WELCOME OR ONE THAT I RELISH.

I HAVE GIVET.I THIS CASE A GREAT DEAL OF

THOUGHT,AND,YOUKNOW,LIKEMR.HARMON,IDONTTHAVETHE

ANSI'IERS HERE. I DONIT KNOW WHAT THE ANSWERS ARE. I FEEL A

VERY AWESOME, VERY HEAVY RESPONSIBILITY. I'M SURE ITrS NOWHERE

NEAR THE RESPONSIBILITY THAT YOU MUST FEEL.

ItVE TRIED ANALYZING THIS. IIVE GONE

OVER IN MY MIND TIME AND AGAIN THIS CASE. ItVE TdIED PUTTING

MYSELF IN SAMUEL HOWARD!S POSITIO:J. I IVE TRIED PUTTING MYSELF

INTHEPosITIoNoFDccToRMohtAHANIsFRIENDSANDHISRELATIVES.

I IVE -- I HAVE SEVEN BROTHERS AND I WONDER WHAT MY FEELINGS

WOULD BE IF MY BROTHER HAD BEEN KILLED. MY HEART GOES OUT TO

DOCTOR MONAHANIS RELATIVES AND HIS FRIENDS. ItM SURE HE WAS A

-158r- I920790 2508App. 411
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GOVERNMENT ADDED AN INGREDIENT TO THAT POTION WHEN THEY SEN'I

SAMUEL HOWARD TO FIGHT I1'I VIET NAM..

IT SEEMS THAT SAMUEL HOWARD HAS BEEN

EXPOSED TO VIOLEI.ICE ALL OF HIS LIFE. I IM NOT TRYING TO JUSTIFY

WHAT HE DID. I IM NOT TRYING TO MAKE EXCUSES FOR WHAT HE DID.

BUT I.DONIT KNOhI THAT KJLLING HIM IS THE RIGHT THING TO DO.

. . AFTER HAVINiG BEEN EXPOSED TO VIOLENCE
.:

lN HI'5.-- IN VIOLENCE, THAT W.ITHOUT HAVING EXPERIENCED THAT, I

DON'T.:THINK WE CAN SIT HERE TODAY AND SAY }*IHAT THAT ITIUST HAVE

'.r< '-

BEEN LIKE.

THE STATE HAS THE GUN THAT WAS USED

TO KILL DOCTOR MONAHAN. THEY HAVE PICTURES OF DOCTOR MONAHAN

LYING DEAD IN HIS VAN. I I WISH THAT t HAD PICTURES TO

PRESENT TO YOU OF SAMUEL HOWARD WHEN HE WITNESSED THE TRAGIC

EVEl.tT EARLY IN HIS CHILDHOOD, OR PICTURES TO PRESENT T0 YoU

THE HORRIFYING EXPERIENCES HE MUST HAVE EXPERIENCED WHILE IN

VIET NAM. HE WAS TRAINED TO KILL. HE WAS ASKED TO KILL. HE

WAS GIVEN THE MEANS BY WHICH TO KILL. NOh' THE STATE IS ASKING

YOU TO KILL HIM.

I PLANNED TO RECITE HIS MENTAL HISTORY

I DONIT KNOW THAT THATTS NECESSARY. I THINK ITIS CLEAR THAT

SAMUEL HOWARD IS NOT A REMOTE- -- A MENTALLY DISABLED INDIVI-

DUAL. HEIS BEEN IN AND OUT OF MENTAL INSTITUTTONS PRACTICALLY
1

ALL OF IIIS LIFE. HEIS BEEN OIAGNOSED AS SCHIZOPHRENIC' WHICH

DOVETATLS },IITIJ.'THE PROSECUTIONIS THEORY OF HIS PERSONALITY' A

MAN &tHO HAS ATTEMPTED TO COMMIT SU'I.CIDE, HAS EXPRESSED A DESIRE

TO DIE, TO JOIN HtS MOTHER AND HIS SISTER, WHO HAS PLEADED FOR

PSYCT1IATR IC TREATMENT.

I -- I WANT TO BELIEVE THAT BEFORE YOU

CAN TAKE A MANIS LIFE YOU HAVE TO BE CERTA]N OF HIS GUILT' YOU

HAVE TO BE ABSOLUTELY CERTAIN. I KNOW THAT IN DECIDING THE

GUILT OR INI.IOCENCE OF A DEFENDANT THAT THATTS NOT THE BURDEN OF32

-158'- 8 zzo7gi z60gApp. 412
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PROOF. THAT IS PROOF BEYOND A REASONIABLE DOUBT. BUT IT SEEMS

TO ME THAT WHEN YOU ARE ASKED TO TAKE THE LIFE OF SOMEOI'IE THAT

EVERYTI-IING THATIS RIGHT AND MORAL WITHIN YOU TELLS YOU THAT YOU

HAVE TO BE ABSOLUTELY CERTAIN.

NOW, I KNOW THAT BASED UPON YOUR

VERDICT, YOU MORE OR LESS PLACE YOUR STAMP OF APPROVAL ON MR'

I{ARMONTS AND MR. SEATONIS THEORY THAT THE WITNESSES PRESE.NTED

WERE EITHER MI5TAKEN OR THEIR'STATEMENTS WERE MISINTERPRETED OR

THAT THEY LIED OR WHATEVER. CAN YOU BE SO CERTAIN TO THE POINT

THAT YOU WILL SEND SAMUEL HOWARD TO THE EXECUTIONER'5 CHAMBER?

MR. HARMON MADE REFERENCE TO THE FACT

THAT -- THE FACT THAT SAMUEL HOWARD SERVED IN VIET NAM SHOULD

NOT SERVE AS A MITIGATING FACTOR IN THIS CASE. HE MAY BE RIGHT'

I DONTT KNOW THE ANSWER TO THAT. I KNOW THAT THERE ARE

THOUSANDS OF MEN I.'HO RETURNED FROM THAT TRAGEDY THAT WERE NEVER

THE SAME. I KNOW THAT, AND AGAIN IrM NOT SUGGESTING THAT THATTS

AN EXCUSE, BUT I CAN ONLY HOPE THAT YOU WOULD TAKE THAT INTO

CoNSIDERATION. WE ARENTT ALL EQUALLY STRONG. ALOT OF MEN

RETURNED FROM THAT WAR TO LEAD NORMAL LIVES, AND THEY RETURNED

TO THEIR FAI'IILIES AND THEIR JOBS AND TO THEIR PROFESSIONS AS

DOCTORS OR LAWYERS OR DENTISTS OR ANY NUMBER OF HONORABLE

PROFESSIONS. I WONDER WHAT SAMUEL HOWARD RETURNED TO'

. lrvE ASKED MYSELF WHAT PURPoSE IS T0

BE ACCOMPLISHED BY KILLING HTM? MR. HARMON SUGGESTS THAT IT

SERVES AS A DETERRE.NT. THERE HAVE BEEN. PEOPLE EXECUTED IN THIS

COUNTRY FOR CENTURIES AND THE KILLINGS GO ON. I DONIT THINK

THAT ORDERING SAMUEL HObIARD TO DIE IS GOING TO SERVE AS A

DETERRENT TO ANYONE. IF THERE'S A DETERRENT' ITIS IN THE

CERTAINTY OF PUNISHMENT AND NOT IN THE SEVERITY OF PUNISHMENT'

MR. HARMON SUGGESTED THAT BY KILLING

CAN BE ACCOMPLISHED BY KILLING SAMUEL

ACCOMPLISHED BY PUTTING HIM IN PRISON

-1584- 8 p?0 7g'a z61A

HIM YOU PUNISH HIM. WHAT

HOWARD .THAT COULD NOT BE

I

It
)
-i

i,
t

i

t-
I
.a

I

{
,
I
:
i

i

at

]
;
3
I*
t
a

4

App. 413



L."i
;r
rg
fi:l
r.v

{L
I

tTl

t ,r1

!3'
t'..

i

t
,
{
I
l

I

2

3

4

o

6

7

I
I

l0

11

t2

13

t4

15

t6

7?

18

t9

20

2t

22

?3

24

25

26

27

?3

29

30

31

32

FOR THE REST OF HIS LIFE?

MR. SEATON MAY SUGGEST TO YOU THAT,

WELL, THERETS A POSSIBILITY THAT HE WILL RECEIVE EXECUTIVE

CLEMENCY SOMEDAY. WNEN WAs THE LAST TIME THAT YOU HEARD OF A

GOVERNOR OF THIS STATE GRANTING EXECUTIVE CLEMENCY TO AN INDI-

VIDUAL CONVICTED OF FIRST DEGREE MURDER AND SENTENCED TO PRISON

FOR':THE REST OF HIS LIFE?

..', WE 
.CAN 

PUT MEN ON THE MOON. WE CAN

PERFORM ALL KINDS OF SUPER HUMAN FEATS. CERTAINLY WE CAN PUT

SAMUEL HOWARD AWAY FOR THE REST OF HIS LIFE SO THAT HE DOES NOT

HARM MEMBERS OF SOCIETY.

MR. HARMON SEEMS TO IhIFER THAT BY

DOING THAT, THAT MR. HOWARD htILL CONTINUE TO EN,JoY LIFE: HE rLL

EAT AND HE'LL SLEEP AND HEILL READ. I PERSONALLY CANIT II'IAGII'IE

A FATE MORE HORRIFYING THAN SPENDING THE REST OF MY LIFE IN

MAXIMUM SECURITY IIT THE NEVADA STATE PRISON. HAVING TOURED

THAT FACILITY MYSELF, I CAN TELL YOU IT LEAVES A VERY, VERY

DEEP IMPRESSION ON YOU. lTts GROTESQUE. IT|S A FATE WoRSE

THAN DEATH. ITIS A VIOLENT AND DEMORALIZING ENVIRONI'IEI'IT IN

THAT PRISON.

I THINK THAT THE ONLY -- THE ONLY

REASON THAT THE STATE CAN REALLY OFFER YOU TO 'JUSTIFY THE KILL-

ING OF SAMUEL HOI\IARD, IF ITrS A JUSTIFtCATION, IS FOR VENGEANCE

AND VENGEANCE ALONE. I HAVE THOUGHT ABOUT THAT AND I HAVE

THOUGHT ABOUT IT AND I CAN COME UP WITH NO LEGITIMATE REASON

FOR TAKTNG THIS MANIS LIFE, EXCEPT THAT YOU HATE WHAT HE DID'

AND THATIS THE ONLY REASON THAT ANYONE, I THINK, COULD HAVE FOR

KILLING HIM, AND THAT'S BECAUSE THEY HATE HIM. DOES THAT MAKE

-- DOES THAT MAKE US ANY BETTER THAN SAMUEL HOWARD? IS THAT

THE MARK OF A TRULY CIVILIZED SOCIETY?

t THIhIK IT WAS CLAREANCE DARRELL WHO

oNcE SAID, IN ONE OF l'lIS FAMOUS CASES, THAT WEiRE l'tADE MORE THAN

J

I

-r585- I p30793 z6i I
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t,JEMAKE,THATwEtREAFFECTEDBYTHETHINGSARoUNDUS.

I AM WHAT I AM BECAUSE -- BECAUSE OF

MY HEREDITY AND BECAUSE OF THE ENVIRONMENT THAT I WAs BROUGHT

UP IN. YOU ARE WHAT YOU ARE BECAUSE OF YOUR HEREDITY AND YOUR

ENVIR,ONMENT. AND SAMUEL HOI'JARD IS WHAT HE IS BECAUSE OF HIS

HEREDITY AND BECAUSE OF HIS ENVIRONMENT, AND HE HAS NO CONTROI-

OVER HIS HEREDITY AND HE HAs NO.CONTROL OVER HIS ENVIRONMENT'

THOSE ENC TNE THINGS THAT HAVE SHAPED HIM.

. ,: T WANT SO MUCH FOR YOU TO TRY AND

UNDERSTAND I.IIM, TRY AND UNDERSTAND THE EVENTS THAT .HAVE MADE

HIM,THATTiAVESHAPEDHIM.IFYoUDoTHATITHINKTHATISALL

THATIS NECESSARY.

MR. HARMON ASKS THAT YOU KILL SAMUEL

HOI,iARD BECAUSE HE KILLED DOCTOR MONAHAN. THAT I S ALL. WITHoUT

THE SLIGHTEST LOGIC, t'''ITHOUT THE SLIGHTEST APPLICATION T0 LIFE'

SIMPLY FROM ANGER AND NOTHING ELSE. IS THAT WHAT JUSTICE IS

ALL ABOUT? I DONIT THINK SO.

I DONIT THINK THAT THEREIS ANY JUSTI-

FICATION FOR TAKING THE LIFE OF SAMUEL HOWARD' THE PITIFUL

CREATURE THAT HE IS, THERETS NO WORTHWHILE PURPOSE IN KILLING

HIM.

I KNOW THAT WE DIDNTT -- WE DIDNIT

TRY AND CONVINCE YOU, OR PRESENT EVIDENCE' THAT SAMUEL HOWARD

,t.

utAS IEGALLY INSANE AT THE TIME THAT HE KILLED DOCTOR MONAHAN.

BUT IF"YOU TAKE A CAREFUL LOOK AT THE INSTRUCTIONS' PARTICULARLY

INSTRUCTION NUMBER TWELVE, YOU WILL FIND THAT IN CONSIDERING

MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES, IF YOU FIND THAT THERE ARE MITIGATING

cIRcUMsTANcEs,THATITIsNoTNEcEssARYToSHowTHATTHoSE

MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES WOULD HAVE CONSTITUTED A DEFENSE TO

THIS CRIME OR THAT IT WOULD HAVE REDUCED THE DEGREE OF THE

CRIME.

THE TEST FOR LEGAL INSAN]TY

-1586- I 2gA? 94
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THE DEFENDANT KNOW THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN RIGHT AND WRONG? I

PERSONALLY HAVE PROBLEMS WITH Tl'lAT. I THINK lTrS AN ANTIQUATED

TEST. ITtS DEVELOPED IN THE DAYS OF QUEEN VICTORIA, CENTURIES

AGO. AND DESPITE THE MAI.IY STRIDES THAT HAVE BEEN MADE IN THE

AREA OF PSYCHIATRY IN TRYING TO UNDERSTAND HUMAN BEINGS, WE

STILL..ADHERE TO THAT TEST. h'ETRE GOING TO KILL HIM BECAUSE HEIS

MENTALLY DISTURBED. HEIS OBVIOUSLY DISTURBED.

I WANT HIS MILITARY SERVICE, HIs

HONORTTBLE DISCHARGE FROM VIET NAM, HIS PURPLE HEART'AND HIS

oTHER MEDALS, TO STAND FOR SOMETHING. WHETHER IT WILL OR NoT,

I DONIT KNOW.

I WANT TO KNOW WHY -- WHY IT SEEMS

THAT IhI THIS COUNTRY THE POOR AND THE OPPRESSED AND TI-IE IMPOV-

ERISHED ARE THE ONES WHO GO TO THE EXECUTIONERIS CHAI.'IBER.

wHEl.l wAs THE LAST TIME YOU HEARD OF A RICH MAN, A PERSoN WHOIS

WELL OFF, BEING EXECUTED IN THIS COUNTRY? IT SEEMS -- IT SEEMS

AS IF WE'VE RESERVED THAT FATE FOR PEOPLE LIKE SAI'1UEL HOI4'ARD.

YOU BE KIND

THANK YOU.

I PUT tT IN YOUR HANDS AND I ASK THAT

AND COI'.ISIDERATE TC THE LIVING AND TO THE DEAD.

THE COURT: THE STATE.

MR. SEATON: THANK YOU.

(CLOS I NG .ARGUMENT)

BY MR. SEATON:

YOUR HONOR, COUNSEL, LADIES AND GENTLEMEN

OF TFIE JURY:

I DON'T KNOW THAT I CAN BE AS'ELOQUENT

AS MR. HARMON, NOR AS EMOTIONAL AS MR. COoPER. BOTH OF WHOI4

YOU HAVE HEARD THIS MORNING I THIhIK ARE SPEAKING TO YOU FROM

THETR HEART, FROM THE VERY DEPTH OF THEIR SOULS. I SHALL AT

-1587- 8 2207 gb ? 61 3
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LEAST TRY TO DO THAT WITH YOU.

I FIRST WANT TO DIRECT SOME OF MY

REMARKS TO SOME OF THE THINGS THAT MR. COOPER SAID. HE SAID

WHAT HE SAID BECAUSE HE FELT IT AND HE MEANT IT, NOT BECAUSE

HE WAS ATTEMPTING TO GENERATE ANY SORT OF SYMPATHY OR GOOD

FEELING ON YOUR PART ON EEHALF OF THE DEFENDAI.IT SAM IIOWARD, BUT
,:"

BECAUSE.:TRULY HE FELT THOSE THINGS. BUT WEIVE GOT TO BE CARE-

FUL IN'PROCEEDINGS SUCH AS TH,IS THAT WE D0 NOT LET THE Et'lOTIONS

OVERRI;DE. THERE ARE TWO STDES TO EVERY COIN.

MR. COOPER, FOR EXAMPLE, MENTIONS TO

YOU THAT SAMUEL HOWARD IS A PRODUCT OF HIS ENVIROI'IMENT. HE IS

WHAT HE IS TODAY BECAUSE OF THE THINGS THAT HAPPENED THROUGH

HIS LIFE. AND THATTS PROBABLY TRUE.

ISNTT IT BECAUSE OF THE ENVIRONMENT

THAT HE WAS IN THAT GEORGE MONAI-IAN IS WHAT HE IS TODAY, WHICH

IS DEAD? SAMUEL HOWARD CREATED A FALSE ENVIRONMENT IN THE

woRLD OF THIS HEALTHY, ACTIVE, YOUNG, SUCCESSFUL DENTIST WITH

A FAMILY.

PICTURES OF IT.

HE HAD A NICE VAN.

ITtS A NICE VAN, SOMETHING

YOUIVE SEEN THE

THAT ALL OF US

DESIGNED NICELY.

STEREO. IT HAD ALL

AND IT t"AS A GREAT

WOULD WANT TC OWN. THE INTERIOR OF IT WAS

IT HAD A C.B. RADIO, IT HAD A FOUR-TRACK

THE NICETIES THAT YOU WOULD 
.WANT 

IN A VAN.

ENV I RONMENT .

DID, IN FACT,

MONAHAN. AND

SAMUEL fI,OWARD GOT IN THAT VAN AND HE

HAVE AN IMPACT UPON TTIE ENVIRONMENT OF DOCTOR

BECAUSE OF THAT ENVIRONMENT, THE oNLY PERSON IN

THIS CASE WHO HASN.!T BEEN IN THIS COURTROOM TO TELL YOU ANYTHING

ABOUT IT IS DOCTOR GEORGE MOI'IAHAN, AND THATTS BECAUSE OF ONE

PERSON AND ONE PERSON ONLY. SO BEFORE YOU START THINKING TOO

SYMPATHETICALLY ABOUT THE ENVIRONMENT IN WHICH SAMUEL HOWARD WAS

RAISED, THINK ALONG WITH THAT ABOUT THE ENVIRONMENT IN WHICH

g20?96 261 4-1 588-
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CAUSED THE DEATH, THE ENDING OF THE LIFE, CF DOCTOR GEORGE

MONAHAN.

ALONG THE SAME LINES, MR' CooPER CANNoT

IMAGINE A FATE WORSE THAN SPENDING THE REST OF YOUR LIFE IN

PRISON. WELL, I CAN. I'VE IJUST TALKED ABOUT IT' THAT FATE

HAS OCCURRED ALREADY IN THIS CASE. ITIS SOMETIIING THAT NC ONE

CAN DO.iANYTHING ABOUT. THE FATE OF DOCTOR MOI'IAHAN. IF YOUIVE

GOT THE.CHOICE YOURSELF OF SPENDING THE REST OF YOUR'LIFE IN

PRISON.OR DYING AT THIS 
''IOMENT, 

IS THERE ANY QUESTION AS T0

WHAT THAT CHOICE WOULD BE?

AS MR. HARMON SO. ABLY POINTED CUT,

WCULD YOU PREFER THE COI.|FINES OF THE GRAVE AND WHATEVER THERE

IS BEYOND THI5 LIFE TO THE ABILITY, AS WE CHooSE T0 HAVE IT

TO EAT, TO TALK TO OTHER PEOPLE, T0 MoVE ABOUT'

A RESTR,ICTED SOCIETY, WITHIN A SOCIETY FORM?

EXCEPT A SUICIDAL PERSON, ANYONE MAKING A

THAi,l Tl-lE Ol.lE THAT SAMUEL HOWARD HAS ALREADY

AND DOCTOR MONAHAN.

SAMUEL HOWARD CHOSE FOR DOCTOR MONAHAN

TO HAVE HIM DIE AND TO CURTAIL HIS LIFE FOR HIMSELF AND FOR

THOSE FRIENDS AND RELATIVES AND LOVED ONES AROUND HIM' AND

SAMUEL HowARD cHosE To LIVE, AND HE STANDS BEFoR,E YoU ToDAY,

THRouGHMR.cooPER,BEGGINGFoRHISLIFE.IwoNDERIFDocToR

MONAHAni BEGGED FOR HIS LIFE. I. wONDER tF HE HAD THE OPPORTUNITY

TO SAY.TO SAM HOWARD: DON|T Sl'looT ME, TAKE MY CAR' TAKE l'4Y

WALLET, TAKE ANYTHING IrVE GOT BUT PLEASE DON|T sHooT ME' AND

IFHEDIDNTTSAYTHAT,DIDHEATLEASTTHINKTTFoRTHATSPLIT

sEcoND OR MAYBE A MATTER OF ivllNUTES THAT HE KNEW HE WAS GOING

TO DIE?

AND WAS SAM HOWARD'S RESPONSE TO

SITS BEFORE YOU TODAY MAKING

THE TRIGGER OF THAT PISTOL,

TODAY, TO READ,

EVEN THOUGH ITIS

I CAN'T IMAGINE,

D I FFEREIiT CHO I CE

MADE FOR BOTH HE

THAT PLEA FOR LIFE THAT SAM

FOR HIMSELF? AS EASILY AS

WHAT

HOWARD

PULL I NG

-1589-
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HE MADE HIS DECISION.

ARE WE TO HAVE MERCY FOR SAM HOWARD?

THAT'S ONE OF THE QUESTIONS BEFORE YOU TODAY, OR OT'|E OF THE

WAYS TO PUT THE QUESTION THATTS BEFORE YOU.

LET'S THINK ABOUT MERCY FOR A MOMENT.

NOW, WE KNOW WHAT MERCY lS. YOU GIVE tT TO SOMEONE. YOU DONIT

TREAT TTIEM AS HARSHLY AS YOU OTHERWISE COULD. BUT THINK FOR A

MOMENT OF THE PURPOSE OF MERCY. I'IERCY IS DESIGNED TO SET AN

EXAMPLE, TO CREATE STANDARDS. MERCY IS USEFUL tF IT IS NoT

GIVEN DISCRIMINATELY. IF YOU GIVE MERCY TO EVERYONE, THEN

THERE IS NO REASON FOR THEM TO DO ANYTHING TO BEI{EFIT THAT

MERCY. THEY CAN GO OUT AND ACT AS TERRIBLY AS THEY WISH AND

Khtow THAT YOU, THE GENTLE .JURY, IS GOING T0 GIVE THEM MERCY.

NO. THATIS WHY MERCY IS GIVEN TO SOME

AND WITHHELD FROM OTHERS. WHAT HAPPENS WHEI\I WE GIVE MERCY TO

SOMEONE? LETIS TAKE A KILLING SITUATION. SOMEONE KILLS AND

COMES BEFERE THE TJURY AND THE JURY SAYS TO THEM, YOUTVE KILLED'

YOUIVE COMI.IITTED THE HIGHEST CRIME KNOWN TO MAN AND GOD, BUT

THERE WERE EXTENUATING CIRCUMSTANCES. THERE WERE SUBSTANTIAL

MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES THAT OUTWEIGH THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUM-

STANCES. PERHAPS ITIS A HUSBAND OR WIFE WHO KILLS THE OIHER

ONE BECAUSE THERE IS A FAMILY ARGUMENT AND EMOTIONS RUN HIGH

AND.THEREIS A KITCHEN KNIFE LYING CLOSE BY AND ITIS PICKED UP

IN A, dUST IN A FIT OF RAGE, AND USED'. OR PERHAPS lTrS A BAR-

rf
Rool',i .Bgewl THAT sTARTs ouT As A .FRIENDLY PooL cAME BETSEEN Ttuo

.1.
PEOPLE HAVING HAD TOO MUCH TO DRINK AND THEY ARGUE ABOUT THE

NATURE OF THE GAME AND ONE SWIhIGS THE POOL CUE AT THE -OTHER AND

KTLLS HIM. THESE ARE REASONS TO TREAT THOSE KINDS OF CASES

AND OTHERS LIKE TI-IEM DIFFERENTLY FROM THIS KIND OF CASE' YOU

GIVE MERCY IN THAT KIND OF CASE. WHERE THERE 'ARE NO EXTEI'JUATI

cIRSSMSTANCES FOR THE KILLING, WHERE THERE IS hlg REASON FOR'

THAT KILLING TO HAVE TAKEN PLACE, YOU DO NOT GIVE MERCY'

B 22A798261 
5
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TO GIVE MERCY TO SAMUEL HOWARD IS TO

TELLALLoFTHEoTHERPEoPLEwHoGooUTANDcoMMITTHESEKINDS

OF HEINOUS, HORRIBLE ANIMAL-LIKE. CRIMES TC GO AHEAD AND DO THE

SAME THING BECAUSE OTHER,.JURIES LI.KE YOU ARE LIKELY TO DO THE

SAHE THING.

: .}IR. fRANZEN:T .'IOUR tIONOR, I tM GOING TO HAVE TO

:.!i

REGISTER AN OBJECTION.

THE COURT: Tl-rF oBJECTION IS OVERRULED'

YOU MAv PROCEED.

MR. SEATON: THANK YOU, YOUR HoNOR'

MR. HARMON STATED TO YOU THAT THERE WERE

Thfo REASONS TO IMPOSE THE PUNISHMENT OF DEATH, AND THEY ARE

PUNISHMENT AND DETERREhITS. BUT DETER'RENT REALLY BREAKS DOWN

INTO TWO,KII.IDS OF DETERRENTS. SO I WOULD LIKE TO VIEW IT AS

THoUGHTHEREARETHREEREAsoNsFoRcAPITALPUNISHMENT:

THE FIRST BEING THE PUT{ISHMENT OF THE

DEFENDANT. CAPITAL PUt{ISHMENT IS SIMPLY AN EXPRESSION OF

SOCIETYTS OUTRAGE AT A PARTICULARLY TERRIBLE ACT THAT HAS

occURRED. AND THE INSTINcT FoR RETRIBUTIoN, VEh|GEANCE IS, As

MR. cooPER cALLs IT; Is A NATURAL oUTGRowTH IN PRoBABLY ALL

HUMAN BEII.IGS. HOW MANY TIMES HAVE YOU FELT THAT YOU WANTED TO

GET EVEN WITH SOMEONE FOR DOING SOMETHING? AND IF YOU DONIT

HAVE THESE KTNDS OF PUNISI'TMENT THEN YOU sOW THE SEEDS OF ANARC

IN A SOCIETY. YOU GIVE REASON FOR SOCIETY TO SAY: OUR SYSTEM

DOESNT,T !{ORK, THE PUNISHMENT tiH'f STRONG ENCUGH, }'lE NEED

VIG'ILiANTE .IUSTICE, WE NEED LYNCH MOBS. WELL, t DONIT THINK ANY

OF US WANT THAT. WE READ ARTICLES THAT ITIS STARTING TO HAPPEN

BECAUSE THE WAY socIETY I5 GOthlG' BUT b.tE DONIT !'!ANT IT' I

THINK,INoURMosTHoNEsToB\,EcTIvESTATEoFMII'|D.ANDTHE

PUNISHMENT PART, THE RETRTBUTIoN PART, Is NoT THE l.{AIN REAsoN.

It.IFACT,IwoULDNUMBERITAsTHELEASToFTHEREASoNS.

I TAKE ISSUE WIT.H MR. COOPER. I THINK

_r5e1_ g pg0?gs 2617
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I CAN SPEAK FOR MR. HARMON, BUT CERTAINLY FOR MYSELF, h'E ARE

NOT HERE ADVOCATING THAT THE DEATH PENALTY BE IMPOSED UPON SAM

HOWARD MAINLY BECAUSE l|lE THINK HE OUGHT TC BE PUNISHED. THAT

IS SIMPLY MENTIOhIED BECAUSE IT IS ONE OF THE REASONS THAT MANY

PEOPLE WOULD UTILIZE, ALONG WITH THE OTHER DETERRENT REASONS'

ITIS NOT A fORBIDDEN OBJECTIVE OF OUR SOCIETY. AND IT IS

CERTAINLY NOT INCONSISTENT WITH OUR RESPECT FOR THE DIGI'IITY OF

OTHER TIUMAT-| BEINGS. AND EVEN THOUGH IT IS THE LESSER OF THE

THREE R.EAsONS, AS I POSED THEM TC YOU, IT 15 A REASON }IHICH MAY

BE CONSIDER,ED FOR GIVING THE DEATH PENALTY TO SAM HOWARD'

THE OTHER REASON THAT HAS BEEi\i TALKED

ABOUT IS TO DETER PEOPLE FROM KILLING WE SET AN EXAMPLE' IF

YOU IMPOSE THE DEATH PENALTY UPON SAM HOWARD, MAYBE OTHER

KILLERS WILL LOOK AT THAT AND DECIDE THAT, YES' INDEED THE

DEATHPENALTYIsWoRKINGANDIDoNtTwAt.|TToDoTHAT.

NOI'J, PROOF OF DETERREI{TS I5 D I FF I CULT '

WE DONTT HAVE MANY CRIMINALS WHO WALK INTO THE CHIEF OF POLICE

AND SAY, YOU KNOhl, I WAS THINKING ABOUT KILLING SOMEBoDY BUT I

READ THE OTHER DAY THAT THE DEATH PENALTY IS IN EFFECT AND SO

THAT DETERRED ME. T,IE DOI'.IIT HAVE THAT SORT OF STATISTICAL

ANALYS I S .

hIE DO HAVE STATISTICAL ANALYSIS, HOW-

EVER;.IN MAl,lY, MANY STUDIES THAT I'IAVE BEEN MADE OF THE TEN-YEAR

''''
PEBTOD THAT THERE WAS NO DEATH PENALTY, AND THE NUMBER OF

KILLINGS DOUBLED FROM TEN THOUSAND ANNUALLY TO TWENTY THOUSAND

' .1..

ANNUALLY, OR THEREABOUTS, DEPENDING ON THE STATISTICS THAT YOU

WANT TO BELIEVE. WE KNOW THAT WITHOUT A DEATH PENALTY BEING

UTILIZED ITi THIS COUNTRY THAT MURDERS SKYROCKET' DOESNIT LOGIC

TELLUs,DoEsN|TLoGIcsAYToUsTHATIFTHEREISADEATH

PEI{ALTY THAT MURDER WOULD DECREASE, OR AT LEAST lF THEY

tNcREAsETHEYwoULDINCREASEMoREsLowLYTHANTHEYwoULD}'|ITH-

OUT THE DEATH PENALTY' 
26 1 B-t5e2- g 22A90CI

I
s
t
i

t
*
)
s

a
{
i

4
e

I
4Itl
I
J

I
'ttr
i
4
+
!.

a
i

!

i
qi

*
t
I
f

App. 421



{ "-J-T"

(.lJ
rrI

ilr.
t

i't*J

I tl
l*
l,,,rl
qJ:i'

F-h
l"-)

I

2

3

4

o

,6

7

8

.9

10

tt
L2

13

L4

15

16

L7

18

19

?.0

2t

22

2A

?A

?"5

26

27

28

29

80

31

g2

YOU CANTT DETER ALL MURDERERS. THE

IRRATIONAL, EMOTIONAL KIND THAT I SPOKE OF BEFORE, THEYIRE NOT

GOING TO BE DETERRED. YOU CAN DETER THE PREMEDITATORS THOUGH,

THE PEOPLE LIKE SAM HOWARD, THE PEOPLE WHO DO I'IURDER FOR

ECONOI.IIC GAIN. AND SAM HOWARD DID MURDER FOR ECONOMIC GAIN,

ALTHOUGH HE WASNIT REALLY SUCCESSFUL. I CAN REI'IEMBER $2 TI-IAT
:g ;"

DOCTT}RCI4OI'IAHAN HAD AND $2 TNAT DOROTHY WEISBAND HAD. "BUT IF
, ..i. i

yOU CSN -- IF YOU CAN ALTER THEIR BUSIr'IESS DECISION, THAT IS

THAT$!F'THE BUSINESS DECISION OF THE CRIMINAL, IF YOU CAN MAKE

HIM WEIGH THE COST OF THE CRIME VERSUS THE POTEhITIAL GAIN OF

THE CRII"1E, AND IF YOU ARE ABLE TO IMPOSE A HIGHER CCST, YOU ARE

GOING TO DETER OTHER PEOPLE FROM KILLING.

I TI-IINK TFTAT IF YOU hIERE TO IMPOSE THE

DEATH PENALTY IN THIS CASE, AS MR. HARMON HAS SUGGESTED, THAT

IT WOULD BE A VERY STRONG POSSIBILITY THAT THE LIFE OF SOME

FUTURE VICTIM OF SOME OTHER MURDERER MAY BE SAVED.

NOW, THE THIRD REASoN FOR IMPoSING THE

DEATH PENALTY, AND THIS IS THE ONE I THINK I'JE HAVENIT TALKED

TOO MUCH ABOUT, AND ITrs THE ONE THAT I MoST STRoNGLY BELIEVE

APPLIES IN THIS CASE, 15 THIS: TO IMPoSE THE DEATH PENALTY

AGAINST SAM HOWARD IN THIS CASE IS TO MAKE ABSOLUTELY SURE THAT

HE NEVER KILLS AGAIN.. NOW, THATTS OUR GOAL, TO MAKE SURE THAT

sAMtHowARD NEVER KILLS AGAIN. I ALSO DONrT WANT HIM T0'RoB

AGAIN AND TO PUT PEOPLE INTO'FEAR OF THEIR LIVES AGAIN.

-:-- - BUT LET|S FACE THE QUESTION THAT MR'

i'.
COOPER TALKED ABOUT: ARE THERE WAYS TO KEEP HII',I FROM KILLING

AGAIN WITHOUT GIVING HIM THE DEATH PENALTY? IT WOUI-O APPEAR

TO ME THAT THERE ARE OT{LY TWO -- ThO POSSIBILITIES: ONE IS

REHABILITATION AND ONE I5 PUTTING HII'I IN PRISON FOR THE REST

OF HIS LIFE.

NOW, THE REHABILITATION SOUNDS PRETTY

GOOD. YOU TAKE A PERSON LIKE SAM, WHOIS HAD A TERRIBLE LIFE'

-1593- 8 22A801 261e
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HEIS A BAD, EVIL PERSON, AND YOU MOLD HIM. YOU TAKE THE

PSYCHIATRISTS, WELL WE KNOW THEY DOr.ltT woRK, BUT YOU TAKE THE

PSYCHIATRISTS AND THE SOCIAL WORKERS AND THE PEOPLE UP IN THE

pRISOl{, MOST OF WHOl"i ARE OTHER PRISONERS WHo ARE 0F THE SAME

t4oLD THAT HE IS, AND SOIqEHOW lN THAT ENVIRONMENT YOU REHABILI-

TATE{.SAM HOWARD, MAKE HIM A USEFUL CITTZEN'

ttELL, pnogesLv 65 PERCENT OR SO OF

THE CR.,tMINALS THAT APPEAR IN,O'un COdnTS APPEAR THERE AGAIN'
!

THAfiL.caueo REcIDlvtSM. it's Rr AN ALL-TIME HtGH AND lr

TSNTT STOPPING. AND TORGET ABOUT THE STATISTICS' SAM HOWARD TS

A RECIDIVIST. HOW MANY TIMES DID MR. 'HARMC}I TIP OFF THAT SAM

HOWARD HAD BEENI IN OUR.JUDICIAL SYSTEM OR SHOULD HAVE BEEN IN

OUR JUDICIAL SYSTEM BECAUSE OF THE CRIMES HE COMMITTED' HE IS

A RECIDIVIST OF THE FIRST MAGNITUDE. HE IS INCAPABLE OF REHAB-

ILITATION. HEIS 34 YEARS.OLD. HE IS WHAT HE IS' HEIS A

PRCDUCT, A5 MR. cooPER SUGGESTS, OF HIS ENVIRONMENT. AND WHAT-

EVER HE IS TODAY IS WHAT HE'S GOING TO BE FOR THE REST OF HIS

LIFEANDNoAMoUNToFwoRKoNHIMBYANYSoCIALwoRKERoR

PSYCHIATRIST IS GOING TO CHANGE THAT.

THINK ABOUT THAT FOR A MINUTE, THE

PSYCHIATRIC TREATMENT. THAT WAS BROUGHT ON AS A SORT OF A BACK

DOOR METHOD OF GETTTNG THIS INSANITY BUSINESS BEFORE US' AND

IT'S,A LITTLE HARD FOR THE STATE TO REBUT THAT WHEN IT COMES IN

THE WAY IT DOEs. h'E DONTT HAVE AN OPPORTUNITY TO BRING IN THE

PSYCI-IIATRISTs WHO HAVE EXAMINED H.IM.

MR. FRANZEN: YOUR l-loNoR, I tM GOING TO OB'JECT'

THEY HAVE HAD AN OPPORTUNITY TO HAVE A R,EBUTTAL OR SURREBUTTAL'

THE COURT: THE .JURY CAN DETERMINE THAT' THE

OBJECTION IS NOTED AND OVERRULED.

MR. SEATON: THANK YOU, YOUR H0N0R'

THE COURT: PROCEED.

I4R. SEATON: BUT T|'IE TESTIMONY FROM THE

-15e4- I 220802 ?624
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DEFENDANT HIM5ELF PROBABLY DOES A BETTER 'JOB OF TELLING

ABOUT THE MENTAL STATUS OF SAMUEL HOWARD THAN ANY GROUP

PSYCHIATRISTS COULD POSSIBLY DO.

REMEMBER THIS: SAM SAT UP ON THE STAND

AND HE TOLD YOU ALL OF THE MENTAL INSTITUTIONS THAT HEIS BEEN

TO AND ALL OF THE PSYCHIATRISTS THAT HEIS BEEN TO AND ALL THE

TREATMENT THAT HEIS GOTTEN. BUTJiHE DIDNIT TELL YOU THE €ND OF

THE STORY OR THE END OF EACH ONE OF THOSE STORIES' THE END OF

EACH{ONE OF THOSE STORTES;.lS THAT HE LEFT THoSE INSTITUTIoNS'

NOW, THEYTRE GOING TO LET HIM OUT EITHER ONLY IF HEIS CURED OF

WHATEVER AIL5 HIM OR IF THEY DETERMINE THAT THEY CAhtIT DO HIM

ANY GOOD. AND THATTS THE KIND OF HUMAN BEII'IG THAT WEIVE GOT

HERE IN FRONT OF US TODAY. IT HAS I{OTHING TO DO WITH CURE' HE

DOESNTT NEED TO BE -- HE CANTT BE CURED. HE'S GOT ANTI-SOCIAL

BEHAVIOR. THATTS WHAT CAME OUT ON THE EXAMINATION OF SAM

HOWARD. WHAT DOES T]'IAT MEAN? HEIS MEAN. I DONTT HAVE TO

PROVE THAT TO YOU. YOU ALL KNOW HOW MEAN sAM HO}''ARD IS' I"IEAN

IS PERHAPS ONE OF THE KINDEST WORDS I CAN UsE ABOUT SAM HOWARD'

I.IC REHABILITATION -- THE REHABILITATION OF SAM HOWARD COULD

NEVER TAKE PLACE.

NOW, THE OTHER METHOD BY WHICH WE

KEEP SAM HOWARD FROM KILLING SOMEONE ELSE IN THE FUTURE IS TO

PUT t{.IM IN PRISON FOR LIFE, SUGGESTS MR. COOPER. DOES MR'
; .. .-'

COOPER.:THINK THAT SAM HOWARD, WHILE IN PRISON FOR LIFE' WOULD

BEiI6ICAPABLE OF HARMING OTIIER PRISONERS, OR HOW ABOUT ANOTHER

-.J 
;'

GU;tiD? ttvE BEEN UP TO THE NEvADA STATE PRISoN T00, AND THEY

ALL TNTERMINGLE, GUARDS AND PRISONERS ALIKE. AND irOw menv

CASES HAVE YOU READ ABOUT IN THE PAPERS OF THE RIOTS AND THINGS

OF THAT I.IATURE?

AN ESCAPE? COULD HE ESCAPE

BUT ITIS POSSIBLE. IF HE

OF POSTURE, |,'IOULD HE KILL

8 220803 z5Z1

US

OF

HOW ABOUT

FROM PRISON? WELL, HOPEFULLY NOT,

EVER ESCAPED AND WAS IN THAT KIND

t
t
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AGAIN? WELL, IF ANYBODY WANTS TO SUGGEST TO ME THAT, WELL,

MAYBE HE WOULDNIT, WE HOPE HE WOULDNIT, I IHINK YOUIRE NOT

THINKING ALONG THE RIGHT LINEs. Or.-EQURSE HE'S GOING TO. NOhl

HE FINDS HII,ISELF IN THE DEEPEST, DARKEST CORNER HE'S EVER BEEN

IN IN HIS LIFE Al.lD HE|D DO ANYTHING TO GET OUT OF IT'

HOW ABOUT RELEASE? ARE YOU GOING TO
r'{

GIVE .5AI'1 HOWARD LIFE WITH THE POSSIBILITY OF PAROLE? DO YOU

THINK'.I'iAYBE SAM HOWARD MIGHT.KILL AGAIN IF HE WERE PAROLED AND

't.

OUT.ON 
'THE 

STREETS? DO YO1J THINK HEID GO BACK TO USING ALL

THOSE GUNS THAT HE LOVES: THE THOMPSON MACHINE GUN, THE

PISTOLS? WOULD HE FtND ANOTHER DOROTHY WEISBAI'|D, A FRIEND FOR

A YEAR AND A HALF, AND STICK HER UP AND PUT HIMSELF IN THE

POSITIOI.I AGAIN OF WHATEVER HAPPENED TO DOCTOR MONAHAhI AGAIN?

MIGHT HE DO THAT?

AND, YES, I AM GOING TO TELL YOU, AS

MR. COOPER SUGGESTS THAT I WOULD, THAT AS THE INSTRUCTION TELLS

YOU, AND IT WOULDNTT BE THERE IF IT WERENTT A POSSIBTLITY OF

REALITY, LIFE WITHOUT THE POSSIBlLITY OF PAROLE DoES l'lOT

EXCLUDE EXECUTIVE CLEMENCY. THAT MEANS SOMEBODY COULD LET HIM

LOOSE, EVEN THOUGH THE.JURY HAS GIVEN HIM LIFE WITHOUT THE

POSSIBILITY OF PAROLE, EVEN THOUGH THATTS YOUR VERDICT AND YOU

sAy, sAM, YOUTVE GOT TO STAY lN JAIL THE REST OF YOUR LIFE,

SOMEOIiE CAN TURN TTIAT DEC1SION AROUND.
G-: .'

r]:. AND THERE ARE SO MANY CASES }JHERE NON-
--.- -a-:'J. ;:.

EXECU'ED MURDERERS }'HO HAVE BEEN SENT TO PRISON HAVE KILLED
t-r''"

AGAtil IN ANy ONE OF THESE SITUATIONS THAT I HAvE \,UST ENUMERATE

AND NOW ANOTHER QUESTION THAT HAS TO

BE ANSWERED IN DETERMINING HOW WE CAI'I KEEP SAM HOWARD FROM

MURDERING AGAIN IS: WOULD HE MURDER AGAIN? IS IT POSSIBLE

THAT I.IE WOULD? I IM I*IOT GOING TO GO INTO DETAILS' BUT I IM

GOII.IG TO REMIND YOU THE NAMES OF DOROTHY WEISBAND' ED SCHWARTZ'

KEITH KINSEY, TOM MAJOR, DELAN SCHIEFEISTEIN, STEVE HOUCHEN'
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THE GEI{TLEMAN DOWN IN SAN BERNARDINO FOR WHOM sAM WAS CONVICTED

oFROBBINGANDWITHAIJEAPON,ANDGEORGEMONAHAN'

CAN YOU sEE THE PATTERN OVER THE

YEARS THAT DEVELOPED WITH sAM? AND WE sEE IT WITH SO MANY

CRIMIhIALS ON DIFFERENT LEVELS. ITtS A ROBBERY WITH A GUN' HE

L]KES CARs, HE LIKES TO GET PEOPLE IN PRMTE PLACES. HErS

DONE THIS ON WHAT DO WE TIAVE HERE? SIX -' AT LEAST SIX SITU-

ATI.N'5'-THAT wE KN'nu oF' 
HAs HE BEEN .AUGHT EvERy'T'ME HE's

DONE CRIMES LIKE THIS? I DONIT KNOW THE ANSWER TO THAT' YOU

DONIT KNOW THE ANSWER TO THAT. THEREIS OhILY ONE MAN IN THIS

COURT THAT KNOI.JS THE ANSWER TO THAT. BUT GIVEN HIS HISTORY'

GIVEN HIS PROPENSITY FOR VIOLENCE, HIS LOVE FOR GUNS -- IN FACT'

HEToLDUsTHEANSWERToITNov,lTHATtTHINKABoUTIT.HE

STOOD ON THE STAND AND HE SAID SOMETHING ABOUT LIKING TO GO

INTO SHOPPING CENTERS BECAUSE, AND I CAN'T REMEMBER THE EXACT

TERMINOLOGYTBUTSOMETHINGABOUTHELIKEDTODOHUSTLESOR

SOMETHING LIKE THAT. HE'S DONE THAT SEARS SORT OF THING WHICH

TURNEDINTOAROBBERYONANUMBEROFOCCASIONS'PROBABLYSO

NUMiROUS THAT IF HE WERE ASKED TO StT DOwN AND I'JRITE THEM OUT

HE COULDNTT DO IT.

EVERY TIME THAT HEIS HAD A VICTIM IN

HIS CLUTCHES HEIS THREATENED THEM. HEIS EITHER SAID' 'DO WHAT

t; :t'
I TEL.L YOU TO DO OR IIM GOING TO KILL YOU' OR HEIS POINTED A

.. i:

GUN Atr-'THEM. THE MOST HARMLESS OF ALL tS PERHAPS STEVE HOUCHEN'

.. - ::j
cru.r iOtj IMA9INE BEING IN YOUR AUTOMoBILE' .JUsT HAVING BEEN HIT

FROM BEHIND, AI.ID YOU GET UP ALONGSIDE THE OTHER CAR.AND YOU

'ANT 
To TALK To THE oTHER PERsoN ABOUT IT, AND EVEN IF YOUIRE

ANGRY, HAVING A GUN cot4E oUT AND sTUcK IN YoUR FACE? cAN YoU

IMAGINE THE FEAR THAT YoU |.JoULD HAVE? DoEs HE AND THE oTHERS

HAVETHESAMEBADDREAMS,THESAMEFEELINGSTHATDoRoTHY

WEISBAND HAS? I DONIT KNOW. I WOULD ASSUME SO'
-1 t '\3
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AND I THINK THERE IS THI5 THIRD MOST

IMPORTANT REASON FOR IMPOSING THE DEATH PENALTY IN THIS CASE,

AND THAT IS TO MAKE SURE THAT SAM HOWARD NEVER HAs THE OPPOR-

TUNITY, NO POSSIBILITY OF BEING ABLE TO GO OUT AND KILL SOMEONE

ELSE.

YOU KNOW, THERE ARE TWO KINDS OF

vlcr{f{s IN THIS CASE, AND lr ALbTAYS STRIKES ME AS A PITY, AND

I GUESS IIM AS GUILTY OF IT AS ANYONE ELSE, BUT THE WHOLE

EMPHASTS IN THI5 COURTROOM HAS BEEN ON SAM HOWARD.

LETIS TALK ABOUT THE COURTROOM FOR

.JUST A MOMENT. TAKE A LOOK ABOUT. ITIS WELL LIT, ITtS QUIET.

GOOD SOUND IS PROVIDED FOR WITH MICROPHONES OR ACOUSTICS. WE

HAVE A.JUDGE TO KEEP ORDER. THE ATTORNEYS STAND UP AND SIT

DOWN WHEN THEYIRE SUPPOSED TO. EVEN THE DEFENDANT DOES ALL

THESE THINGS THAT HEIS SUPPOSED TO. YOU SIT AND DO YOUR DUTIES

AS YOUIRE SUPPOSED TO. WE HAVE A I,IICE, STERILE LABORATORY HERE

IN WHICH WE DETERMINE THE GUILT OR INNOCENCE AND ULTIMATELY

THIS CASE THE PENALTY OF THE DEFENDANT SAM HOWARD. AND WHY

THAT? WELL I SUBMIT TO YOU ITIS PART AND PARTIAL OF THIS

BUSINESS OF, AND I DONIT IIEAN TO GIVE IT SHORTSHIP, OF GIVING

THE DEFENDANT HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS. AND I BELIEVE IN THAT

AS STRONGLY A5 I STAND HERE TODAY AS I ASK YOU TO IMPOSE THE

DEAT# TfiENALTY. I BELIEVE,'IN BOTH OF THOSE THINGS EQUALLY

+
STRONG. AND I WOULD hIEVER WANT TO SEE ANY LESSENING OF THE

CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS

WE MAKE SURE THAT SAM HOWARD GETS HIS

DAY OR DAYS IN THIS COURTROOM. WE MAKE SURE THAT HE HAS

ATTORNEYS TO REPRESENT HIM. WE MAKE SURE THAT HE CAN EITHER

TESTIFY OR NOT TESTIFY, WHATEVER HE CHoOSES TO D0. hlE MAKE SUR

THAT HE CAN CROSS EXAMINE ALL OF THE WITNESSES. THESE AND MANY

OTHER RIGHTS ARE AFFORDED TO SAI'1 HOWARD. AND HE HAS GREAT

REPRESENTATION. AND MR. HARMON AND I REPRESENT TI'IE STATE AND

IN

IS

-15s8- g 220g06 
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ITS CITIZENS.

AND WHO REPRESENTS THE VICTII'I? WHO?

WELL, PROBABLY YOUTRE THINKING AS I AM RIGHT NOW THAT THE ONLY

PEOPLE TO DO THAT ARE MR. HARMON AND MYSELF. A}.ID IN THIS CASE,

IN A LITTLE DIFFERENT SORT OF A FASHION, MR. COOPER ALLUDED.TO

THE FACT THAT IT v,tAS TOO BAD ABOUT THE VICTIMS, AND'IT IS, AND

!'*
ttlE HAvE To REMEMBER THEM cAREFULL.y. hlE HAVE To REMEMBER GEoRGE

MONAHAN AND HIS FAMILY. AND THIS IS AS IMPORTANT, THEY ARENIT

THEY ARENTT THE ONLY -- HETHE OI{LY VTCTTMS IN THIS SSE.

ISNTT THE ONLY VICTIM THAT t CONCERN MYSELF WITH IN THIS CASE.

AND HE ISNIT THE ONLY VICTIM WHO YOU SHOULD CONCERN YOURSELF

WITH. THE OTHER VICTIM OR VICTIMS ARE THOSE UNNAMED AND

UNCERTAIN VICTIMS OF EITHER FUTURE MURDERS, WHO WILL REACT TO

YOUR DECJSION OR TO SAM HOWARD, SHoULD HE EVER GET OUT 0F

PRISON, WERE YOU TO PUT HIM THERE. THOSE ARE THE PEOPLE THAT

I WANT TO TURN MY ATTENTION TO NOW. I IM GOING TO SAY A FEW

THINGS ABOUT THEM, BUT YOU AND NO ONE ELSE ARE THEIR REPRESEN-

TATIVE.

YOU KNOW, YOU HAVE TO TAKE SIDES.

LIFE IS TOUGH. THERE COMES A TIME WHEN YOU'VE GOT TO MAKE A

DECISION THAT I IVE GOT TO GO THIS WAY OR I 'VE GOT TO GO THAT

lllAY. IN THIS CASE, AS I SEE IT, YOUTRE EITHER FOR THE DEFENDANT

OR YO.UIRE FOR THESE UNNAMED, UNCERTAIN VICTIMS THAT ItM

REFERRII{G TO.

- THE DEFEI{SE WILL TELL YOUT.AND THEY

DIDNIT IN THIS CASE, EUT THE TYPICAL THOUGHT PROCESS THAT THEY

WANT YOU TO UNDERSTAND I5 TO FORGET ABOUT DOCTOR MoNAHAI'!, HE I S

DEAD. WE CANTT BRING HIM BACK TO LIFE. IN FACT, MR. COOPER

DID TALK ABOUT THAT. HE SAID, WHAT CAN BE ACCOMPLISHED BY

ExlcurINiG sAM HowARD? AND THEN HE ALLUDED To ouR vENGEANcE

FACTOR. AND AS YOU CAN SEE, VENGEANCE lS NoT IMPoRTANT T0 ME

IN THIS SITUATION. ITIS THE DETERREi{TS. ITIS THCSE PEOPLE OUT

B 22a8aq62s
-r 599- App. 428
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THERE IhI THE STREET SOMEPLACE IN THIS CITY OR SOME OTHER THAT

I tM CONCERNED ABOUT, AND I WANT YOU TO BE CONCERNED ABOUT'

AND HAD MR. COOPER THOUGHT ABOUT THIS,

HE WOULD PROBABLY SAY -. AND I tLL HELP HIM HERE BECAUSE I KNOW

HEtS PROBABLY THINKING, FOR GOODNESS SAKE, THINK ABOUT h'HAT MR'

SEATON IS SAYING. THIS IS SPECULATIVE, AND tT IS. 'I'CANTT

GO OUT.flND POINT TO THE INDIVIDUAL THATTS GOING TO BE KILLED'

BUT I THINK ITIS GOING TO HAPFEN. I THINK THERETS GOING TO BE

.: j.L

e.r4uigie ToMORRow oR THE NE1T DAY OR A YEAR FROM Ngy1, AND IT MAY

HAVE BEEN CAUSED BY SOMEONE WHO WAS AWARE OF THIS CASE AND IT

MAYBESAMHowARDMAYBEYEARSDowNTHERoAD.ITISTHATPoTEN-

TIAL VICTIM THAT ItM CONCERNED ABOUT.

NOW, VICTIM OR DEFENDANT, HOl',l Do You

DECIDE? AND YOU ARE GOING TO SUPPOSE THAT THE ANSWER IS EASY

WITHOUT GIVING IT TOO MUCH THOUGHT. AND THE ANSWER IS EASY'

BUT Now I WANT YoU To GIVE IT soME CAREFUL, LoGICAL THoUGHT

ABoUTTHEDEcIsIoNTHATFAcEsYoUHEREToDAY.IWANTYoUTo

LOOK AT THE ALTERNATIVE CHOICES YOUTVE GOT AND THE PROBABLE

RESULTS THAT WOULD EMINATE FROM THOSE CHOICES'

NOW, }JE START OUT WITH THIS HYPoTHESIS:

CAPITAL PUNISHMENT EITHER WORKS AS A DETERRENT OR IT DOESNIT'

NOW, WETLL JUST.LEAVE THAT UP IN THE AIR RIGHT NOW. WE DONiT

KNoW:IF IT woRKs. I SUGGEST To YoU THAT lT DoEs AND.IIvE

SUGGE.STED THAT EARLIER. BUT LETIS SAY FOR THE PURPOSE OF YOUR

OBT,ECTIVE DETERMINATION OF THIS DECISION THAT YOU DONTT KNOW IF

rr uiOnkS oR NoT. .lT MAY AND IT MAY NOT. Now, GIVEN TtloSE

GUIDELINES, WHAT CAN YOU DO IN THIS CASE?

WELL, LETIS SAY THAT THE DEATH PENALTY

Is NoT A.DETERRENT AND YoU IMPosE tT. WELL, YoU HAVENIT sAvED

ANYFUTUREvIcTIMsBECAUSETHEPENALTYWASN|TGoINGToBEA

DETERRENT ANYWAY, AND YOU TOOK THE LIFE OF A CONVICTED MURDERER

THIS MAY BE ONE OF A FEW AREAS WHERE YOUR ONLY JUSTIEICATION

16oo- g 2g0g0f 626
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IN THAT SITUATION WOULD BE THAT OF PUNISHMENT. THAT IS IF

THERE IS NO DETERRENTS.

NOW, LETTS SAY THAT THERE IS

DETERRENTS AhID YOU IMPOSE THE DEATH PENALTY. WHAT HAVE YOU

DONE? WHAT IS THE RESULT OF YOUR ACT? VJELL, YOUTVE TAKEN THE

LIFE OF TtlE DEFENDANT, .A CONVICTED I',|URDERER' AND YOUTVE SAVED

THE LIF€ OF SOME POTENTIAL VICTIM.

-' REMEITBER, IT EITHER woRKs oR IT

DoESNITwoRK.ANDINTHIS.cAsEITwoRKs.soWHENYoUTAKE

SAM HOU'ARDIS LIFE, SOME OTHER MURDERER OR SAM TIOWARD WILL NEVER

KILL BECAUSE OF I{HAT YOU'VE DONE.

ON THE OTHER SIDE OF THE COIN,

THERE'S NO DETERRENT AND YOU DONTT IMPOSE THE DEATH PENALTY.

WHAT HAPPENS? NO LIVES ARE LOST AT ALL, AND THATTS GOOD. BUT

NOIii WHATIS THE OTHER SIDE OF THAT COIN? THERE IS A DETERRENT

AFFECT GOING AND YOU AGAIN DOI.IIT IMPOSE THE DEATH PENALTY AND

WHAT HAPPENS? YOU SAVED THE LIFE OF A MURDERER, SAM HOWARD'

YOU DIDNIT IMPOSE THE DEATH PENALTY. BECAUSE YOU DIDNIT AND

BECAUSE THERE I S A DETERREhIT AFFECT ON THE DEATH PENALTY' SOME-

ONE 'S LIFE, SOME INNOCENT VICTII.'I, A KEITH KINSEY, A DOCTOR

IIIONAHAN, A DOROTHY WEISBAND, SOMEBODYTS LIFE IS GOING TO BE

LOST. SO YOUR CHOICE HAS LIMITS OF RISK IN IT. 'YOU CAN COME

BACK HERE AND sAY THAT THE. DEFENDANT SHOULD HAVE THE DEATH

PENAL.TY AND IF YOUTVE DONE THAT YOU MIGHT SAVE THE LIVES OF

SOMB FUTURE VICTIMS. THE WORST THING THAT YOU WILL HAVE DONE

rne vton'sr rHING THAT you wILL HAvE'DoNE Is ro HAvE TAKEN THE

LIFE OF SAM HOIJARD. I SUBMIT TO YOU, .JUXTAPOSE NEXT TO DOCTOR

MOT{AHANTS LIFE, HE HAS NO RIGHT WHATSOEVER TO LIVE ANY LONGER'

YOU COULD CHOOSE LIFE FOR THE

DEFEI.|DANT. YOU couLD GlvE HIM LIFE WITH OR WITHoUT THE PoSSI-

BILITY OF PAROLE. AND WHAT HAVE YOU DONE THEN? YOUIVE SAVED

THE DEFENDANTTS LIFE, AND IN THE ABSTRACT, THATIS A NICE THING'

-160r- 8 990809 2627App. 430
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THAT YOU SAVED SOMEBODYTS LIFE. BUT IF THE DEATH PENALTY IS

tN FACT A DETERRENT TO ANY DEGREE, YOU IIIGHT HAVE COST THE LIFE

oF soME FUTURE UNKNOWN VICTIM. IT WOULD SEEM T0 l'{E' GIVEN THAT

cHolcE, GIVEN THE CHOICE BETWEEN THE LIFE OF AN INNoCENT VICTI]'I

AND sAM }|o}.,ARD, THERE sHoULD BE 'No cHoIcE. IT SHoULD BE EASY.

f"'t'
.AND I -- I HESITATE 50 MUCH TO SAY

THAfl..#,CAUSE THIS ISNIT EASY. HIS IS THE HARDEST THING
-; -

OBVJdUI.LY THAT I4ARCUS COOPER DOES. ITIS THE HARDEST THING THAT
'1 --:

rqn.*rai$roN AND I DO. AND CERTAINLY I SYMPATHIzE wITH ALL oF

YOU THAT IT'S PROBABLY THE HARDEST THING THAT YOU ARE GOING TO

HAVE TO DO IN YOUR LIVES. THE POINT OF MATTER IS THOUGH THAT

THERE IS A DEGREE OF ACCOUNTABILITY THAT HAS TO TAKE PLACE'

WE ALL HAVE TO BE ACCOUNTABLE FOR OUR ACTIONS'

MR. HARMON SUGGESTED TO YOU THAT WEIVE

ALL HEARD THE ARGUMENTS ABOUT HOW BAD OUR SOCIETY IS GETTING

AND THE FACT THAT WE SHOULD DO SOMETHING ABOUT IT' YOU YOUR-

SELFATSoI..IETIMEMAYI.|AVEMADETHECoMMENT'HARSHTHoUGHIT

MAYSEEMToDAY,THATwEoUGHTTo.JUSTGETRIDoFTHoSEGUYS,

SPEAKING IN GENERAL ABOUT CHARLIE MANSON OR SOMEBODY LIKE THAT'

YOU ALSO CAME IN HERE AND YOU TOOK AN OATH AND THAT OATH WAS

THATYoUh,oULDFoLLoWTHELAw.PRIoRToTHATYoUWEREASKED

ABOUT BEING ABLE TO IMPOSE TI'IE DEATH PENALTY AND ALL OF YOU

-t

SAID THAT YOU COULD TMPOSE THE DEATH PEhIALTY' THAT DOESNIT

MEAN iTHAT YOU DONTT HAVE A HARD TIME WITH IT' THATIS UNDER-

STANDABLE. NOW IS THE TIME, AS FAR AS ACCOUNTABILITY IS CON-

.. ft. :

CERNED,ITISTHETI|'.|EToBACKUPTHosEt{'oRDSTHATYoUHAVE

SAIDoRYoUHAVEPRIVATELYTHoUGHTINYoURMINDS.

NOW, THATTS A TOUGH BURDEN THAT I PUT

oNYoU,ANDIDoNITMEANToDoTHAT.ITISTHEREANDITIS

REALANDItMNoTGoINGToBACKAWAYFRoMIT.BUTItMGoINGTo

TELL YOU HOW ITtS MADE ALOT EASIER, THIS ACCOUNTABILITY OF

YoUR's THAT YoU HAVE GoT To BE RESPoNSIBLE FoR NoW, AND THAT Is

1602_ g 22Ag i i? 628App. 431
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WHAT I CALL THE SHARING OF RESPONSIBILITY. YOU ALONE ARE NOT

RESPONSIBLE FOR THIS DECISION THAT YOU ARE MAKING TODAY' THINK

ABOUT TI-IE WHOLE CASE. THINK ABOUT THE POLICE OFFICERS WHO

ARRESTED sAM HOWARD. THEY STARTED THIS LEGAL PROCESS' THEY

AREToSoMEDEGREEREsPoNsIBLEFoRI.,HATtSGoINGoN.

MR. HARMON AND I -- WELL, BEFoRE

EvENgDTHER PROSECUTORs IN OUR OFFICE HAD To OKAY THIS CASE

PROSECUTION. MR. HARMON AND I THEN COME IN AND WE HAVE TO

I{HAT'"I+'E HAVE DONE OVER THE PAST SEVERAL WEEKS' WE TIAVE TO

TELL YoU THAT wE BELIEVE lN WHAT },,E!RE TELLING YoU, THAT sAM

HowARDsHoULDtsEPUTToDEATH,ANDwEDoBELIEVETHAT.wE

HAVEARESPoNSIBILITY.MR.cooPERANDMR.FRAI.|ZENHAVEA

RESPONSIBILITY IN THAT THEY ARE REPRESENTING THE DEFENDANT AND

DoINGTHEBEST,ANDAGooDAJoBITIS,THATTHEYcAtIFoRHIM.

THE NEVADA LEGISLATURE HAS A PART IN THIS BECAUSE THEY PASSED

THE LAW THAT ALLOWS FOR THE DEATH PENALTY. THE PEOPLE WHO

VoTEDTHELEGISLATUREINHAVEARoLEINTHIS.THEYTVEMAN-

DATED THAT SORT OF THING HAPPEN. THE I'IEVADA SUPREME COURT'

THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT, THEY HAVE ALL PUT THEIR STAMP

OF APPROVAL ON WHAT WETRE HERE DOING TODAY'

AND REMEMBER, THERE ARE 12 OF YOU.

hlHILE SOMETIMES THAT MAKES IT DIFFICULT FOR PROSECUTORST THATTS

t, '.
PROB?IBLY THE BEAUTY OF THE SYSTEM. YOU HAVE TO BE UNANIMOUS'

roU {aVe TO ALL AcREE. YOU ALL HAVE TO SAY ToGETHER UNANIMOUSL

THATTIhE DEATH PENALTY IS THE APPROPRIATE THItlG. SO D0 You

SEE }IOW THE RESPONSIBILITY IS SHARED BY SO MANY PEOPLE? ITtS

GOT TO BE A GROUP EFFORT OF SORTS.

AND REALLY EVERYTHING THAT I IVE SAID

DOESN'T MEAN A WHOLE HECK OF ALOT. THEREIS ONLY ONE PERSON'

oNEHUMANBEING,wHoIsREALLYRESPoNSIBLEFoRWHATEVER

HAPPENS TO sAM HOWARD, AND THATTS SAM HOWARD HIMSELF' NO ONE

FoRcEDHIMToDoTHETHINGSTHATHEDID.NooNECAUSEDHIMTot; r 1Q
1G03- I P}AB 1t Ltr L
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BE SITTING IN THAT CHAIR RIGHT THERE (tttOtCATING) THROUGHOUT

THIS TRIAL, HAVING ALL THESE TERRIBLE THINGS SAID ABOUT HII"1;

NO ONE BUT sAM HOWARD. HEIS RESPONSTBLE. HE IS THE MASTER OF

HIS OWN FUTURE.

WHEN YOU WEIGH THE AGGRAVATING CIRCUM-

STAiICES AGAINST THE I'IlTiEETTHE CIRCUMSTANCES AND FIND THAT THE

AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES OUTWEI6H THE MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES

AND T+{US YOU ARE CAPABLE AND ALLOWED TO CONSIDER THE DEATH

PENALIY, Tl'lATrS NOT YOUR FAULT. THATTS NoT DOCTOR MONAHANTS

FAULT. ITIS NOT MR. HARMONIS FAULT OR MINE. ITIS SAM HOWARDTS

FAULT AND ONLY SAI'I HOWARDIS. HE IS THE RESPOT{SIBLE PERSON.

DOI.IIT EVER FOR A MOMENT WALK II\iTO THAT DELIBERATION ROOM WITH

A HEAVY BURDEN ON YOUR SHOULDERS THAT YOU ARE SOMEHOW CAUSING

THE DEATH OF A HUMAN BEING. YOU ARE SIMPLY ANOTHER STEP IhI

THE PROCESS.

NOW, FOR THE FIRST TIME WE ARE ABLE TO

sAY SOIIETI.I I NG ABOUT REASONABLE DOUBT . THAT DOE SI'{ I T BENEF I T

THE DEFENDANT. REASONABLE DOUBT IS A GREAT CONCEPT AND I

LIKE IT. IT MAKES U5 PROVE A CASE TO THAT EXTENT, AND WE|VE

DONE THAT. YOU HAVE FOUND THAT IN A MATTER OF HOURS, IN THE

GUILT PHASE, THAT WE HAD PROVEN OUR CASE BEYOND A REASONABLE

DOUBT, THAT sAM |IOWARD ACTUALLY HAD SHol4tN US, HE GAVE U5 ALL

.THE..EVIDENCE WE HAD. WE DIDNIT GO OUT AND GET IT SOMEPLACE.

THAT BURDEN WAS MET.

AS MR. HARMON EXPLAINED TO YOU IN THE

OPENING ARGUMENT, OUR BURDEN tN THIS HEARING HAS EASILY BEEN

MET, THAT THE AGGRAVATII.tG cIRCUMSTANCES HAs BEEN sHowfu euo rner

THEY OUTWEIGH THE MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE. THAT REASONABLE

DOUBT HAS BEEN USED THROUGHOUT THIS ENTIRE TRIAL TO BENEFIT

sAM HOWARD. AND NOW I ASK YOU, LET THAT REASONABLE DOUBT

BENEFIT SOCIETY. LET IT BENEFIT THE CITIZENS OF LAS VEGAS AND

YOURSELVES AND YOUR FAMILY AND YOUR LOVED ONES, AS IT^D.Iq AOT
16 JV

-r604- 8 220819App. 433
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BENEFIT DOCTOR MONAHAN.

GO INTO YOUR DELIBERATION R'OOM AND

TALK ABOUT THIS CASE. AND THEN I ASK YOU, ON BEHALF OF THOSE

SAME CITIZENS OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, T0 COME BACK INTO THIS

COURTROOM AND TELL US BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT YOU WONTT

STAND FOR THE POSSIBILITY OF ANY FUTURE VICTIM AT THE HANDS OF

SAM;HOWARD. THANK YOU.

THECOURT:COUNSELTANYTHINGFURTHERTOCOME

BEFORE'THE dURY BEFORE THIS MATTER I5 SUBMITTED TO THEM?

MR, HARMON: NOT BY THE STATE, YOUR HoNOR'

MR. FRANZEN: N0, YOUR HONoR.

THE COURT: LADIES AND GENTLEMEI'I OF THE JURY,

THE MATTER NOW STANDS SUBMITTED TO YOU. AT THIS TIME YOU WILL

GO WITH THE FOREMAN TO COMMENCE YOUR DELIBERATIONS. YOU ARE

EXCUSED At'lD MAY LEAVE THE COURTROOM AT THIS TIME'

(WHEREUPON, AT THE HOUR OF

11:55 A.M., THE JURY LEFT THE

COURTROOM AND THE FOLLOWING

PROCEEDINGS WERE HAD OUTSIDE

OF THE IR PRESENCE: )

THE COURT: couNsEL, IS THERE ANYTHING T0 COME

BEFORETHECOURTOUTSIDETHEPRESENCEOFTHETJURY?

MR. HARMON: NO, YOUR HONoR.

MR. FRANZEN: NO, SIR.

THE COURT: ALL RIGHT. WE WILL STAND IN RECESS.

-1605- g 220g13 
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LAS VEGAS, I{EVADA,

^fl1D\/2

VERD I CT ?

THE SPECIAL

TJEDNESDAY, MAY 4, 1983, AT 4:07 P.M.

., r, ..

THE

(WHEREUPoN, FRoM 11:56 A.M.

UNTIL 4:07 P.t4., A RECESS WAs

HAD IN THE PROCEEDINGS, AT THE

CONCLUSION OF WHICH TI-IE FOLLO}.'-

'ine was HAD:)

THE COURT: COUNSEL STIPULATE TO THE PRESENCE OF

fiARMON: THE STATE DOES, YOUR HONOR-

FRANZEN: YES, YOUR HoNOR.

couRT: MR. FOREMAN, HAVE YoU REACHED YoUR

MR.

MR.

THE

THE FOREMAN: YES,

THE COURT: HAND IT

WE HAVE.

TO TFIE BAI LI FF,

ALL RIGHT. MR. FoREMAN, WOULD

VERDICT AND VERDICT, PLEASE.

THE FOREMAN: YES.

WE, THE JURY IN THE ABOVE-

ENTITLED CASE, HAVING FOUND THE

DEFENDANT, SAMUEL HOWARD, GUILTY

OF MURDER IN THE FIRST DEGREE,

DESIGNATE THAT THE AGGRAVATING

CIRCUMSTANCE OR . 
CIRCUMSTANCES

WHICH ARE CHECKED.BELOW HAVE BEEN

ESTABLISHED BEYOND A REASONABLE

DOUBT.

PLEASE.

YOU READ

THE MURDER T"IAS COMMITTED

BY A DEFENDANT WHO TJAS PREVIOUSLY

CONVICTED OF A FELONY INVOLVING

THE USE OR THREAT OF VIOLENCE TO

THE PERSON OF ANOTHER.

2632
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THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED WHILE

THE DEFENDANT WAS ENGAGED IN THE

COMI.IISSION OF ANY ROBBERY.

WE, TIIE JURY, STATE THERE ARE NO

MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE OR CIRCUMSTANCES

SUFFICIENT TO OUTWEIGH THE AGGRAVATING

CIRCUMSTANCE OR CIRCUMSTANCES DESIGNATED.

T,iE, THE .JURY, IN THE ABOVE-ENTITLED

CASE, HAVING FOUND THE DEFENDANT, SAMUEL

HOWARD, GUILTY OF MURDER IN THE FIRST

DEGREE, IMPOSE A SENTENCE OF DEATH.

THE COURT: NOW HAND THE VERDICT TO THE BAILIFF'

MR. BAILIFF, WOULD YOU HAND THE VERDICT

TO THE CLERK.

Mlss CLERK, WOULD YOU READ BOTH OF THE

VERDICTS AND THEN INQUIRE OF EACH OF THE.JURORS IF THAT IS

THEIR VERDICT.

THE CLERK: YES, SIR.

cAsE NUMBER C5r867, DEPARTMENT

NUMBER, FIVE.

IN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT

COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, IN AND

FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK.

THE STATE OF NEVADA, PLAINTIFF,

vERSUS SAMUEL HOWARD, DEFENDANT.

2?

28
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SPECIAL VERDICT.

WE, THE JURY, IN THE ABOVE-

ENTITLED CAsE, HAVING FOUND THE

DEFENDANT, SAMUEL HOWARD, GUILTY OF

}4URDER IN THE FIRST DEGREE, DESIGNATE

THAT THE AGGRAVATTNG CIRCUMSTANCE OR

CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH ARE CHECKED BELOW,

HAVE BEEN ESTABLISHED BEYOND A REASON'

ABLE DOUBT.

THE MURDER WAS COMI'IITTED BY

A DEFENDANT WHO WAS PREVIOUSLY

CONVICTED OF A FELONY INVOLVING

THE USE OR THREAT OF VIOLENCE TO

THE PERSON OF ANOTHER.

THE MURDER WAS COMM]TTED

WHILE THE DEFENDANT WAS ENGAGED

IN THE COMMISSION OF ANY ROBBERY.

WE, THE JURY, STATE THERE ARE NO

MITIGATITTS CIRCUMSTANCE OR CIRCUMSTANCES

SUFFICIENT TO bUTWEIGH THE AGGRAVATING

CIRCUMSTANCE OR CIRCUI'ISTANCES DESIGNATED'

DATED AT LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, THIS

4TH DAY OF MAY, 198t. LEO GATES, FOREI'IAN '

LADIES AND GENTLEMEN OF THE JURY, IS THAT
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(wnenrueon, AFF IRMATIVE

RESPONSE FROM .JURY. )

THE COURT: YOU MAY PROCEED ON.

THE CLERK: YES, 5IR.

cAsE NUMBER C53'857, DEPARTMENT 
.

NUMBER FIVE.

IN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT

couRT oF THE STATE OF NEVADA, IN AND

FOR THE COUNTY OF CLARK.

THE STATE OF NEVADA, PLAINTIFF,

VERSUS SAMUEL HOWARD, DEFENDANT.

VERD I CT.

WE, THE JURY, IN THE ABOVE-

ENTITLED CASE, HAVING FOUND THE

DEFENDANT, SAMUEL HOWARD, GUILTY OF

MURDER IhI THE FIRST DEGREE, IMPO5E

A SENTENCE OF DEATH.

DATED AT LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, THIS

4TH DAY OF MAY, 1983. LEO GATES, FOREMAN.

YOUR VERDICT

LAD I ES

AS READ SO SAY

AND GENTLEMEN OF THE JURY, IS THAT

(WHEREUPON, AFFIRMATIVE

RESPONSE FROM \,URY.)

DO EITHER OF COUNSEL DESIRE THATTHE COURT:

POLLED ?

-160s- g p?081? 2 6s5
THE JURY BE
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MR.

MR.

THE

THE

VERDICT AS READ?

j.

YOUR VERDICT
tr'::

i: t-'

?":

HARMON: THE STATE DOES NOT, YOUR HONOR-

FRANZEN: YES, YOUR HONOR.

COURT: POLL THE JURY.

CLERK: TERRI LEE SOUKUP, ls rHAT YOUR

THAT YOUR VERDICT AS READ?

JUROR NUMBER FOUR, MR. CARoLAN: YES'

THECLERK:ANGELINAPEREZ,ISTHATYOURVERDICT

AS READ?

!,uRoR NUMBER F IVE, MS . PEREZ: YES '

THECLERK:LARRYSTEVENWILLIAMST'JR'rlsTHAT

YOUR VERDICT AS READ?

JUROR NUMBER 5IX, MR. WILLIAMS: YES'

THE CLERK: CHARLENE MOCK JENSEN, IS THAT YOUR

VERDICT AS READ?

JUROR NUMBER SEVEN, t'ls. dENSEN: YES '

THE CLERK: MICHELLE A. PAPPAS, IS THAT YOUR

VERT'ICT AS READ?

JUROR NUMBER ONE, M5. SdUrUp: YES'

THECLERK:5ALLYEOUNEEOTSBRINKMANN,ISTHAT

AS READ?

JUROR NUMBER THREE, MS. BRTNKMANN: YES'

THE CLERK: THOMAS FRANCIS CAROLAN' III' IS

\,UROR NUMBER EIGHT, M5- PAPPAS: YES'

THE CLERK: BONNIE IJEAN SNOUFFER, lS THAT YOUR

VERDICT AS READ?

.JUROR NUMBER NINE, MS. SNOUFFER: YES.

THE CLERK: MARILYN CAPASSO, IS THAT YOUR

VERDICT AS READ?

JUROR NUMBER TEN, MS. CAPASSO: YES'

THE CLERK: ESTEBAN CRUZ NOVERo, ls THAT YOUR

VERDICT AS READ?

-1610- 263 6App. 439
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o
.JUR,OR NUMBER ELEVEN, MR. NOVERO: YES.

THE CLERK: LEO ZACHARY GATES, IS THAT YoUR

VERDICT AS READ?

,JUROR NUMBER TWELVE, MR. GATES: YES.

THE CLERK: TJAMES KENNETH FRANCIS BRADLEY, IS

'no.' 
YouR VERD':J-:: 

::il- rwo, MR. BRADLE': yEs'

THEcoURT:Is.THEREANYTHINGFURTHERTocoME
,

BEFORE THE COURT BEFORE THE COURT EXCUSES THEM AT THIS TIME?

MR. HARMON: NOT BY THE STATE, YOUR HONOR'

MR. FRANZEN: N0, YOUR liONOR.

THE COURT: LADIES AND GENTLEMEN OF THE JURY,

THE COURT WISHES TO THANK YOU FOR PERFORMII'IG YOUR CIVIC AND

YOUR PUBLIC DUTY AS YOU SAW FIT.

THIS HAS BEEN A RATHER LONG CASE, A VERY

DIFFICULT CASE, AhtD A RATHER INVOLVED CASE. I WISH TO COMMEND

YOU FOR YOUR PATIENCE AND YOUR DILIGENCE IN APPLYING YOURSELF

TO YOUR PUBLIC AND CIVIC DUTY.

WHEN YOU LEAVE THE COURTROOM, YOU WILL

UNDOUBTEDLY BE ASKED BY THE ATTORNEYS,

ABOUT THE CASE. UNDER THE CANNONS OF

so DESIRE, TALK TO THEM. YOU ARE NOT,

TALK TO THEM. IF YOU FEEL THAT FOR ANY

UNDULY."HARASSING YOU, PLEASE FEEL FREE

h,E cAry'STOP THAT IF THAT SHOULD OCCUR.

OCCUR, 'BUT SOMETTMES \,URORS DO CALL'

so oNcE AGAIN, THE CoURT WISHES T0

THANK YOU FOR PERFORMING YOUR CIVIC AND PUBLIC DUTY. YOU ARE

NOW EXCUSED AND MAY LEAVE THE COURTROOM.

(wneneueoN, THE !,uRY v',As

EXCUSED AND LEFT THE COURTROOM

AND THE FOLLOWING PROCEEDINGS

OR THEIR REPRESENTATIVES,

ETHICS, YOU MAY, IF YOU

HOWEVER, REQUIRED TO

REASON THAT THEY ARE

TO CONTACT THE COURT AND

I DONTT EXPECT IT TO

B zzog fs 2( j7-1611- App. 440
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YOUR..HONOR?

THE COURT:

RECESS IN THE MATTER.

WERE HAD OUTSIDE OF THEIR

PRESENCE: )

THE COURT: COUNSEL, APPROACH THE BENCH FOR JUST

(WHEREUPON, SIDE BAR CONFERENCE

WAs HELD AT THE BENCH; NOT

.;R,EPORTED. AT THE CONCLUSION OF

. WHICH THE FOLLOWING WAS HAD: )

(WHEREUPON, SIDE BAR CONFERENCE

WAS HELD AT THE BENCH; NOT

REPORTED. AT THE CONCLUSION OF

WHICH THE FOLLOWING WAS HAD: )

WE WILL TAKE ABOUT A TEN MINUTE

u:"' ir THE COURT: I WILL NEED A SENTENCING DATE ON THE

TWO ROBBERIES AND ALSO SET THE DATE OF DEATH.

THE CLERK: DO YOU WANT THE SENTEI.ICING DATE FOR

FOUR hIEEKS FROI4 TODAY?

THE COURT: WHAT DATE IS THAT?

THE CLERK: IT WOULD tsE THE FIRST DAY CF JUNE.

THE COURT: WELL, sET THE SENTENCTNG AT 1:I+5 ON

JUNE FIRST.

FURTHER THE ORDER WILL BE THAT THE DEPART-

MENT OF PAROLE AND PROBATION WILL PREPARE A PRE-SENTENCE REPORT

ON THE TWO ROBBERY CASES It{ WHICH THE DEFENDANT WAS FOUND

GUILTY. AND WE WILL ALSO TAKE CARE OF THE OTHER MATTERS AT

THAT TIME.

IS THERE ANYTHING FURTHER TO COME

BEFORE'THE COURT AT THIS T'TME?

MR. HARMON: COULD WE APPROACH THE BENCH AGAIN,

-1612- g
2(38
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(WHEREUPON, FROM 4:18 P.M.

UNTIL 4:34 P.M., A RECESS hlAS

HAD IN THE PROCEEDINGS, AT THE

CONCLUSION OF WHICH THE FOLLOW-

I NG v'tAS t'tRo : )

THE COURT: couNsEL, THE STATUTE WITH REGARDS TO

i.:i '
THE I$IPOSITION OF THE DEATH SENTENCE IS APPARENTLY COVERED BY

N.R.5: .176.t45, WHICH READS AS FOLLOWS:

:'..'

THE IMPOSITION

OF SEI.ITENCE OR

WHEN .A JUDGMENT OF DEATH HAS

BEEN PRONOUNCED, A CERTIFIED COPY OF

THE ENTRY THEREOF IN THE MINUTES OF

THE COURT SHALL BE FORTHI,'IITH EXECUTED

AND ATTESTED IN TRIPLICATE BY THE

CLERK UNDER THE SEAL OF THE COURT.

THERE SHALL BE ATTACHED TO THE TRIPLI-

CATE COPIES A WARRANT SIGNED BY THE

JUDGE, ATTESTED BY THE CLERK, UNDER THE

SEAL OF THE COURT WHICH SHALL RECITE

THE FACT OF CONVICTION AND JUDGMENT,

AND APPOINT A WEEK WITHIN SUCH JUDGMENT

IS TO BE EXECUTED, IJHICH MUST NOT BE

LESS THAN 60 DAYS NOR T'IORE THAN 90

DAYS FROM ''THE DATE OF THE 'JUDGMENT'

IT MUST DIRECT. THE SHERIFF TO DELIVER

THE PERSON TO SUCH AUTHORIZED PRISON

AS THE DIRECTOR OF THE DEPARTMENT OF

PRISONS DESIGNATES TO RECEIVE THE

pERSON FOR EXECUTION, SUCH PRISON TO

BE DESIGNATED IN THE h'ARRANT.

IIM GOING TO SET THIS MATTER DOWN. FOR

OF THE SENTENCE AND SETTING FORI'IALLY THE DATE

DATE OF EXECUTION FOR FRIDAY, JUNE -- PARDCN ME'

App. 442
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o
6in, AT

---

A. M.

YOUR HONOR.

RECEss IN THIS

REI4ANDED TO THE

UNTIL FURTHER

MATTER.

CUSTODY

ORDER OF

. (wneneuRott, AT THE HouR oF

4:36 P.M. THE PROCEEDINGS

CONCLUDED. )

(END OF PROCEEDINGS.)

ATTEST: FULL, TRUE AND ACCURATE TRANSCRIPT OF THE PROCEEDIN

S I-LVAGG I

MAY THE HOUR OF 10: 0 0 O'CLOtr

MR. HARMON: THANK YOU,

THE COURT: WEILL BE IN

THE DEFENDANT IS

OF THE SHERIFF TO BE HELD WITHOUT BAIL

THIS COURT.

NO. t22
I
I
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STEVEN B. WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 
JONATHAN E. VANBOSKERCK 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #006528 
200 Lewis Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 
(702) 671-2500 
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DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
SAMUEL HOWARD, 

   Petitioner, 

 -vs- 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 

             Respondent. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

  

CASE NO: 

 

DEPT NO: 

 

81C053867 / 

A-18-780434-W 

XVII 

REPLY TO RESPONSE TO MOTION TO DISMISS  

SIXTH PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS (POST-CONVICTION) 

DATE OF HEARING: February 7, 2020 
TIME OF HEARING: 10:00 a.m. 
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POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

This Court summarized the facts of this case in the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of 

Law and Order denying Petitioner’s fifth demand for habeas relief: 
 

On March 26, 1980, around noon, a Sears’ security officer, Keith 
Kinsey, observed Howard take a sander from a shelf, remove the packing and 
then claim a fraudulent refund slip from a cashier.  Kinsey approached Howard 
and asked him to accompany Kinsey to a security office.  Kinsey enlisted the 
aid of two other store employees.  Howard was cooperative, alert and indicated 
there must be some mistake.  In the security office, Kinsey observed Howard 
had a gun under his jacket and attempted to handcuff Howard for safety 
reasons.  A struggle broke out and Howard drew a .357 revolver and pointed it 
at the three men.  Howard had the men lay face down on the floor and took 
Kinsey’s security badge, ID and a portable radio (walkie-talkie).  Howard 
threatened to kill the three men if they followed him and he fled to his car in 
the parking lot.  A yellow gold jewelry ID bracelet was found at the scene and 
impounded.  It was later identified as Howard’s.  The Sears in question was 
located at the corner of Desert Inn Road and Maryland Parkway at the 
Boulevard Mall in Las Vegas, Nevada. 

Dawana Thomas, Howard’s girlfriend, was waiting for him in the car.  
Howard had told her to wait for him and she was unaware of his intentions to 
obtain money through a false refund transaction.  Fleeing from the robbery, 
Howard hopped into the car, a 1980 black Oldsmobile Cutlass with New York 
plates 614 ZHQ and sped away from the mall.    While escaping, Howard rear-
ended a white corvette driven by Stephen Houchin.  Houchin followed Howard 
when Howard left the scene of the accident.  Howard pointed the .357 revolver 
out the window of the Olds and at Houchin’s face, telling Houchin to mind his 
own business.   

Howard drove to the Castaways Motel on Las Vegas Boulevard South 
and parked the car for a few hours.  Thomas and Howard walked about and 
Howard made some phone calls.  Later that evening Howard left for a couple 
of hours.  When he returned he told Thomas that he had met up with a pimp, 
but the pimps’ girls were with him so he couldn’t rob him.  Howard indicated 
he had arranged to meet with the “pimp” the next morning and would rob him 
then.   

Howard and Thomas drove to the Western Six motel located on the 
Boulder Highway near the intersection of Desert Inn Road.  The couple had 
stayed at this motel before and Howard instructed Thomas to register under an 
assumed name, Barbara Jackson.  The motel registration card under that name 
was admitted into evidence and a documents’ examiner compared handwriting 
on the card with Thomas’ and indicated they matched.   

 Around 6:00 a.m. on March 27, 1980, Thomas and Howard left the 
motel and went to breakfast.  After breakfast, Thomas dropped Howard off in 
the alley behind Dr. George Monahan’s office.  This was at approximately 
7:00 a.m.  Thomas went back to the motel room.  Approximately an hour later, 
Howard returned to the motel.  Howard had a CB radio with him that had loose 
wires and a gold watch she had never seen before.  Howard told Thompson 
that he was tired of Las Vegas and to pack up their things as they were leaving 
for California.   

Dr. Monahan was a dentist with a practice located on Desert Inn Road 
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within walking distance of the Boulevard Mall.  He was attempting to sell a 
uniquely painted van and would park the van in the parking lot of the mall, at 
the Desert Inn and Maryland intersection and near the Sears store, then walk to 
his office.  The van had a sign in it listing Dr. Monahan’s home and business 
phone numbers and the business address.   

About 4:00 p.m. on March 26, 1980, the afternoon of the Sears robbery, 
Dr. Monahan’s wife, Mary Lou Monahan, received a phone call at her home 
inquiring about the van.  The caller was a male who identified himself as 
“Keith” and stated he was a security guard at Caesar’s Palace.  He indicated he 
was interested in purchasing the van and wanted to know if someone could 
meet him at Caesar’s during his break time at 8:00 p.m.  Mrs. Monahan 
indicated the caller would have to talk to her husband who was expected home 
shortly.  A second call was made around 4:30 p.m. and Dr. Monahan made 
arrangements to meet “Keith” at Caesar’s later that night.   

The Monahans and two relatives, Barbara Zemen and Mary Catherine 
Monahan, met “Keith” that evening at the appointed time and place.  Howard 
was identified as the man who called himself “Keith”.  Howard was carrying a 
walkie-talkie radio at the time.  Howard talked to Dr. Monahan for about ten 
minutes about purchasing the van and looked inside the van but did not touch 
the door handle while doing so.  Howard arranged to meet Dr. Monahan the 
next morning to take a test drive.  The Monahan’s left Caesar’s and parked the 
van at Dr. Monahan’s office before returning home in another vehicle.    

The next day, March 27, 1980, Dr. Monahan left his home at about 6:50 
a.m.  He took with him his wallet, a gold Seiko watch, daily receipts and the 
van title.  When Mrs. Monahan arrived at the office at about 8:00 a.m. Dr. 
Monahan was not there and a patient was waiting for him.  Dr. Monahan’s 
truck was in the parking lot to the rear of the office.  Dr. Monahan had not 
entered the office.  A black man wearing a radio or walkie-talkie on his belt 
came into the office at about 7:00 a.m. that morning looking for Dr. Monahan 
and stating that he had an appointment with the doctor.   

Mrs. Monahan called Caesar’s Palace and learned no “Keith” fitting the 
description she gave worked security.  After obtaining this information, Mrs. 
Monahan called the police to report her husband as a missing person.  This 
occurred at about 9:00 a.m.   

Charles Marino owned the Dew Drop Inn located near the corner of 
Desert Inn and Boulder Highway, just a few blocks from Dr. Monahan’s office 
and almost across the road from the Western Six motel.   Early on the morning 
of March 27, 1980, as he approached his business, he observed the Monahan 
van backing into the rear of the bar.  When he arrived at the Inn, he looked in 
the driver’s side and saw no one.  He asked patrons if they knew anything 
about the van and no one spoke up.  Marino remained at the business until the 
early afternoon.  The van was still there and had not been moved.  Later that 
day, at around 7:00 p.m. he received a call to return to the bar as a dead body 
had been found in the van.   

In response to television coverage, the police learned the Monahan van 
was behind the Dew Drop Inn around 6:45 p.m.  Dr. Monahan’s body was 
found in the van under an overturned table and some coverings.  He had been 
shot once in the head.  The bullet went through Dr. Monahan’s head and a 
projectile was recovered on the floor of the van.  The projectile was compared 
to Howard’s .357 revolver.  Because the bullet was so badly damaged; forensic 
analysis could not establish an exact match.  It was determined that the bullet 
could have come from certain makes and models of revolvers, Howard’s 
included.  The van’s CB radio and a tape deck had been removed.  Dr. 
Monahan’s watch and wallet were missing.  A fingerprint recovered from one 
of the van’s doors matched Howard’s.   

Homicide detectives were aware of the Sears robbery that had occurred 
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on March 26th.  The description of the Sears suspect matched that given by 
Mrs. Monahan of the man calling himself Keith at Caesar’s Palace.  Based 
upon that, the use of the name Keith, the walkie-talkie in possession of the 
suspect, the close proximity of the dental office to the Sears and the fact that 
the van had been parked in the Sears’ parking lot, the police issued a bulletin to 
state and out-of-state law enforcement agencies describing the suspect and the 
car used in the Sears’ robbery.  

On March 27, 1980, while the police were searching for Dr. Monahan, 
Howard and Thompson drove to California.  They left the motel between 8:00 
a.m. and 9:00 a.m. and on the way they stopped for gas.  At that time Howard 
had a brown or black wallet that had credit cards and photos in it.  Howard 
went to the gas station rest room and when he returned he no longer had the 
wallet.   

On March 28, 1980, Howard and Thompson went to a Sears in San 
Bernadino, California.  Once again Howard left Thompson in the car while he 
entered the Sears, picked up merchandize and tried to obtain a refund on it.  
This time he used the stolen Kinsey Sears security badge in the attempt.  The 
Sears personal were suspicious and left Howard at the register while they 
called Las Vegas.  When they returned Howard had left.  Howard had returned 
to the car and Thompson and Howard ducked down when the people from 
Sears stepped outside to view the parking lot.   

 On or about April 1, 1980, at around noon, Howard went to the 
Stonewood Shopping Center in Downey, California.  He entered a jewelry 
store and talked to a security agent, Manny Velasquez.  Another agent in the 
store, Robert Slater, who also worked as a police officer in Downey, saw 
Howard and noticed the grip of a gun under Howard’s jacket.  Slater talked to 
Velasquez and decided to call the Downey Police.  Howard left the jewelry 
store went to the west end of the mall near a Thrifty drugstore.  Downey Police 
officers observed Howard walking up and down the aisles of the drugstore, 
picking items up and replacing them on shelves.  Howard was stopped on 
suspicion of carrying a concealed weapon.  No gun was found on him nor was 
he carrying the walkie-talkie.  A search of the aisles he had been in revealed a 
.357 magnum revolver and the walkie-talkie and Sears’ security badge stolen 
from Kinsey.     

Howard was arrested for carrying a concealed weapon and then 
identified and booked for a San Bernadino robbery.  Howard was given his 
Miranda rights by Downey Police officers.  Disputed evidence was presented 
regarding his response and whether he invoked his right to silence.  Based on 
information in the all-points bulletin, the California authorities contacted the 
Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department about Howard.  On April 2, 1980, 
LVMPD Detective Alfred Leavitt went to California and, after reading 
Howard his Miranda rights, which Howard indicated he understood, 
interviewed Howard regarding the Sears robbery and Dr. Monahan’s murder.  
Howard did not invoke his right to remain silent or to counsel at this time.   

Howard told Detective Leavitt he recalled being at the Sears department 
store but no details about what happened and that he did not remember 
anything about March 27, 1980.  He stated he could have killed Dr. Monahan 
but he didn’t know. 

Ed Schwartz was working as a car salesman in New York on October 5, 
1979.  When he arrived at work at approximately 9:00 a.m. Howard entered 
the agency and was looking at an Oldsmobile car.  Howard showed Schwartz a 
New York driver’s license and checkbook and told Schwartz that he worked 
for a security firm in New York.  Howard asked if they could take a 
demonstration ride and Schwartz drove the car for a few blocks while Howard 
was the passenger.  Howard asked if he could drive the car and the men 
switched seats.  After driving for a short time, Howard pulled over and pointed 
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an automatic pistol at Schwartz.  Schwartz was told to get down on the floor of 
the car and remove his shoes and pants.  Schwartz complied and Howard took 
Schwartz’ watch, ring and wallet.  Schwartz got out of the car when ordered to 
do so and Howard drove off.  The car was later found abandoned.1  

Howard called witnesses who testified they saw the Monahan van being 
driven by a black man who did not match Howard’s description, in particular 
the man had a large afro and Howard had short hair.  John McBride state that 
he saw the van around 8:30 to 8:45 a.m. in his apartment complex which is 
located about five miles from Desert Inn and Boulder Highway.  Lora Mallek 
was employed at a Mobile gas station at the corner of DI and Boulder Highway 
and she stated serviced the van when it pulled into the station between 3:00 
p.m. and 4:00 p.m.  Mallek testified that a black man with a large afro was 
driving, a black woman who did not match Thomas’ description was in the 
passenger seat and a white man was sitting in the back.     

Howard testified over the objection of counsel.  He indicated he did not 
recall much about March 26, 1980.  He remembered being in Las Vegas in 
general on and off and that at one point Dwana Thomas’ brother, who was 
about Howard’s height, age and weight, and had a large afro, visited them.  
Howard said he remembers incidents, not dates and Kinsey could have been 
telling the truth about the Sears store.  Howard indicated he wasn’t sure 
because when the Sears people gathered around him, it reminded him of 
Vietnam and he kind of had a flashback.  Howard said he thinks he left Las 
Vegas immediately after the Sears incident.  Howard also stated that he did not 
meet Dr. Monahan, rob or kill him as he couldn’t be that callous. 

On cross-examination, Howard admitted he left New York in the middle 
of his robbery trial and was asked about statements he made to Detective 
Leavitt.  Howard also acknowledged he has used a number of aliases including 
Harold Stanback.  Howard indicated he was taking the blame for Dawana and 
her brother Lonnie.   

Dawana Thomas was called in rebuttal and indicated her brother Lonnie 
had not been in Las Vegas in March of 1980.   

In the penalty phase, the State presented evidence on the details of 
Howard’s 1979 New York conviction for robbery.  A college nurse who knew 
Howard, Dorothy Weisband, testified that Howard robbed her at gunpoint 
taking her wallet and car.  He forced her into a closet and demanded she 
removed her clothes.  She refused and he left.  After the robbery, Howard 
called Weisband trying to get more cash from her in return for her car and 
threatened her. 

Howard testified regarding his military, family and mental health 
histories.  Howard discussed his military service and stated he had suffered a 
concussion and received a purple heart.2  Howard also stated he was on 
veteran’s disability in New York.3  He said he was in various mental health 
facilities in California including being housed in the same facility as Charlie 
Manson.  He testified he had been diagnosed as a schizophrenic, but that some 
of the doctors thought he was malingering.  When asked about his childhood, 
Howard became upset.  He indicated he didn’t want to talk about the death of 
his mother and sister.  Howard indicated he was not mentally ill and knew 
what he was doing at all times. 

                                              
1 This evidence was admitted to show identity and motive for the Monahan murder. 
2 The military records attached to the current Fourth Petition do not reflect any such injury or award. 
 
3 Howard’s military records do not support this and there is nothing in the record substantiating any admission to a 
veteran’s hospital.  The record reflects Howard was never actually admitted to a hospital in New York because it 
required identification and he could not identify himself due to existing warrants for his arrest. 

App. 450



 

 H:\P DRIVE Docs\Howard, Samuel, A-18-780434-W, 81C053867- Reply to Response to Motion to Dismiss (002).doc 6 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

(Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, filed May 15, 2017, p. 2-8 (footnotes in 

original)). 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This Court set forth the procedural history of this case in the Findings of Fact, 

Conclusions of Law and Order denying Petitioner’s fifth habeas petition: 
 

On May 20, 1981 Howard was indicted on one count of robbery with 
use of a deadly weapon involving a Sears security officer named Keith Kinsey 
on March 26, 1980; one count of robbery with use of a deadly weapon 
involving Dr. George Monahan and one count of murder with use of a deadly 
weapon involving Dr. Monahan, both committed on March 27, 1980.  With 
respect to the murder count, the State alleged two theories: willful, 
premeditated and deliberate murder or murder in the commission of a robbery.   

Howard was arrested in California where he was serving time for a 
robbery committed on or about April 1, 1980.  He was extradited in November 
of 1982 and an initial appearance was set for November 23, 1982.  At that time 
the matter was continued for appointment of counsel, the Clark County Public 
Defender’s Office. 

On November 30, 1982, Terry Jackson of the Public Defender’s Office 
represented to the district court that Howard qualified for the Public 
Defender’s services; however, Mr. Jackson indicated he had a personal conflict 
as he was a friend of the victim.    The district judge determined that the 
relationship did not create a conflict for the Public Defender’s Office, barred 
Mr. Jackson from involvement with the case and appointed another deputy 
public defender to Howard’s case.   

Howard’s counsel requested a one-week continuance to consult with 
Howard about the case.  Howard objected, insisted on being arraigned and 
demanded a speedy trial.  After discussion, the district court accepted a plea of 
not guilty and set a trial date of January 10, 1983. 

Howard filed a motion in late in December asking for his counsel to be 
removed and substitute counsel appointed.  Counsel filed a response 
addressing issues raised in the motion.  After a hearing, the district court 
determined there were no grounds for removing the Clark County Public 
Defender’s Office.   

A motion for a psychiatric expert was filed.  At a hearing, the district 
court inquired if this was for competency and Howard’s counsel indicated it 
was not, but it was to help evaluate Howard’s mental status at the time of the 
events.  The district court granted the motion and appointed Dr. O’Gorman to 
assist the defense. 

At a status check on January 4, 1983, defense counsel indicated the 
defense could not be ready for the January 10th trial date due to the need to 
conduct additional investigation and discovery.  In addition, counsel noted 
Howard was refusing to cooperate with counsel.  Howard objected to any 
continuance with knowledge that his attorneys’ could not complete the 
investigations by that date.  Given Howard’s objections, the district court 
stated the trial would go forward as scheduled.   

On the day of trial, defense counsel moved to withdraw stating that Mr. 
Jackson’s conflict created mistrust in Howard and he therefore refused to 
cooperate.  This motion was denied.   Defense counsel then moved for a 
continuance as they did not feel comfortable proceeding to trial in this case, 
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given the issues involved, with only six weeks to prepare.  After extensive 
argument and a recess so that counsel could discuss the issue with Howard, the 
district court granted the continuance over Howard’s objections. 
  The guilt phase of the trial began on April 11, 1983 and concluded on 
April 22, 1983.  The jury returned a verdict of guilty on all three counts.  The 
penalty phase was set to begin on May 2, 1983.  In the interim, one of the 
jurors tried to contact the trial judge about a scheduling problem.  Because the 
district judge was on vacation, someone referred the juror to the District 
Attorney’s Office.  That Office referred the juror to the jury commissioner.  
Howard moved for a mistrial or elimination of the death penalty as a 
sentencing option based upon this contact.  After conducting an evidentiary 
hearing, the district court denied Howard’s motions. 

Defense counsel made an oral motion to withdraw indicating they had 
irreconcilable differences with Howard over the conduct of the penalty phase.  
Counsel indicated they had documents and witnesses in mitigation, but that 
Howard had instructed them not to present any mitigation evidence.  Howard 
also instructed them not to argue mitigation and they would not follow that 
directive, but would argue mitigation.  Counsel also indicated that Howard told 
them he wished to testify, but would not tell them the substance of his 
testimony.  Finally, counsel indicated they had attempted to get military and 
mental health records but were unsuccessful because the agencies possessing 
the records would not send copes without a release signed by Howard and 
Howard refused to sign the releases.  The district court canvassed Howard if 
this was correct and Howard confirmed it was true and that he did not want 
any mitigation presented.  The district court found Howard understood the 
consequences of his decision and denied the motion to withdraw concluding 
defense counsel’s disagreement with Howard’s decision was not a valid basis 
to withdraw. 

The penalty phase began on May 2, 1983 and concluded on May 4, 
1983.  The State originally alleged three aggravating circumstances:  1) the 
murder was committed by a person who had previously been convicted of a 
felony involving the use of violence - namely robbery with use of a deadly 
weapon in California, 2) prior violent felongy - a 1978 New York conviction in 
absentia for robbery with use of a deadly weapon; and 3) the murder occurred 
in the commission of a robbery.  Howard moved to strike the California 
conviction because the conviction occurred after the Monahan murder and the 
New York conviction because it was not supported by a judgment of 
conviction.  The district court struck the California conviction but denied the 
motion as to the New York conviction, noting that the records reflected a jury 
had convicted Howard and the lack of a formal judgment was the result of 
Howard’s absconding in the middle of trial.   

The State presented evidence of the aggravating circumstances and 
Howard took the stand and related information on his background.  During a 
break in the testimony, Howard suddenly stated he did not understand what 
mitigation meant and that he would leave it up to his attorneys to decide what 
to do.  The district court asked Howard if he was now instructing his attorneys 
to present mitigation and he refused to answer the question.  Howard did 
indicate that he wanted his attorney’s to argue mitigation and defense counsel 
asked for time to prepare which was granted.  The jury found both aggravating 
circumstances existed and that no mitigating circumstances outweighed the 
aggravating circumstances.  The jury returned a sentence of death.  
  Howard appealed to the Nevada Supreme Court.  Elizabeth Hatcher 
represented Howard on Direct Appeal.  Howard raised the following issues on 
direct appeal:  1) ineffective assistance of counsel based on actual conflict 
arising out of Jackson’s relationship with Dr. Monahan; 2) denial of a motion 
to sever the Sears’ count from the Monahan counts; 3) denial of an evidentiary 
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hearing on a motion to suppress Howard’s statements and evidence derived 
therefrom; 4) refusal to instruct the jury that accomplice testimony should be 
viewed with mistrust; 5) refusal to instruct the jury that Dawana Thomas was 
an accomplice as a matter of law; 6) denial of a motion to strike the felony 
robbery and New York prior violent felony aggravators; and 7) the giving of a 
anti-sympathy instruction and refusal to instruct the jury that sympathy and 
mercy were appropriate considerations. 

The Nevada Supreme Court affirmed Howard’s conviction and 
sentence.  Howard v. State, 102 Nev. 572, 729 P.2d 1341 (1986) (hereinafter 
“Howard I”).  The Supreme Court held that the relationship of two members of 
the Public Defender’s Office with Monahan did not objectively justify 
Howard’s distrust and there was no evidence that those attorneys had any 
involvement in his case.  Therefore no actual conflict existed and the claim of 
ineffective assistance of counsel on this basis had no merit.  The Court further 
concluded the district court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to sever the 
counts and by not granting an evidentiary hearing on the suppression motion.  
The Court noted that the record reflected proper Miranda warnings were given 
and the statements were admitted as rebuttal and impeachment after Howard 
testified.  The Court also found that the district court did not error in rejecting 
the two accomplice instructions; the anti-sympathy language in one of the 
instructions was not err in light of the totality of the instructions and the record 
supported the district court’s refusal to instruct on certain mitigating 
circumstances for lack of evidence.  The Court concluded by stating it had 
considered Howard’s other claims of error and found them to be without merit.  
Howard filed a petition for rehearing which was denied on March 24, 1987.  
Remitittur was stayed pending the filing of a petition for Writ of Certiorari to 
the United States Supreme Court on the anti-sympathy issues.  John Graves, Jr. 
was appointed to represent Howard on the writ petition.  The petition was 
denied on October 5, 1987 and remitittur issued on February 12, 1988. 

On October 28, 1987, Howard filed his first State petition for post-
conviction relief.  John Graves Jr. and Carmine Colucci originally represented 
Howard on the petition.  They withdrew and David Schieck was appointed.  
The petition raised the following claims for relief:  1) ineffective assistance of 
trial counsel – guilt phase - failure to present an insanity defense and Howard’s 
history of mental illness and commitments; 2) ineffective assistance of trial 
counsel – penalty phase – failure to present mental health history and 
documents; failure to present expert psychiatric evidence that Howard was not 
a danger to jail population; failure to rebut future dangerousness evidence with 
jail records and personnel; failure to object to improper prosecutorial 
arguments involving statistics regarding deterrence, predictions of future 
victims, Howard’s lack of rehabilitation, aligning the jury with “future 
victims,” comparing victim’s life with Howard’s life, diluting jury’s 
responsibility by suggesting it was shared with other entities, voicing personal 
opinions in support of the death penalty and its application to Howard, 
references to Charles Manson, voice of society arguments and referring to 
Howard as an animal; 3) ineffective assistance of appellate counsel – failure to 
raise prosecutorial misconduct issues. 

An evidentiary hearing was held on August 25, 1988.  George Franzen, 
Lizzie Hatcher, John Graves and Howard testified.  Supplemental points and 
authorities were filed on October 3, 1988.  The district court entered an oral 
decision denying the petition on February 14, 1989.  The district court 
concluded that trial counsel performed admirably under difficult circumstances 
created by Howard himself.  As to the failure to present an insanity defense 
and present mental health records, the court found that Howard was canvassed 
throughout the proceedings about his refusal to cooperate in obtaining those 
records, particularly his refusal to sign releases.  Howard knew what was going 
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on, was competent and was trying to manipulate the proceedings and that there 
was no evidence to support an insanity defense, therefore counsel were not 
ineffective in this regard.   

On the issue of failure to object to prosecutorial misconduct, the district 
court found that defense counsel did object where appropriate and the 
arguments that were not objected to did not amount to misconduct and were a 
fair comment on the evidence.  Even if some of the comments were improper, 
the district court concluded that they would not have succeeded on appeal as 
they were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.  Formal findings of fact and 
conclusions of law were filed on July 5, 1989.4 

The Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the district court’s denial of 
Howard’s first State petition for post-conviction relief.  Howard v. State, 106 
Nev. 713, 800 P.2d 175 (1990) (hereinafter “Howard II”).  David Schieck 
represented Howard in that appeal.  On appeal Howard raised ineffective 
assistance of trial and appellate counsel regarding the prosecutorial misconduct 
issues.  The Supreme Court found three comments to be improper under 
Collier v. State, 101 Nev. 473, 705 P.2d 1126 (1985)5:  1) a personal opinion 
that Howard merited the death penalty, 2) a golden rule argument – asking the 
jury to put themselves in the shoes of a future victims and 3) an argument 
without support from evidence that Howard might escape.  The Court found 
that counsel were ineffective for failing to object to these arguments but 
concluded there was no reasonable probability of a contrary result absent these 
remarks and therefore no prejudice.  The Court rejected Howard’s other 
contentions of improper argument. 

With respect the mitigation evidence issues, the Nevada Supreme Court 
upheld the district court’s findings that this was a result of Howard’s own 
conduct and not ineffective assistance of counsel.6 

Howard proceeded to file a second Federal habeas corpus petition on 
May 1, 1991.  This proceeding was stayed for Howard to exhaust his state 
remedies on October 16, 1991.  Howard then filed a second State petition for 
post-conviction relief on December 16, 1991.  Cal J. Potter, III and Fred 
Atcheson represented Howard in the second State petition.   In that petition, 
Howard alleged denial of a fair trial based on prosecutorial misconduct, 
namely: 1) jury tampering based on the prosecutor’s contact with the juror 
between the guilt and penalty phases; 2) expressions of personal belief and a 
personal endorsement of the death penalty; 3) reference to the improbability of 
rehabilitation, escape, future killings; 3) comparing Howard’s life with Dr. 
Monahan’s and 4) a statement that the community would benefit from 
Howard’s death.  The petition also asserted an ineffective assistance of trial 
counsel claim for failing to explain to Howard the nature of mitigating 
circumstances and their importance.  Finally the petition raised a speedy trial 
violation and cumulative error. 

The State moved to dismiss the second State petition as procedurally 
barred or governed by the law of the case on February 10, 1992.  In his reply, 
Howard dropped his speedy trial claim as unsubstantiated and indicated if the 
other claims were barred, then they had been exhausted and Howard could 
proceed in Federal court. 

                                              
4During the pendency of the first State petition for post-conviction relief, Howard filed his first Federal petition for 
habeas relief.  That petition was dismissed without prejudice on June 23, 1988.   
5 Collier was decided two years after Howard’s trial. 
 
6 The State filed a petition for rehearing with respect to sanctions imposed on the prosecutor because his remarks 
violated Collier.  The State noted that Howard’s trial occurred before Collier therefore the Court should not sanction 
counsel for conduct that occurred before the Court issued the Collier opinion.  Rehearing was denied February 7, 1991. 
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The district court denied the petition on July 7, 1992.  The district court 
found that the claims of prosecutorial misconduct and ineffective assistance of 
counsel relating thereto as well as the claims relating to mitigation evidence 
had been heard and found to be without merit or failed to demonstrate 
prejudice.  Such claims were therefore barred by the law of the case.  The 
district court further concluded that any claim of cumulative error and any 
issues not raised in previous proceedings were procedurally barred.  Finally, 
the district court found the speedy trial violation was a naked allegation, 
frivolous and procedurally barred. 

Howard appealed the denial of his second State petition to the Nevada 
Supreme Court, which dismissed his appeal on March 19, 1993.  The Order 
Dismissing Appeal found that Howard’s second State petition was so lacking 
in merit that briefing and oral argument was not warranted.  Howard filed a 
petition for Writ of Certiorari challenging the summary affirmance and the 
United States Supreme Court denied the request on October 4, 1993.   

On December 8, 1993, Howard returned to federal court and filed a new 
pro se habeas petition rather than lifting the stay in the previous petition.  After 
almost three years, on September 2, 1996, the federal district court dismissed 
the petition as inadequate and ordered Howard to file a second amended 
federal petition that contained more than conclusory allegations.  Thereafter 
Howard, now represented by Patricia Erickson, filed a Second Amended 
Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on January 27, 1997.    After almost five 
years, on September 23, 2002, the Second Amended Federal petition was 
stayed for Howard to again exhaust his federal claims in state court. 

Howard filed his third State petition for post-conviction relief on 
December 20, 2002.  Patricia Erickson represented him on this petition.  The 
petition asserted the following claims, phrased generally as denial of a 
fundamentally fair trial or assistance of counsel under the Fifth, Sixth and 
Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution or as cruel and 
unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment: 1) failure to sever Sears 
robbery count from Monahan robbery/murder counts; 2) failure to suppress 
Howard’s statements to LVMPD and physical evidence derived therefrom; 3) 
speedy trial violation; 4) trial counsel actual conflict of interest – Jackson 
issue; 5) failure to give accomplice as a matter of law and accomplice 
testimony should be viewed with distrust instructions – Dwana Thomas; 6) 
improper jury instructions – diluting standard of proof - reasonable doubt, 
second degree murder as lesser included of first degree murder, premeditation, 
intent and malice instructions; 7) improper jury instructions – failure to clearly 
define first degree murder as specific intent crime requiring malice and 
premeditation; 8) improper premeditation instruction blurred distinction 
between first and second degree murder; 9) improper malice instruction; 10) 
improper anti-sympathy instruction; 11) failure to give influence of extreme 
mental or emotional disturbance mitigator instruction; 12) improper limitation 
of mitigation  by giving only “any other mitigating circumstance” instruction; 
13) failure to instruct that mitigating circumstances findings need not be 
unanimous; 14) prosecutorial misconduct – jury tampering, stating personal 
beliefs, personal endorsement of death penalty, improper argument regarding 
rehabilitation, escape and future killings; comparing Howard and victim’s 
lives, comparing Howard to notorious murder (Charles Manson) and improper 
community benefit argument; 15) use of felony robbery as aggravator and 
basis for first degree murder; 16) improper reasonable doubt instruction; 17) 
ineffective assistance of trial counsel – inadequate contact, conflict of interest, 
failure to contact California counsel to obtain records, failure to obtain Patton 
and Atescadero hospital records, failure to obtain California trial transcripts, 
failure to review Clark County Detention Center medical records, failure to 
challenge competency to stand trial, failure to obtain suppression hearing, 

App. 455



 

 H:\P DRIVE Docs\Howard, Samuel, A-18-780434-W, 81C053867- Reply to Response to Motion to Dismiss (002).doc 11 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

failure to present legal insanity, failure to object to reasonable doubt 
instruction, failure to view visiting records and call witnesses based upon 
same, failure to call Pinkie Williams and Carol Walker in penalty phase, 
failure to investigate and call Benjamin Evans in penalty phase, failure to 
obtain San Bernardino medical records regarding suicide attempt, failure to 
obtain military records, failure to adequately explain concept of mitigation 
evidence, failure to object to prosecutorial misconduct in closing arguments, 
failure to refute future dangerousness argument, failure to object to trial court’s 
limitation of mitigating circumstances and failure to object to instructions 
which allegedly required unanimous finding of mitigating circumstances; 18) 
ineffective assistance of appellate counsel – failed to raise claims 3, 4, 6-9, 12, 
13, 15, 16, 20 and 21 on appeal; 19) ineffective assistance of post-conviction 
counsel – failure to adequately investigate and develop all trial and appeal 
claims; 20) cumulative error; 21) Nevada’s death penalty is administered in an 
arbitrary, irrational and capricious fashion; 22) lethal injection constitutes cruel 
and unusual punishment and 23) the death penalty violates evolving standards 
of decency. 

The State filed a motion to dismiss Howard’s third State petition on 
March 4, 2001.  The State argued that the entire petition was procedurally 
barred under NRS 34.726(1) (one-year limit) and NRS 34.800 (five-year 
laches) and that Howard had not shown good cause for delay in raising the 
claims to overcome the procedural bars.  The State also analyzed each claim 
and noted what issues had already been raised and decided adversely to 
Howard or should have been raised and were waived under NRS 34.810. 

Howard filed an amended third State petition.  The amended petition 
expanded the factual matters under Claim 17 regarding Howard’s family 
background that Howard asserted should have been presented in mitigation. 

On August 20, 2003, Howard filed his opposition to the State’s motion 
to dismiss his third State petition.  As good cause for delay, Howard alleged 
Nevada’s successive petition and waiver bar (NRS 34.810) is inconsistently 
applied and Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 34 P.3d 519 (2001) is not 
controlling.  Howard contended NRS 34.726 did not apply because any delay 
was the fault of counsel not Howard and NRS 34.726 is unconstitutional and 
cannot be applied to successive petitions Pellegrini notwithstanding.  Howard 
argued the Due process and Equal Protection clauses of the Federal 
Constitution bar application of NRS 34.726, NRS 34.800 and NRS 34.810 to 
Howard.  In addition, Howard asserted NRS 34.800 did not apply because the 
State had not shown prejudice and the presumption of prejudice was overcome 
by the allegations in the petition. 

The State filed a reply to the opposition on September 24, 2003.  The 
district court issued an oral decision on October 2, 2003 dismissing the third 
State petition as procedurally barred under NRS 34.726 and finding Howard 
had failed to overcome the bar by showing good cause for delay.  The district 
court also independently dismissed the claims under NRS 34.810.  Written 
findings were entered on October 23, 2003. 

Howard appealed the dismissal to the Nevada Supreme Court, which 
affirmed the district court’s dismissal of the third State petition on December 
4, 2004.  The High Court addressed Howard’s assertions that he had either 
overcome the procedural bars or they could not constitutionally be applied to 
him and rejected them.  Among its conclusions, the Court noted that the record 
reflected Howard was aware that all his claims challenging the conviction or 
imposition of sentence must be joined in a single petition and that Howard had 
no right to post-conviction counsel at the time of the filing of his first and 
second State petitions for post-conviction relief and hence ineffectiveness of 
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post-conviction counsel could not be good cause for delay.7 
Howard then returned to Federal district court where he filed his Third 

Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on October 23, 2005.  
Subsequently, without seeking approval from the Federal Court, the Federal 
Public Defender’s Office filed, on Howard’s behalf, the current Fourth State 
Post-Conviction Petition on October 27, 2007.   The State filed a motion to 
dismiss the Fourth State Petition on April 8, 2008.  The parties agreed to stay 
this case for several months while Howard sought permission from the Federal 
District Court to hold his federal petition for post-conviction habeas corpus in 
abeyance pending exhaustion of the claims already filed in the Fourth State 
Petition and of new claims he wished to file in State court as a result of the 
Ninth Circuit’s decision in Polk v. Sandoval, 503 F.3d 903, 910 (9th Cir. 2007).  

The United States District Court denied Howards’ motion for stay and 
abeyance on January 9, 2009.  Thereafter, Howard filed an Opposition to the 
State’s original motion to dismiss and an Amended Petition on February 24, 
2009.  The State responded to Howard’s opposition to the original motion to 
dismiss and additionally moved to dismiss the Amended Fourth Petition on 
October 7, 2009.8  Howard filed an Opposition to the Amended Motion to 
Dismiss on December 18, 2009.  Howard filed supplemental authorities on 
January 5, 2010. 

Argument on the State’s motion to dismiss was heard on February 4, 
2010.  The matter was taken under advisement so the district court could 
review the extensive record.  A Minute Order Decision was issued on May 13, 
2010, dismissing the Fourth State Petition as procedurally barred.  A written 
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law was filed on November 6, 2010. 

Petitioner challenged this Court’s decision before the Nevada Supreme 
Court.  Prior to ruling on this Court’s fourth denial of habeas relief, the Nevada 
Supreme Court issued an opinion in Howard v. State, 128 Nev. 736, 291 P.3d 
137 (2012), addressing the sealing of documents.  The Federal Public Defender 
(FPD) filed a motion in the Supreme Court to substitute counsel that included 
information that was potentially embarrassing to one or more current or former 
FPD attorneys as well as a prior private attorney who had represented Howard.  
Id. at 747, 291 P.3d at 144.  A cover sheet indicated that the motion was sealed 
but the FPD failed to file a separate motion to seal the pleading.  Id. at 739, 
291 P.3d at 139.  The Court concluded that the FPD had not properly moved to 
seal and that sealing was unjustified.  Id. at 748, 291 P.3d at 145.  Ultimately, 
the Court affirmed this Court’s denial of habeas relief.  (Order of Affirmance, 
filed July 30, 2014, attached to Clerk’s Certificate, filed October 24, 2014).  
The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari.  Howard v. Nevada, __ 
U.S. __, 135 S.Ct. 1898 (2015). 
 Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) 
(Fifth Petition) on October 5, 2016.  Respondent filed an opposition and 
motion to dismiss on November 2, 2016.  On March 27, 2017, Petitioner filed 
an opposition to the State’s request to dismiss the Fifth Petition.  Respondent’s 
reply to Petitioner’s opposition was filed on April 4, 2017. 
 On December 1, 2016, Petitioner filed an Amended Fifth Petition.  The 
State moved to strike the Amended Fifth Petition for failing to comply with 
NRS 34.750(5).  Petitioner opposed this request.  This Court held a hearing on 

                                              
7 See 1987 Nev. Stat., ch. 539, § 42 at 1230 (providing that appointment of counsel was discretionary not mandatory).   
8 Although both defense counsel and this Court received a copy of the Opposition and Amended Motion to Dismiss, for 
some reason it was not filed.  This Court authorized the District Attorney’s Office to file a Notice of Errata and attach a 
copy of the previously distributed Opposition and Amended Motion to Dismiss.  This was filed on February 4, 2010.  
Subsequently, the missing document was located and the original Amended Motion to Dismiss was officially filed on 
May 11, 2010. 
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March 17, 2017, and after entertaining argument, struck the Amended Fifth 
Petition pursuant to NRS 34.750(5) and Barnhart v. State, 122 Nev. 301, 130 
P.3d 650 (2006).  An order memorializing this decision was filed on April 7, 
2017. 
 On April 6, 2017, Petitioner filed a Motion to Amend or Supplement 
that requested reconsideration of this Court’s decision to strike his Amended 
Fifth Petition without requesting leave to do so in advance.  Respondent filed 
an opposition on April 12, 2017, and Petitioner replied on April 17, 2017. 
 Howard’s Fifth Petition and Motion to Amend or Supplement came 
before this Court on the April 19, 2017, Chamber Calendar.  On May 2, 2017, 
this Court issued a minute order denying the Fifth Petition and the Motion to 
Amend or Supplement and imposing a $250.00 sanction upon Howard’s 
counsel for causing the State to respond to a the Motion to Amend when the 
Court had already decided the issue in the context of striking the Amended 
Fifth Petition and/or for failing to seek leave of court prior to requesting 
reconsideration. 

(Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, filed May 15, 2017, p. 8-20 (footnotes in 

original))  Notice of Entry of Order was filed on May 23, 2017.  (Notice of Entry of Order, 

filed May 23, 2017). 

 Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal on June 1, 2017.  (Notice of Appeal, filed June 1, 

2017).  Additionally, Petitioner successfully sought extraordinary review of the sanction 

order.  (Armeni v. Dist. Ct., Nevada Supreme Court Case Number 73462, Order Granting 

Petition in Part and Denying Petition in Part, filed April 25, 2018). 

 On September 4, 2018, Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-

Conviction) (Sixth Petition).  (Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction), filed 

September 4, 2018).  The State moved to strike on September 7, 2018.  (Motion to Strike 

Sixth Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction), filed September 7, 2018).  

Petitioner opposed on September 14, 2018.  (Opposition to Motion to Strike, filed September 

14, 2018).  The State replied on September 20, 2018.  (Reply to Opposition to Motion to 

Strike Sixth Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction, filed September 20, 2018).  

This Court stayed the Sixth Petition pending the outcome on appeal of the denial of the Fifth 

Petition since both challenged the validity of the sentencing.  (Recorder’s Transcript of 

October 23, 2018, Hearing, p. 4-5, filed November 16, 2018). 

 On September 7, 2018, the State moved to transfer the Sixth Petition back to the 

criminal case.  (Motion to Transfer Petition to Criminal Case, filed September 7, 2018).  

Petitioner opposed on September 12, 2018.  (Opposition to Motion to Transfer, filed 
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September 12, 2018).  The State replied on September 13, 2018.  (Reply to Opposition to 

Motion to Transfer Petition to Criminal Case, filed September 13, 2018). 

 On September 27, 2019, Petitioner moved to lift the stay on the Sixth Petition because 

the Nevada Supreme Court issued an Order of Affirmance upholding the denial of the Fifth 

Petition on September 20, 2019.  (Motion to Lift Stay, filed September 27, 2019). 

ARGUMENT 

Petitioner’s believes his due diligence obligation begins and end with the filing date 

of the order invalidating his New York conviction.  This is contrary to longstanding Nevada 

public policy and recently enacted legislation.  Habeas litigants must always demonstrate 

that they have acted with due diligence.  The failure to exercise due diligence is fatal to post-

conviction relief in Nevada.  As such Petitioner’s decision to wait nearly four decades to 

challenge his New York conviction precludes habeas relief. 

Initially, Petitioner’s claims of actual innocence should be summarily denied since, 

even if this Court assumes that factual innocence has been established based on the 

invalidation of his New York conviction, he still has not identified a constitutional violation 

related to the New York conviction.  Schlup v. Delo, 513 U.S. 298, 315, 115 S. Ct. 851, 861 

(1995).  Indeed, Petitioner’s New York conviction was valid at the time of his sentence and 

thus he cannot establish that a constitutional violation existed to the time of sentencing.  See, 

Clem v. State, 119 Nev. 615, 621-26, 81 P.3d 521, 526-29 (2003) (judicial interpretation of a 

statute after conviction such that Petitioner could not have been guilty of the deadly weapon 

enhancement does not amount to a constitutional violation for purposes of actual innocence 

since Petitioner was guilty under the law as it existed to the time of conviction). 

Summary denial of Petitioner’s actual innocence claim is additionally warranted by 

his failure to establish factual innocence as opposed to a legal defect in his New York 

conviction.  Actual innocence means factual innocence not mere legal insufficiency.  

Bousley v. United States, 523 U.S. 614, 623, 118 S.Ct. 1604, 1611 (1998); Sawyer v. 

Whitley, 505 U.S. 333, 338-39, 112 S.Ct. 2514, 2518-19 (1992).  As such, Petitioner’s actual 
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innocence claim must fail since he secured reversal of his New York conviction on an issue 

of legal sufficiency and not factual innocence. 

Regardless, Petitioner’s failure to demonstrate due diligence in challenging his New 

York conviction bars habeas relief.  In Witter v. State, 135 Nev. __, __, 452 P.3d 406, 408 

(2019), the Nevada Supreme Court addressed an Appellant contending that “because of the 

indeterminate restitution provision in the 1995 judgment, his conviction was not final until 

entry of the third amended judgment of conviction in 2017” and that as a consequence, “the 

direct appeal decided in 1996 and the subsequent postconviction proceedings were null and 

void for lack of jurisdiction and therefore he should be allowed to raise any issues stemming 

from the 1995 trial [.]”  Instead, the Court concluded that Witter’s appeal was “limited in 

scope to issues stemming from the amendment.”  Id. at __. 452 P.3d at 407.  The Court gave 

two reasons for this holding.  Id.  The Court noted that the more important of those was that 

“Witter treated the 1995 judgment of conviction as final for more than two decades, 

litigating a direct appeal and various postconviction proceedings in state and federal court.”  

Id. 

In distinguishing its precedents overturning judgments of conviction containing 

indeterminate restitution amounts from Witter’s situation, the Court noted that the 

defendants in those cases “raised the error regarding the indeterminate restitution provision 

during the first proceeding in which they challenged the validity of their judgments of 

conviction[.]”  Id. at __, 453 P.3d at 409.  Witter’s failure to do the same implicated the 

compelling consideration of finality.  Id.  The Court pointed out that “[a] challenge to a 

conviction made years after the conviction is a burden on the parties and the courts because 

‘[m]emories of the crime may diminish and become attenuated,’ and the record may not be 

sufficiently preserved.”  Id. (quoting, Groesbeck v. Warden, 100 Nev. 259, 260, 679 P.2d 

1268, 1269 (1984)).  Ultimately, “Witter treated the judgment of conviction as a final 

judgment.  He is estopped from now arguing that the judgment was not final and that the 

subsequent proceedings were null and void for lack of jurisdiction.”  Id. at __, 453 P.3d at 

410 (footnote omitted). 
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Witter’s failure to exercise due diligence in challenging his judgment of conviction is 

indistinguishable from Petitioner’s failure of diligence in attacking his New York conviction.  

Petitioner treated his New York conviction as final for nearly four decades.  He filed petition 

after petition and appeal after appeal all treating his New York conviction as final.  Just as in 

Witter, Petitioner should be estopped from only now alleging that his New York conviction 

is null and void. 

The requirement of due diligence is fundamental in Nevada habeas law.  Nevada’s 

statutory laches provision requires a petitioner to demonstrate reasonable diligence in order 

to avoid a dismissal.  NRS 34.800(1)(a) (“A petition may be dismissed if delay in the filing 

of the petition … [p]rejudices the respondent … in responding to the petition, unless the 

petitioner shows that the petition is based upon grounds of which the petitioner could not 

have had knowledge by the exercise of reasonable diligence before the circumstances 

prejudicial to the State occurred”).  The time bar of NRS 34.726 may only be waived if a 

petitioner demonstrates that “the delay is not the fault of the petitioner[.]”  NRS 

34.726(1)(a).  The bar against successive and abusive petitions may be waived upon a 

showing of “[g]ood cause for the failure to present the claim or for presenting the claim 

again[.]”  NRS 34.810(3)(a).  Notably, the Nevada Legislature just last session extended the 

necessity of demonstrating due diligence to claims of factual innocence.  NRS 34.960(3)(a) 

(“… the evidence could not have been discovered by the petitioner or the petitioner’s 

counsel through the exercise of reasonable diligence”).9 
                                              
9 Federal law appears to diverge from Nevada law on this point.  Federal law does not preclude a claim of actual 
innocence for failing to exercise due diligence; instead, “[u]nexplained delay in presenting new evidence bears on the 
determination whether the petitioner has made the requisite showing” and on the credibility of a claim.  McQuiggin v. 
Perkins, 569 U.S. 383, 399, 133 S. Ct. 1924, 1935, 185 L. Ed. 2d 1019 (2013).  However, McQuiggin is limited to 
federal post-conviction relief and does not apply to state habeas proceedings.  Com. v. Brown, 2016 PA Super 148, 143 
A.3d 418, 420–21 (2016) (“While McQuiggin represents a further development in federal habeas corpus law, as was the 
case in Saunders, this change in federal law is irrelevant to the time restrictions of our PCRA”); State v. Edwards, 164 
So.3d 823, 823-24 (La. 2015) (“McQuiggin does not purport to govern state post-conviction proceedings conducted 
under state law”); Wayne v. State, 866 N.W.2d 917, 919 (Minn. 2015) (“McQuiggin's holding specifically applies to 
federal habeas petitions and … does not apply to a postconviction motion that is a creature of state statute … and is 
governed by its own statutory time bar”); Ex parte Smith, No. 03-17-00628-CR, 2018 WL 2347012, at *3 (Tex. App. 
May 24, 2018), petition for discretionary review refused (July 25, 2018) (“Smith relies on … McQuiggin … [but] failed 
to show that the law on federal habeas claims applies to his habeas claim under Texas law”).  Further, the Nevada 
Supreme Court has declined to import other similar equitable remedies from federal habeas law.  Brown v. McDaniel, 
130 Nev. 565, 569-76, 331 P.3d 867, 870-75 (2014).  Regardless, even if applicable McQuiggin would not assist 
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Summary dismissal is warranted because Petitioner has failed to establish good cause 

or actual innocence.  The New York conviction was invalidated because “[s]ince 1980, the 

New York State authorities had actual knowledge that the defendant was arrested and in 

continued custody by both California and Nevada” and “[i]n 37 years, the People have not 

attempted to extradite the defendant to New York or make any other reasonable effort to 

produce the defendant for sentencing.”  (New York v. Howard, Queens County Supreme 

Court Case Number 1227178, dated May 22, 2018, p. 2-3, attached as Exhibit 2 to Petition 

for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction), filed September 4, 2018).  The very words of 

the New York Court apply equally to Petitioner.  Just like New York, Petitioner did nothing 

to enforce or protect his interests for over 30 years.  Just like New York, Petition should not 

profit from his lack of due diligence.  Thus, Petitioner cannot establish good cause.  As for 

actual innocence, Petitioner’s jury found the prior violent felony aggravating circumstance 

because it heard the facts of the New York case.  That Petitioner’s New York conviction was 

invalidated on a technicality after more than 30 years does nothing to undermine the factual 

truth of what he did to the victim in the New York case. 

Alternatively, if this Court is not willing to dismiss Petitioner’s sixth attempt at 

securing habeas relief outright, it should order an evidentiary hearing.  NRS 34.770(1).  The 

hearing should be limited to determining whether Petitioner exercised due diligence in 

pursuing the invalidation of his New York conviction.  Further, Respondent should be 

permitted discovery related to Petitioner’s due diligence in challenging his New York 

conviction.  NRS 34.780(2). 

CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, this Court should dismiss and/or deny the Sixth Petition. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

                                                                                                                                                       
Petitioner since it was published decades after Petitioner’s conviction and there is no indication that the case applies 
retroactively.  See, Teague v. Lane, 489 U.S. 288, 109 S. Ct. 1060 (1989); Colwell v. State, 118 Nev. 807, 59 P.3d 463 
(2002). 
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DATED this 19th day of December, 2019. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

STEVEN WOLFSON 
Clark County District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #001565 

 

 

 BY /s/ Jonathan E. VanBoskerck 

  
JONATHAN E. VANBOSKERCK 
Chief Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #006528 
Office of the Clark County District Attorney 
Regional Justice Center 
200 Lewis Avenue 
Post Office Box 552212 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89155 
(702) 671-2750 
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC FILING 

I hereby certify that service of Reply to Response to Motion to Dismiss Sixth Petition 

for Writ of Habeas Corpus Post-Conviction, was made this 19th day of December, 2019, by 

Electronic Filing to: 
     JONAH J. HORWITZ, 
     (pro hac vice) 
     Assistant Federal Public Defender 

Email: jonah_horwitz@fd.org 
 
DEBORAH A. CZUBA, 

     (pro hac vice) 
     Assistant Federal Public Defender 

Email: deborah_a_czuba@fd.org 
 
LANCE J. HENDRON, ESQ. 
Email: lance@ghlawnv.com 
 
 
Counsels for Petitioner 
 

 

 

  /s/ E.Davis 

 Employee for the District Attorney's Office 
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DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
 
Writ of Habeas Corpus COURT MINUTES May 04, 2020 
 
A-18-780434-W Samuel Howard, Plaintiff(s) 

vs. 
William Gittere, Defendant(s) 

 
May 04, 2020 3:00 AM Minute Order  
 
HEARD BY: Villani, Michael  COURTROOM: Chambers 
 
COURT CLERK: Shannon Reid 
 

JOURNAL ENTRIES 
 
- Defendant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) was scheduled for hearting on 
April 3, 2020.  Pursuant to Administrative Order 20-01, the Court took the matter under advisement 
to decide on the pleadings.  The Court renders its decision as follows. 
 
Petitioner has failed to establish sufficient good cause to overcome the procedural bars to his 6th 
Petition.  See, NRS 34.726 and 34.800, 34.810.  Also, see Order of Affirmance filed July 30, 2014. 
Petitioner has failed to justify why he waited so long to challenge the New York conviction.  The time 
bars in this matter did not commence when the New York conviction was overturned for technical 
reasons (no finding of actual innocence or constitutional infirmity) but when Petitioner could have 
acted with due diligence and sought to overturn the conviction. When Petitioner absconded during 
his New York trial in 1983 he knew he had not been sentenced and could have attacked the New 
York conviction when he was sentenced in the present case.   
 
The Court adopts the State's procedural history. 
 
Therefore, Court ORDERED, Petition DENIED. State to submit a proposed order consistent with the 
foregoing within ten (10) days after counsel is notified of the ruling and to distribute a filed copy to 
all parties involved pursuant to EDCR 7.21. COURT FURTHER ORDERED, Status check SET 
regarding filing of the order. That date to be vacated if the Court receives the order sooner. 
 
NDC 
 
05/26/2020 8:30 AM STATUS CHECK: ORDER 
 

Case Number: A-18-780434-W

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
5/4/2020 1:33 PM
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CLERK'S NOTE: This Minute Order was electronically served to all registered parties for Odyssey 
File & Serve /SR 05/04/2020 
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